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To the Shareholders of Acciona, S.A.
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Acciona, S.A. (the “Parent”) and
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet at 31 December 2018, the
income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in total
equity, the statement of cash flows, and the notes, all of them consolidated, for the year then
ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all
material respects, of the equity and financial position of the Group at 31 December 2018 and of its
financial performance and cash flows, all of them consolidated, for the year then ended, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
(IFRS-EU) and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in
Spain. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those
regarding independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in
Spain pursuant to the legislation regulating the audit of accounts. We have not provided any non-
audit services, nor have any situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned
regulations, have affected the required independence such that this has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of revenue from construction contracts

See notes 4.1, 4.2(0) and 25 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

A large part of the Group's revenue is from
construction service contracts, whereby revenue
is recognised in accordance with the percentage
of completion method, which requires estimating
the margin on each contract, the costs still to be
incurred and the probability that revenue arising
from any amounts claimed or disputed vis-a-vis
clients will be received. Moreover, during this
process consideration must be given as to
whether these aspects need to be analysed in
accordance with a new accounting standard for
revenue recognition, /FRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, applicable from 1
January 2018 onwards.

The recognition of revenue and profit or loss on
these contracts therefore requires a high level of
judgement by management and the Directors, and
rigorous control over the estimates made and any
deviations that may arise over the life of the
contracts. The estimates take into account all
costs and revenue related to the contracts,
including any unforeseen cost overruns, risks or
claims currently in dispute and any revenue
currently being negotiated with or claimed from
clients. The Group recognises revenue arising
from amounts under negotiation with or being
claimed from clients at the amount which, it is
considered highly probable, will not be subject to
significant change once the inherent uncertainty is
resolved, either because customer approval has
been obtained or because there are technical
and/or legal reports that support this
circumstance.

Due to the uncertainty associated with these
estimates and as any changes therein could give
rise to material differences in the revenue
recognised, this has been considered a key audit
matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- We evaluated the design, implementation and
effectiveness of key controls in relation to the
process for revenue recognition using the
percentage of completion method and the
process for budget control, evaluating the
methodology used to draw up the contract
budgets and monitor the assumptions used
therein.

- Based on certain quantitative and qualitative
selection criteria, we obtained a sample of
construction contracts and evaluated the
most significant and complex estimates
therein used by the Group for purposes of
revenue recognition. WWe obtained
documentation supporting these estimates
and evidencing the judgements made by
management and the Directors.

- We compared the profit or loss on completed
contracts with the budgeted profit or loss,
including the historical performance and the
Group's control over the budget, to evaluate
the reasonableness of the estimates made
regarding the contracts.

- For a selection of contracts, we analysed key
clauses and identified significant contractual
mechanisms such as penalties and bonuses,
in order to evaluate whether these clauses
are adequately reflected in the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.




Recognition of revenue from construction contracts
See notes 4.1, 4.2(0) and 25 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

- We evaluated the judgement applied by the
Group and, in general, the reasonableness of
executed works with progress billings
pending, which are under negotiation with or
being claimed from customers and have been
recognised as revenue at the reporting date,
as well as the judgement applied with respect
to the recognition of variable consideration. In
this respect, we updated the status of
customer negotiations for the main case files
and verified the reasonableness and
consistency of the documentation supporting
such recognition, including, where applicable,
the related technical and/or legal reports.

- We visited some of the most significant
building sites, carrying out on-site inspections
of the stage of completion of the projects and
identifying possible areas of risk through
observation, analysis of documentation and
discussion with works personnel.

- We assessed whether the provisions
recognised at year end in relation to each of
the contracts reasonably reflect the main
obligations and the level of risk of the
contracts, assessing the judgement of
management and the Directors in these
estimates.

- We assessed whether the information
disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements meets the requirements of the
financial reporting framework applicable to
the Group, including that relating to first-time
application of the revenue recognition
standard, IFRS 15.




Recoverability of property, plant and equipment of the Energy division

See notes 4.2 (E) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group recognised impairment of Euros 641
million on the property, plant and equipment of the
Energy division in prior years.

In accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework, at the end of each reporting period the
Group assesses whether there has been any
indication of possible impairment or any evidence of
changes in the events or circumstances that gave
rise to previously recognised impairment and, where
applicable, regulatory or other changes that could
modify future cash flow expectations. Determining
and measuring the indications requires management
and the Directors to make significant judgements
and estimates, which increases the risk.
Consequently, this area has been considered a key
audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- We obtained an understanding of the evaluation
process used by the Group to identify indications
of impairment of property, plant and equipment or
indications that previously recognised impairment
should be reassessed, and we evaluated the
design and implementation of that process.

- We reviewed management's analysis of the
impairment of property, plant and equipment of
the Energy division and the conclusions drawn.

- We also assessed whether the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements meet the
requirements of the applicable financial reporting
framework.




Valuation of the investment in Nordex SE

See notes 3.2 (f) and 9 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has an investment in Nordex SE, an
equity-accounted company listed on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange.The value of this investment at 31
December 2018 is Euros 556 million. Since the
acquisition of the investment in 2016, there has
been a decline in the listed price of Nordex SE to
below the carrying amount at which this
investment is recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet.

At 31 December 2018, the Group has estimated
the recoverable amount of its investment in
Nordex SE based on the estimated value in use,
determined as the present value of the expected
future cash flows from the investment.

There is a high level of judgement and complexity
involved in determining whether there are indications
of impairment and estimating the value in use of the
Group's investment in Nordex SE. Value in use is
based, among other things, on financial projections
that consider the assumptions made regarding
macroeconomic trends, the internal circumstances
of the investee and its competitors, discount rates
and the future performance of the business.

Moreover, changes in the key assumptions
considered by the Group in its valuation of Nordex
SE could entail substantial modifications to the
investee's value in use and, therefore, its carrying
amount at year end.

Due to the uncertainty and judgement associated
with these estimates, as well as the significance
of the carrying amount of the investment in
Nordex SE, we have considered the valuation of
this investment a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- We documented our understanding of the
processes followed by the Group in identifying
indications of impairment and estimating the
value in use, including tests of the design and
implementation of the key controls defined by
the Group in relation to these processes.

- We evaluated the reasonableness of the
methodology and assumptions used by the Group
in estimating the recoverable amount of the
investment in Nordex SE, with the collaboration of
our specialists in business valuations. We
reviewed the extent of achievement of the
estimates in past business plans and contrasted
the information contained in the valuation model
with Nordex SE's business plans used by the
Group and with estimates and forecasts for the
industry of which Nordex SE forms part,
calculated by external sources. In addition, we
evaluated the growth rates and discount rates
used in the calculation of the recoverable amount,
and sensitivity of the latter to changes in key
assumptions to determine its impact on the
valuation.

- Lastly, we assessed whether the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements meet the
requirements of the applicable financial reporting
framework.




Lawsuits and contingencies
See notes 4.2 (m) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group is exposed to possible claims and
disputes in the course of its activity and could
become involved in both administrative and legal
proceedings, as well as arbitration matters.

The control, monitoring and assessment process
for claims and disputes affecting the Group is
complex and requires the exercising of judgement
by management and the Directors in estimating
future developments therein, the probability of a
ruling being handed down that goes against the
Group's interests, the possible financial
consequences and, where applicable, the amount
of any provisions that might need to be
recognised to cover the related obligations, as
well as other accounting impacts and/or the
disclosures to be included in the consolidated
financial statements.

In particular, as described in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Catalan
Regional Government’s Minister for Regional
Planning and Sustainability notified the subsidiary
ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de
Catalunya, S.A., by means of a resolution issued
on 4 June 2018, that the concession agreement
under which that subsidiary had been operating
and managing the high level water supply service
for the Ter-Llobregat system had been cancelled
and was entering settlement, pursuant to the
provisions of the Catalonia High Court of Justice
(TSJC) judgment of 22 June 2015, after the
cassation appeals lodged by the parties with the
Supreme Court were rejected in February and
March 2018.

At the date on which the consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issue, ATLL
Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya,
S.A. was still providing the aforementioned
service, in accordance with the Catalan Regional
Government’s Decree-Law 4/2018 of 17 July
2018, although the Group considers that the
assets used in rendering the service under the
concession will be delivered and made available to
the Catalan Regional Government shortly.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- We obtained details of the claims and lawsuits
in which the Group is involved, through
information provided by the Group's legal
counsel.

- We evaluated the design and implementation of
the relevant controls established by the Group in
relation to the integrity of claims and litigation and
to estimate the possible consequences thereof
for the Group and, where appropriate, the
necessary provisions and their corresponding
recognition.

- We obtained responses from the Group's lawyers
containing their representations regarding the
status, probability and possible consequences for
the Group of the most significant claims and
disputes in quantitative and qualitative terms.

- For relevant claims and lawsuits, we evaluated,
together with our legal specialists, the
reasonableness of the assumptions and
estimates made by management and the
Directors, and, where applicable, by the
Group's lawyers, including an assessment of
the legal grounds put forward by the Group's
lawyers, and the estimates made by
management and the Directors, in particular as
regards the view that the settlement resulting
from the early rescission of the concession
agreement vis-a-vis ATLL Concessionaria de la
Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. will not give rise
to losses for that subsidiary, as well as the
effects of those estimates on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group at 31
December 2018.

- We also assessed whether the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements meet the
requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework.




Lawsuits and contingencies
See notes 4.2 (m) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As stated in the aforementioned note to the
consolidated financial statements, on the basis of
independent expert reports, the Group estimates
that the settlement of the concession agreement,
as indicated in clause 9.12 thereof, would amount
to Euros 305 million, notwithstanding the amount
of any indemnity that could be payable, based on
the estimates of management and the Directors,
in respect of damage and loss incurred as a result
of the early termination of the agreement,
pursuant to clause 55 of the tender specifications
through which the concession was awarded at
the time, and which the Group considers could
amount to euros 770 million.

In this context however, and considering the
uncertainties associated with the present status
of the termination of the ATLL Concessionaria de
la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. concession,
management and the Directors —taking into
account the evaluation of their legal counsel-
consider the probability that the settlement
resulting from the early rescission of the
concession agreement will give rise to losses for
the aforementioned subsidiary is remote. As such,
at 31 December 2018 the Group has included
under current assets in the consolidated balance
sheet only the net amount of the assets and
liabilities used in the concession activity that were
recorded in the accounts of the subsidiary ATLL
Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya,
S.A. at that date.

Due to the judgement inherent in assessing such
matters, in view of the uncertainty associated
with the estimates and resolution timelines
related with claims and disputes, and because
changes in estimates could give rise to significant
differences with respect to the amounts
recognised by the Group at the reporting date, we
have considered lawsuits and contingencies to be
a key audit matter.
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Other information: Consolidated Directors' Report

Other information solely comprises the 2018 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Parent's Directors and which does not form an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not encompass the consolidated
directors' report. Our responsibility regarding the content of the consolidated directors' report is
defined in the legislation regulating the audit of accounts, which establishes two different levels:

a) A specific level applicable to the consolidated statement of non-financial information and to
certain information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as defined in article
35.2. b) of Audit Law 22/2015, which consists solely of verifying that this information has been
provided in the consolidated directors' report, or where applicable, that the directors' report
makes reference to the separate report on non-financial information, as provided for in
legislation, and if not, to report on this matter.

b) A general level applicable to the rest of the information included in the consolidated directors’
report, which consists of assessing and reporting on the consistency of this information with
the consolidated financial statements, based on knowledge of the Group obtained during the
audit of the aforementioned accounts and without including any information other than that
obtained as evidence during the audit. Also, assessing and reporting on whether the content
and presentation of this part of the consolidated directors' report are in accordance with
applicable legislation. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are
material misstatements, we are required to report them.

Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have verified that the information mentioned
in a) above has been provided in the consolidated directors' report and that the rest of the
information contained in the consolidated directors' report is consistent with that disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements for 2018 and the content and presentation of the report are in
accordance with applicable legislation.

Directors' and Audit Committee's Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Parent's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity,
consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance
with IFRS-EU and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in
Spain, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Parent's Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Parent's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation and presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.



KPMG

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent's Directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent's Directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the audit committee of the Parent regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

10

We also provide the Parent's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with the
applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated to the audit committee of the Parent, we determine those that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and which are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Additional Report to the Audit Committee of the Parent

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Parent's audit
committee dated 28 February 2019.

Contract Period

We were appointed as auditor of the Group by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on
18 May 2017 for a period of three years, from the year ended 31 December 2017.

KPMG Auditores, S.L.
On the Spanish Official Register of
Auditors (“ROAC") with No. S0702

(Signed on original in Spanish)
Borja Guinea Lopez
On the Spanish Official Register of

Auditors ("ROAC") with No. 16210

28 February 2019
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ACCTONA_ S A. AND STIRSIDIARIES

Property, plant and equipment 5 6,735,988 6,640,329
[nvestment property 6 130,800 176,757
Goodwill 7 198 466 185,650
Other intangible assets 8 584,583 1,576,022
Other non-current financial assets 11 208,086 131,923
Investments accounted for using the equity method 9 1,000,822 £.391,331
Deferred tax assets 22 787,378 805,369
Non-current receivables and other non-current assets 12 355,959 277,250
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 10,002,082 11,184,631
Inventories 13 914,311 820,965
Trade and other accounts receivable 14 1,700,814 1,891,893
Other current financial assets Il 178.305 245,988
Current income tax assets 22 107,475 146,403
Other current assets 317,201 151,576
Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,717.405 1,272,781
Non-current assets held for sale 23 -~ 1,432,121
Share capital 57,260 57,260
Retained earnings and issue premium 3,637,683 3,943,324
Treasury shares (199,616) (3,146)
Translation differences (205,902) (237.211)
interim dividend - -
Equity atiributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 16 3,289,425 3,760,227
Non-controlling interests 16 205,713 203.041
EQUITY 3,495,138 3,963,268
Preferred shares, debentures and other marketable securities 18 405,980 864,938
Bank borrowings 18 3,673,960 4,406,936
Deferred tax liabilities 22 475,929 490,506
Provisions 17 420,354 528,607
Other non-current liabilities 21 892,371 1,786,271
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,868,594 8,077,258
Preferred shares, debentures and other marketable securities 18 1,243,758 641,148
Bank borrowings 18 904,838 831,142
Trade and other accounts payable 36 2,459,030 2,199,217
Provisions 231,888 139,810
Current income tax liabilities 22 60,366 77,385
Other current liabilities 21 673,981 744,590
Liabilities held for sale 23 - 473,540
CURRENT LIABILITIES 5.573.861 5.106.832

Accompanying Notes 1 to 36 and the appendices are an integral part of the consolidated financia! statements for 2018.
















ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 635,652 491,087
Profit before tax from continuing operations 508,780 356,286
Adjustments for: 648,848 846,776

Depreciation and amertisation charge and provisions f’;lﬂ';’sl;lz 640,356 627,494
Other adjustments to profit (net) 926,28 8,492 219,282
Changes in working capital (300,468) (343,096}
Other cash flows from operating activities: (221,508) (368,879
Interest paid 28 {267.962) (297,724)
Interest received 28 44,575 32,207
Dividend received 9 77,255 20,204
Income tax recovered/(paid) 25 (38,504) (110,812)
Other amounts received/(paid) relating to operating activities (36.872) (12,754)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 5,6,8,11 700,374 (588,435)

Payments due to investment: (682,334) (929,097)
Group companies, associates and business units (37.631) (160,329)
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment property (644,703) {768,768)

Proceeds from disposal: 1,465,928 231,036
Group companies, associates and business units 1,369,632 188,433
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment property 96,296 42,603

Other cash flows from investment activities: (83,220 109,626
Other amounts received/(paid) relating to investment activities (83,220) 109,626

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (872,361) (25,574)

Proceeds and (payments) refating to equity instruments: 16 (196,043) (6,567)
Purchases (196,043) (6,567)
Disposals - -

Proceeds and (payments) relating to financizgl liability instruments: 18 (487,966) 237,954
Proceeds from issues 2,637484 2,088.175
Repayments and redemptions (3,125,456) (1.850,221)

Dividends and returns on other equity instruments paid 16 (218,427) {204,991}

Other cash Mows from financing activities 30,075 (51,970)
Other amounts received/(paid) relating to financing activities 30,075 (51,970)

EFFECT OF FC™T"IGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (19,041) (32,616}

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 444,624 {155,538)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,272,781 1,428,319
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,717,405 1,272,781
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
Cash on hand and at banks 1,352,329 909,851
Nthar financial aceste TAR NTA TAD OIN

- ragey -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 OF ACCIONA, S.A. AND
SUBSIDIARIES
(Consolidated Group)

1.- Group activities

Acciona, S.A. (“the Parent Company” or “the Company”} and its subsidiaries integrate
the Acciona Group (“Acciona” or the “Group”). Acciona, S.A.’s registered office and
headquarters are in Alcobendas (Madrid) at Avenida de Europa 18.

The Acciona Group companies operate in several sectors of economic activity,
including most notably:

Energy: including the electric business encompassing the promotion of renewable
generation plants, its construction, its O&M and the sale of the produced energy. All the
electricity generated by Acciona Energy is renewable.

Infrastructure: Including activities relating to:

- Construction: including infrastructure construction and engineering
activities.

- Industrial: turn-key projects of high technological content mainly for the
construction of generation plants and transmission networks.

- Concessions: including the exploitation of mainly transport and hospital
CONcessions.

- Water: including the activities relating to the construction of desalination
plants, water and wastewater treatment plants, as well as the management
of the entire water cycle, an activity that covers from the initial water
collection, to its treatment, including desalination, to its purification and
return to the environment after use. It also operates concessions for
services related to the entire water cycle.

- Services: including the activities of facility services, airport handling
services, waste collection and treatment, and logistics services, among
others.

Other Activities: businesses relating to fund management and stock market brokerage,
wine production, the real estate business, and other investments. The Subgroup Acciona
Trasmediterranea was also included in this section until its

3.2h).
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2. - Regulatory framework for the energy division

Spain

The regulatory framework for the energy division in Spain is summarised below, which
is the most significant within ACCIONA Group’s activity.

Up until the regulatory reform of the electrical sector in 2013, the electricity production
business was regulated under the special system in Spain by Spanish Electricity Industry
Act 54/1997 of 27 November, and by the regulatory provisions developing the Act,
mainly Royal Decree 661/2007 of 25 May, which regulated electricity production under
the special system.

Most of the Group’s electricity production facilities in Spain were constructed, as far as
the remuneration framework for the support of renewable energy sources is concerned,
under the special system.

Royal Decree 661/2007 of 25 May which regulated electricity production under the
special system acknowledged the right of wind generated power facilities, inter alia,
with start-up certificates pre-dating 1 January 2008, to continue to receive the premiums
and incentives existing under the previous system (Royal Decree 436/2004, of 12
March) until 31 December 2012, before transitioning into the new system. The facilities
owned by the Group’s subsidiaries that commenced operations prior to that date availed
themselves of the aforementioned Transitional Provision. For all the facilities that came
into service after 1 January 2008 caps and floors were set for the aggregate price
(market price plus premium) applicable to power sales in the market, or a regulated
fixed tariff was established.

Royal Decree-Law 6/2009 of 30 April, adopting certain measures for the energy sector
and approving the social bond, introduced the facility pre-assignment system for
entitlement to the premiums system of the Special System defined in the Spanish
Electricity Industry Act until the targets set in the Renewable Energy Plan for 2020 had
been met. The facilitics that, at the date of publication of the Royal Decree-Law, met the
pre-assignment conditions established therein, would be entitled to the premiums and
tariffs provided for in Royal Decree 661/2007.

Royal Decree 1614/2010 was approved on 7 December 2010. The purpose of this
legislation was to modify and regulate matters relating to the production of electricity
using solar thermal and wind energy technologies, with the aim of containing the
deficit. This Royal Decree established a limit on the equivalent hours of operation with
entitiement to a premium for solar thermal and wind technologies, the obligation to sell
electricity at the regulated tariff for the solar thermal sector for the twelve months
following the entry into force of the Royal Decree or following the start-up of the
related facility if at a later date, and a 35% reduction in the premiums for wind
technology subject to Royal Decree 661/2007 and for the period from the date of
approval of the Royal Decree to 31 December 2012, while maintaining the amounts
relating to the cap, floor and regulated tariff unchanged.



The reduction in the premiums established by Royal Decree 1614/2010 hardly affected
the Group’s projects, since most of them had start-up certificates pre-dating 1 January
2008 and they availed themselves of the aforementioned Transitional Provision of
Royal Decree 661/2007. The remainder of the facilities sold their energy under the
regulated tariff system. Also, the limits placed on operating hours had little impact on
the Group’s facilities, since the number of hours established in the Royal Decree
exceeded the hours that the facilities actually operated.

On 28 January 2012, Royal Decree-Law 1/2012 was published in the Spanish Central
Government Gazette and it came into force on that same date, giving rise to the
suspension of remuneration pre-assignment procedures and the removal of economic
incentives for new electricity production facilities which use combined heat and power,
renewable energy sources and waste. Royal Decree-Law 1/2012 affected, inter alia,
facilities under the special system that at 28 January 2012 had not been registered in the
Pre-assignment Register. Since the Group’s facilities had been registered in the
aforementioned Register before 28 January 2012, this Royal Decree did not have any
effect on the profitability of the Group’s facilities.

On 28 December 2012, Act 15/2012 from 27 December was published regarding tax
measures aimed at energy sustainability, which affected all electricity production
facilities in Spain from 2013 onwards. All of Acciona’s facilities became subject to the
tax on the value of electricity output, which means 7% tax over income from electricity
sales. On the other hand, the aforementioned Act also introduced in the Consolidated
Text of the Water Act - which was later modified by Act 1/2018 of 6 March, on urgent
measures to mitigate the effects of drought - a charge for the use of inland water for
electricity production. This charge meant a 25.5% tax on the economic value of
electricity output, with a 92% reduction in the tax for hydroelectric facilities with a
capacity equal to or lower than 50 MW, and a 90% reduction in the tax for pumped
facilities with a capacity greater than 50 MW. Lastly, Act 15/2012 also established a
dual tax on solar thermal plants: on the one hand, the Act ¢liminated the incentives for
power produced using fossil fuels and, on the other, it introduced a tax of 0.65 euros per
GJ of gas consumed.

Until 31 December 2012, practically all the facilities owned by the companies in the
Group operating on the Spanish market were selling their energy under the free market
system (“pool”) through Acciona Green Energy Development, S.L., part of the Group
companies.

Royal Decree-Law 2/2013 of 1 February on urgent measures in the electricity sector
was approved in 2013. This RDL, in force from 1 January 2013, set the premiums at
0€/kWh for all special system facilities applying the market sale option, with the option
for tariff-based sales being maintained, although the coefficient for annual updating of
said tariff was modified, it being referenced to core inflation instead of to the Consumer
Price Index (CPI). This RDL established that the registered holders of facilities had to
opt for selling the electricity under the regulated tariff option or selling it freely on the
market without receiving any premium. Once an option was taken, it was then
irrevocable,

For practical purposes, this RDL meant that the Acciona Gronn’s wind farme and
thermoelectric or biomass power station:



from 2013 on. The hydroelectric power plants under the Special System were already
selling at the tariff prior to the publication of this RDL.

Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 was published on 13 July, whereby urgent measures to
guarantee the financial stability of the electricity system were adopted. This Royal
Decree-Law repealed the remuneration system supporting renewable energies up to that
date, and introduced substantial changes in the applicable legal and economic
framework.

This new regulation meant that, in addition to the remuneration for the sale of electricity
generated valued at market prices, facilities could receive a specific remuneration
comprising (i} a term per unit of power installed, covering, where appropriate, the
investment costs for a standard facility that cannot be recovered through electricity sales
and (ii) an operating remuneration term that covers, where applicable, the difference
between operating costs and the revenue of a “standard” facility that participates on the
market, to which each pre-existing facility would assimilate.

To calculate this specific remuneration, for each type of facility, the following items are
considered throughout its regulatory lifetime and with respect to activities conducted by
an efficient and well-managed company:

a) The standard revenue from the sale of the energy generated valued at market
production price.

b) Standard operating costs, and

¢) The standard value of the initial investment.

According to the regulation, the aim of these parameters is not to exceed the minimum
level necessary to cover the costs that enable the renewable facilities to compete on a
similar level with the rest of the technologies on the market and make it possible to
obtain a reasonable profit.

With regard to this reasonable profit, the Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 indicated that in
general it would be similar, before tax, to the average profit of ten-year Government
Bonds on the secondary market after applying an appropriate differential. For the
facilities under the premium-based economic system prior to the enactment of Royal
Decree-Law 9/2013, the first additional provision specified that reasonable profit would
be around (i) the average profit for the 24 months prior to the enactment of said Royal
Decree-Law plus (ii} a differential of 300 basis points, all without prejudice to a
possible review every six years.

RD-L 9/2013 came into force on 14 July 2013. Its regulatory development (RD relating
to the production activity with renewable energies and remuneration parameters order
for such activity) was still pending approval at the close of financial year 2013, existing
a draft Ministerial Order containing the parameters for remuneration, based on which, at
31 December 2013, the Group estimated and re-appraised its revenue and other key
figures, posting the resulting impairments according to the new model.

On December 2013, Act 24/2013 on the Electricity Industry was published on 26
December, which was enacted to rep'~~~ * ~* S471007 ~e 3 20 oo Ll d s e et
framework for the industry. This



eliminates the concept of the special system and regulates specific remuneration, as well
as establishing the formula for defining the reasonable profit of the facilities.

Royal Decree 413/2014 of 6 June was published in the Central Government Gazette on
10 June 2014, to regulate the activities of electricity generation from renewable energy
sources, co-generation and waste. As a follow-up to the same, final Ministerial Order
IET 1045/2014 was issued on 20 June 2014 and published in the Central Government
Gazette on 29 June 2014. This Order contained the final remuneration parameters
applicable to all renewable energy facilities, whether already in existence or planned for
the future. The new model defined the remuneration of assets applicable from 14 July
2013 as a consequence of RDL 9/2013.

Lastly, the European Commission's Decision of 10 November 2017 on matters of state
aid (SA.40348) is also relevant, where in the European Commission concludes that the
Spanish support system for electricity generation from renewable energy sources, high-
efficiency cogeneration of heat and electricity and waste, complies with EU standards
regarding state aid. In this decision, the Commission declared the compatibility of the
current support system with European legislation, and noted that the old system - which
was in fact built into and replaced by the current one -, did not need to be replaced.
Therefore, the possibility of an eventual negative impact on renewable energy producers
receiving incentives (currently and/or in the past) that could have been derived on an
unfavourable resolution of the matter on that file.

Hardly any relevant modifications were made to the regulatory framework for
ACCIONA Group’s Energy Division in Spain during 2018, although the following
should be noted: (i) on the one hand, Order ETU/1133/2017 amending Order
ITC/3127/2011 of 17 November, regulating the power availability service for capacity
payments, essentially removed the possibility for part of Group’s hydroelectric dam
power plants to provide the power availability service, which implies a non-material
decrease in revenues, and, (ii) on the other hand, Royal Decree-Law 15/2018 on urgent
measures for the ecological transition, which includes the temporary “suspension”
(during two quarters) of the Tax on the Value of Electricity Generation.

It is also important to note that in 2018, the so-called “Clean Energy Package for all
Europeans™ was approved at the European level in 2018; this package consists of a
series of standards aimed to govern the energy sector in the EU up to 2020, and it is
generally expected to have a positive impact on the ACCIONA Group. Specifically,
Directive 2018/2001 on renewable energy establishes a common objective for the EU to
have at least 32% of its energy supplied from renewable sources based on end
consumption. In addition, Regulation 2018/1999 on the Governance of the Energy
Union sets out the guidelines for the contribution of all member states to achieve the EU
objectives. Finally, the new regulatory standards for th

promote the integration of renewable energies into the ne

with the other standards in the clean energy package.
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United States

The fight against climate change in the United States at the state level was undermined
by the entrance of Donald Trump to the presidency, who removed everything related to
climate change from his list of priorities and announced the country’s withdrawal from
the Paris Agreement. It is not clear, however, that these measures will have a real
impact, since the withdrawal from the Paris Agreement does not come into force until 4
years after its announcement. In addition, there is significant movement of states and
corporations that aim to compensate for the federal government’s efforts to push the
fight against climate change to one side.

On the other hand, renewable energies have also been affected for several reasons:

e The Suniva case: The photovoltaic panel company Suniva declared bankruptcy
claiming to have suffered “serious damage” due to PV panel imports from China.
The Committee on International Trade (CIT) agreed with the President and
proposed remedial options, which consisted in duties of $0.25/W and $0.32/W on
cells and modules, respectively. The US Trade Representative (USTR), after
consulting with the Interagency Trade Policy Committee and following the
conclusions of the US International Trade Commission, made recommendations to
President Trump who regulated that imports of “low-cost” solar panels did harm US
manufacturers. In January 2018, President Trump approved the recommendations to
relieve US manufacturers and to impose tariffs on solar cells and modules.

* Subsidies to nuclear and coal power plants: The Department of Energy (DOE)
ordered the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) to force RTOs in
competitive markets to modify their structures in order to pay nuclear and coal
facilities their capital and operation costs, claiming problems of supply security.
This would prevent these plants, which are often not competitive, from shutting
down. On 8 January 2018, the FERC rejected the order from the DOE. The FERC
recommended to not subsidise nuclear and coal power plants in an oversight hearing
held in June 2018. The majority of this hearing focussed on a leaked draft memo
from the DOE regarding the Trump Administration’s plan to subsidise nuclear and
coal power plants which were nearing the end of their useful lives. During the
hearing, the commissioners recommended that Congress should consider allocating
mandatory safety standards for natural gas pipelines instead of subsidising nuclear
and coal power plants that are to be shut down. On 9 August, the FERC issued a
statement saying that the agency is not invelved in designing a plan to rescue
nuclear and coal power plants.

o Order 841: The FERC issued Order 841 which requires that all Regional
Transmission Operators (RTOs) and Independent System Operators) (ISOs) make
changes to market rules so that energy storage can become part of all the services. It
also requires that market operators consider the physical and technical
characteristics of a storage unit on market operations. It comes into force in May,
and February 2019 is set as the deadline for the ISOs / RTPs to consider the changes
requested by the FERC order for their markets, with February 2020 set as the
deadline for the ISOs / RTOs to implement such changes.

The “Renewable Portfolio Standard” (RPS) is a market policy freely established by
some states which requires that a minimum proportion of the electricitv supplv comes
from renewable sources. The percentages



between 20% and 30% of the supply from 2020 to 2025. The implementation of it is
usually done using Renewable Energy Credits (RECs), a system of tradeable certificates
that verify that a kWh of electricity has been generated from a renewable source. At the
end of a certain year, the electricity generators must have sufficient certificates to cover
their annual quota, and sanctions will be applied in the event of non-compliance. The
Production Tax Credits (PTCs) grant the electricity generated with a tax deduction
during the first 10 operating years for an amount per MWh which is adjusted annually
based on the CPI (regulated by the “Energy Policy Act™).

In 2005, Congress established an investment tax credit (ITC) of 30% initially applicable
to solar energy projects.

In 2009, a Law was adopted according to which the companies that could access the
PTC regime could receive ITC in exchange, or alternatively, could receive payment
equivalent to 30% of the investment.

These tax incentives have always needed to be renewed annually, with the associated
uncertainty, but in December 2015 a long term extension of the PTC and ITC was
approved, for both wind and solar energy, with a gradual decrease in the incentive. In
the case of wind energy, the PTC decreases 20% each year until 2020, ending with 0%
incentive. In the same way, the ITC is also progressively reduced until it is eliminated in
2020. In the case of solar energy, 30% of the ITC is maintained until 2020 (31
December 2019), from when it will begin to decrease until it is set at 10% after 2022.
The milestone that determines the time frames is the start of construction.

In May 2016, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) clarified what it considers as “start of
construction” for wind projects, which can comply with both the defined “beginning of
the physical work™ or with a “safe harbour” for a certain minimum expense (5%).

The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 increased the PTC and the ITC which previously
only applied to wind and solar energy to other renewable energy resources: biomass,
geothermal, landfill gas, waste facilities, small-scale hydraulic and marine.

In June 2018, the IRS issued a guide clarifying when the construction of a solar facility
started in order to qualify for the ITC. Two methods are provided to determine the
“construction start” date: i) when physical work of a significant nature has started, or ii)
when 5% or more of the costs that the installation will have in the year that construction
begins have been incurred, in order to comply with the “5 percent safe harbor test”.

There is also another tax benefit linked to the ability of a wind farm’s owner to take
advantage of the accelerated depreciation in most of the capital assets (Modified
Accelerated Cost Recovery - MACRs), which can be fiscallyt  °

depreciation period of five years. This benefit has no expiration
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Australia

The “Renewable Energy (Electricity) Amendment Bill 2015 was approved in June
2015, which introduced stability to the green certificate system, setting the Renewable
Energy Target (RET) to 33,000 GWh in 2020 and eliminating the target revisions that
took place every 2 years (which are now to be done every 4). The first and only case to
date of a company that chose to pay a penalty for non-compliance rather than delivering
the corresponding renewable electricity certificates took place in January 2017.

The State of South Australia suffered a major blackout in September 2016, which
caused storage and renewable energy integration issues to become more relevant in the
country. In June, the final version of the Finkel report was published, which
commissioned by the government after the blackout with the aim of providing
recommendations to enhance the safety and reliability of the system and to reduce
emissions according to the Paris targets. The report stresses the importance of carrying
out the energy transition in an orderly, studied and planned manner, in addition to the
need for strong governance and it poses systemic recommendations to maintain the level
of security of the system (such as revision of market rules, for example). It gives the
consumer a greater role to play. A continuation of the RET after 2020: the Clean Energy
Target (CET) is also proposed, which would be based on a green certificate system that
would include Renewable Energy Schemes (RES) and technologies that comply with an
emissions limit. Some of the recommendations in the report were approved at the
Coalition Joint Party meeting on 20 June, although the Minister of Energy announced
that the implementation of the CET would be analysed later more calmly.

In April 2017, the Clean Energy Council published a recommendations report to
eliminate regulatory barriers to storage and to improve the security of the network
(“Policy and regulatory reforms to unlock the potential of energy storage in Australia™),
and in August the Victoria Govemment announced a renewable energy auction of
650MW, which is part of the Victorian Renewable Energy Auction Scheme (VREAS)
to achieve the Victorian Renewable Energy Target (VRET) of 40% of renewable energy
by 2025.

In October 2017, the government announced the National Energy Guarantee (NEG)
scheme to replace the current CET after 2020. Its key aspects are; i) Reliability
Guarantee (obligation for retailers to contract a certain amount of “dispatchable” energy
- from coal, gas, hydraulic or stored); (i) Emissions Guarantee (obligation for retailers
to reach an emissions intensity level in their energy portfolio that supports Australia's
commitment to reduce emissions by 26% by 2030). The final document was expected
by April 2018. The Energy Security Board published a document on the design of the
NEG which was presented at the Energy Council meeting in April 2018. The Council
wanted a more detailed design to develop to the NEG and the final design was expected
be presented to the Energy Council in August 2018. The NEG was criticised for lacking
ambition, and it was considered that the NEG emissions guarantee would be met easily,
and depending on the final design, the reliability guarantee could back up investment in
storage and the response to demand.

Australia would then suspend the draft bill which contains the emission reduction target
for the NEG. The governing party partly supported the NEG, but the conservatives led
by former pnme minister Abbott were agaian it The Statec did nnt cninnart the NE
either, and demanded more ambitious tar



wholesale market received a lot of public interest. In the midst of all this, Turnbull was
replaced by Morrison as Prime Minister on 21 August and Australia still did not have a
climate policy. Price and reliability became the new Prime Minister’s priorities, not the
reduction of emissions.

The next elections for the Senate and Parliament will be held in May and November
2019, respectively.

Following this, the options to replace the renewable targets after 2020 were analysed.
The incumbent Federal Coalition Government withdrew the NEG proposal, but the
Opposition (Labour Party) recently announced the energy policies it would propose if
elected in 2019, and it aims to revive the NEG with a high emissions target than the
previous one, with a target of having 50% renewable energy by 2030 and a distributed
storage plan.

The Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO) published the Integrated System Plan
with a forecast for 20 years for the NEM.

It is a very detailed cost modelling of the operation of the NEM electricity supply
system, which takes on the renewable generation actions implied in current government
policies. These policies include renewable energy targets for the Victoria and
Queensland governments, but do not include the recently suspended NEG.

Mexico

Until December 2013, the generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electrical
energy was reserved exclusively to the Federal Government through the Federal Energy
Commission (FEC).

The only options for the sale of renewable energy were Independent Energy Production
(electricity generation plants that sell their production directly to the FEC) or Self-
Sufficiency Contracts (electricity generation plants that sell their production to a load
centre plant which has a certain ownership percentage of the generation plant).

On 20 December 2013, a constitutional reform introducing significant changes to the
Mexican energy model was published, leading to the market to open up and accepting
greater private participation. The new Law on the Electricity Industry (LEI) published
on 11 August 2014 defines these substantial changes to the electricity sector: it reduces
the role of the State in the sector, which is limited to operating the system and to
providing transmission and distribution services; the legal separation of activities is
imposed; a wholesale electrical market is created which is operated by the National
Centre for Energy Control, the bids for which will be based on costs, and establishes an
obligations system for generators to cover with Clean Energy Certificates (CECs). In
addition, auctions for Electricity Coverage Contracts will take place to cover the supply
to Basic Services Users. Clean energy, power and CEC electricity coverage contracts
are assigned in the Long-Term Auctions. With regards to the existing contracts from the
previous law, the LEI contemplates their continuity.

The first market bases were published in 2015 and must be re-evaluated every 3 _years _
(the manual to carry out this re-evaluatic A
2016, the Energy Secretary published a re



short-term market in the different interconnected systems, and National Centre for
Energy Control started the Day-Ahead Market (DAM) operations. The DAM is in
operation to date, and the Real Time Market (RTM) will not open to the public until the
Market Information System (MIS) is ready. Also, in February 2017 the Power
Balancing Market was opened, which determines the price that supports the capacity of
the previous year, the volume and the total amount. It is an annual and ex-post market.

2018 was the first year with CEC obligations, and the certificates must be delivered
until 5% of the electricity sold is reached. The CEC Requirements were published in
February 2017, corresponding to the Obligation Periods 2020, 2021 and 2022, (7.4%,
10.9% and 13.9%, respectively) that complement the one published in 2016 for 2019
(5.8%).

To date, three long-term auctions have taken place: the first in March 2016, the second
in September 2016 and the last in October 2017. The latter already included a clearing
house, potentially allowing the participation of suppliers different to the FEC. National
Centre for Energy Control announced the fourth long-term auction in 2018, SLP-
1/2018, for the purchase and sale of energy, capacity and CECs. The first draft auction
guidelines were published in March, and in August the prequalification was held,
potential buyers were registered and prequalification sales proposals were presented. In
December 2018, it was announced that they would be suspended, and they were
cancelled in January 2019,

The last PRODESEN (Development Programme of the National Electrical System)
published by Energy Secretary for the period 2018-2032 estimates that in 2032
electricity generation will be of 485 TWh, greater than what was estimated in the 2017-
2030 estimates for 2030 (443 TWh).

Chile

Chile amended Law 20,257 (Non-Conventional Renewable Energy Law) of 2008
through Law 20.698 (Law 20/25) in 2013, and established a renewable target on the
total power generation of 20% by 2025. The electricity companies must prove that a
percentage of the energy that is removed from the system comes from this type of
technology. The law also imposes a penalty for breaching the obligation amounting to
0.4 UTM per MWh that is not accredited (approximately 32 USD) and, for companies
that continue to breach the obligation in the three years following the first breach, the
penalty will be 0.6UTM/MWh (approximately 48 USD). The law indicates that those
companies that have administrated renewable energy in excess of their obligation may
transfer that excess to other companies. However, a green certificate market has not
been established, but bilateral contracts are signed between the parties concerned and
the transfer certification is made through an authorised copy of the contract.

To achieve the target set, Law 20/25 also introduced annual auctions according to the
demand forecasts from the Government for the next three years. The introduction of the
auctions provides the possibility to offer differentiated blocks (Block A for the night,
Block B during solar hours, and Block C for the remaining hours of the day), facilitating
renewable energy.

In April 2016, an Exempted Resolution was
report which established the values of r«



should be put out to tender in the next few years. The volumes included a decrease in
the energy demand forecast of approximately 10% between 2021 and 2041, which
implies a significant decline of what was going to be auctioned this year (from the
13,750 GWh expected to approximately 12,500 GWh). The volumes of the preliminary
report were confirmed in May with the final publication of the report.
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Up to date 3 auctions have been held: The first energy auction in Chile was held in 2015 for
1,200 GWh/year. All tenders were for Non-Conventional Renewable Energies, achieving an
average price of 79.3 USD/MWh. An average price was awarded of 47.6 USD/MWHh in the
second auction in 2016 for 12,430 GWh/year. The last energy auction in Chile in 2017 to award
2,200 GWh/year of energy for clients subject to price regulation achieved an average price of
32.5 USD/MWh. 100% of the energy awarded was also renewable energy. The Chilean
Government’s objective is for electrical distribution companies to have long-term supply
contracts, of 20 years from 2024, in order to meet the consumptions of their customers subject
to price regulation.

The Transmission Law was published in July 2016, which establishes a new electrical power
transmission system and creates a single independent coordinator entity for the national
clectrical system. Work on the associated regulations began after the Transmission Law was
approved.

In 2017, the regulation to implement a tax on CO2 emissions was approved (exempted
resolution 659), which as it stands involves all generation companies, including non-polluting
companies, making compensation payments. However, in the final version this compensation
was significantly reduced by changing the way it is quantified (annually instead of monthly - at
the suggestion of Acciona).

The Complementary Services Regulation and the Coordination and Operation of the National
Electrical System Regulation were withdrawn from the comptroller in 2018, delaying the
approval process.

In January 2018, the Chilean Government stated that the country would not build new coal-fired
power plants without carbon capture, and has started discussions to replace the existing capacity
with cleaner sources.

In March 2018, the new Chilean Energy Minister, Susana Jimenez, committed to modernising
the country’s energy legislation and to prepare a plan to de-carbonise the country’s economy,
among other issues. She also indicated that the government is studying the possibility of
creating CO2 emissions and renewable energy certificates.

The “Energy Ministry Road Map™ in 2019 will be marked by three draft laws: The Flexibility
Law, the Refining Law, and the Distribution Law (which announces a change in the distribution
model and discusses consumers who will be able to generate, store, and sell energy to the
system). Some of the topics set out in this agenda are: decreasing energy costs, introducing
renewable power plants, and decarbonisation and storage plans.



3.- Basis of presentation of financial statements and consolidation principles

3.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for financial year 2018 of the Acciona Group
were prepared by the Directors of Acciona, S.A. at the Board of Directors Meeting held
on 28 February 2019, and disclose a true and fair view of the Group’s equity and
consolidated financial position at 31 December 2018, and of the results of its operations,
the changes in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expenses, the
changes in the consolidated equity and the consolidated cash flows in the years then
ended.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the applicable regulatory
financial reporting framework and, in particular, with the principles and criteria
contained in the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union, in conformity with Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European
Parliament and of the Council. The main mandatory accounting principles and
measurement criteria applied, the alternative treatments permitted by the relevant
legislation in this respect, and the standards and interpretations issued but not yet in
force at the date of forma! preparation of these financial statements are summarised in
Note 4.

These financial statements were prepared on the basis of the accounting records kept by
the Parent Company and by the other Group companies. These records include the
figures relating to the joint ventures, groupings and consortia considered to be joint
operations, in which the Group companies have interests, through the proportional
consolidation method, that is, through the inclusion, based on the percentage of
participation, of the assets, liabilities and operations of these entities, after asset and
liability balances are appropriately eliminated, as well as operations in the year.

The Acciona Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2017 were approved by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2018. The consolidated
financial statements for 2018 of the Acciona Group have not yet been approved by the
sharcholders at the Annual General Meeting. However, the Parent Company’s Board of
Directors considers that the aforementioned financial statements will be approved
without any material changes.

Unless otherwise indicated, these consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of euros, because the euro is the functional currency of the principal
economic area where the Acciona Group operates. Foreign operations are accounted for
in accordance with the policies established in Notes 3.2.g) and 4.2.q).
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3.2 Consolidation principles
a. Consolidation methods

The companies over which, under IFRS 10, control is exercised were fully
consolidated. These companies are considered subsidiaries and they are listed in
Appendix I, and thetr consolidation method is explained in section d. of this same
note.

Entities managed jointly with third parties as a joint operation are proportionately
consolidated when it is concluded that the participating company has direct rights
and obligations for its share percentage in the assets and liabilities under the
agreement. This is explained in section e. in this note. The agreements that confer
joint control by means of separate vehicles are listed in Appendix II.

Finally, the companies not included in the paragraphs above, where significant
influence is held in their management or they are a joint venturer, are associates, and
they are measured by applying the equity method (see Appendix III). This
consolidation method is explained in section f. in this note.

b. Eliminations on consolidation

All material balances and effects of the transactions performed between the
subsidiaries and the associates and joint operations, and intra-subsidiaries, were
eliminated on the consolidation process.

The gains on transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s share percentage in their capital.
Exceptionally, the profit and loss on internal transactions with Group companies,
jointly controlled entities or associates in connection with certain concession-related
activities were not eliminated.

¢. Uniformity

The Spanish resident companies included in the scope of consolidation were
consolidated on the basis of their separate financial statements prepared in
accordance with the Spanish General Accounting Plan and foreign companies were
consolidated in accordance with their local standards. All material adjustments
required to adapt these financial statements to International Financial Reporting
Standards and/or make them compliant with the Group’s accounting policies were
considered in the consolidation process.

d. Subsidiaries

“Subsidiaries™ are defined as companies over which the Company has the capacity to
exercise effective control; control is generally seen in three elements that must be
complied with: having authority over the subsidiary, exposure or the right to variable
returns from its investment, and the ability to use said authority to influence the
amount of these returns.



The financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the
Company. Accordingly, all material balances and effects of the transactions between
consolidated companies were eliminated on consolidation.

When a subsidiary is bought, its assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values, as provided for in IFRS 3, Business
Combinations. Any excess in the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the
identified net assets is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is lower than
the fair value of the identifiable net assets, the difference is credited to profit or loss
on the acquisition date.

For subsidiaries acquired during the year, only the results from the date of
acquisition to year-end are included in the consolidation. Similarly, for subsidiaries
disposed of during the year, only the results from the beginning of the year to the
date of disposal are included in the consolidated income statement.

The interest of non-controlling shareholders is stated at their proportion of the fair
values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

The share of third parties in the equity of their investees is disclosed within the
Group’s equity under “Non-Controlling Interests” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Similarly, their share in the profit or loss for the year is disclosed under “Non-
Controlling Interests™ on the consolidated income statement.

Joint operations

Joint arrangements are deemed to be ventures in which the investee is managed by a
Group company and one or more unrelated third parties, all of whom act jointly to
manage the relevant activities and where strategic decisions require the unanimous
consent of the parties.

Joint arrangements where the investing company is deemed to hold direct rights and
obligations for its share percentage in the assets and liabilities under the arrangement
are considered joint operations.

The financial statements of joint operations are proportionately consolidated with
those of the Company and, therefore, the aggregation of balances and subsequent
eliminations are only applied in proportion to the Group’s share in these operations.

The assets and liabilities relating to operations are recognised on the consolidated
balance sheet classified according to their specific nature. Similarly, the income and
expenses from joint operations are disclosed in the consolidated income statement on
the basis of their nature.

Equity method

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures
(joint arrangements giving a right to the net assets of the arrangement) are measured
by applying the equity method, i.e., at the Group’s share in net assets of the investee,
after taking into account the divid ther enuitv
eliminations.



The value of these investments on the consolidated balance sheet implicitly includes,
where applicable, the goodwill arising on their acquisition.

When the Group’s investments in associates are reduced to zero, any additional
implicit obligations in the subsidiaries that are accounted for by the equity method
are recognised under “Non-current provisions” on the consolidated balance sheet.

In order to disclose results uniformly, the Group’s share in the profit or loss of
associates 1s disclosed on the consolidated income statement before and after tax.

. Translation differences

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations with a
functional currency other than the euro are translated to euros at the exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly.
Capital and reserves are translated at the historical exchange rates. Translation
differences, if any, are classified as equity. Such translation differences are
recognised as income or as expenses in the year in which the investment is made or
disposed of.

. Changes in the scope of consolidation

Appendices I, II and III to the accompanying consolidated financial statements
contain relevant information about the Acciona Group’s subsidiaries, joint operations
and associates and joint ventures, and Appendix IV shows the changes in
consolidation scope in the year.

During 2018, the main change in scope corresponds with the sales contract for 100%
of the shares that the Group held in Acciona Termosolar, S.L. (the owner of 5
thermal power plants in Spain) to Contourglobal Mirror 2 S.A.R.L. being formalised,
after fulfilling the final condition precedent regarding the clearance from the Spanish
Competition Ministry on 10 May 2018; the sale amounted to 1,093 million euros,
and capital gains of 53 million euros were recognised under “impairment and gains
or losses on disposal of assets” for this operation, At 31 December 2017, the assets
and liabilities of this subgroup were recognised under heading held for sale (see Note
23). On the other hand, the revenue and after tax result provided by the subgroup and
recognised in the 2018 consolidated income statement came to 42,605 thousand
euros and profit of 1,742 thousand euros, respectively.

The sale of the totality of the shares held by the company in Compafia
Trasmediterranea, S.A. (92.71% of the share capital) to Grupo Naviera Armas was
formalised on 6 June 2018 after fulfilling the final condition precedent regarding the
clearance from the Spanish Markets and Competition Commission. The sale price
amounted to 357.3 million euros, which covers the repayment of the debt that
Trasmediterranea had with Group companies amounting to 127.3 million euros, and
a deferred payment of 30.4 million euros over a maximum period of 5 years, which is
linked to the evolution of the main business indicators. Capital gains amounting to
44.8 million euros are recognised in the
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contracts with local airlines and to a large extent also provides access to the expected
market growth following the current Santiago de Chile airport expansion.

According to applicable accounting regulations, the allocation of assets and liabilities
identified shall be deemed final once 12 months have passed since the acquisition
date.

The main assets and liabilities contributed by the company Andes Aiport Services,
S.A. are detailed in the notes to these consolidated financial statements.

It should be noted that the net revenue and the after-tax result provided by the
company Andes Airport Services, S.A. from the effective acquisition date until 31
December 2018 amounted to 26,722 thousand euros and 3,726 thousand euros,
respectively. If the acquisition date of this company had been 01 January 2018 then
the revenue and after tax result would have been 41,409 thousand euros and 4,932
thousand euros, respectively. The functional currency of the Andes Airport Services,
S.A. company is the Chilean Peso (CLP).

On the other hand, a sales agreement for 100% of the shares in the Brazilian
concessionaire “Acciona Concessoes Rodovia do Ago, S.A.” was signed on 6
September 2018. The transaction was finalised in November 2018 after obtaining
approvals from the Brazilian National Road Transport Agency and the Brazilian
National Bank for Economic and Social Development and replacing the operational
guarantee. The sales price was set in Brazilian real. As a result of this transaction, a
loss of 18.3 million euros has been recognised under “Impairment and profit/(loss)
on disposal of non-current assets” on the accompanying consolidated income
statement.

A purchase agreement was finalised on 11 October 2018 with Blackstone Group
International Partners LLP for the entire shares held by the Acciona Group in Testa
Residencial SOCIMI S.A,, (Testa), which amounted to a 20% share in the company,
for a total price of 379 million euros. On 21 December 2018, after the conditions
precedent had been fulfilled and following a prior agreement with the buyer, Testa
distributed a dividend to its shareholders, Acciona Group receiving 201 million
euros, therefore the Testa shares were effectively sold for 178 million euros,
obtaining a profit of 47 million euros which is recognised under “Impairment and
profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets™ in the accompanying consolidated
income statement.

Finally, on 27 December 2018, a purchase agreement was signed for the 10% share
that Acciona Concesiones, S.L. held in the Canadian concessionaire subsidiary,
“Maple Concessions Canada Inc”. The sales price of these shares was set at 3.1
million euros, resulting in a profit for the Group of 5.4 million euros which has been
recognised under “Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets” on
the accompanying consolidated income statement.

With economic effects, on 01 January 2018 the Company Acciona Energia, S.A.
acquired the additional 50% of the companies Valdivia Energia Edlica, S.A. and
Edlico Aljjar, S.A. for 7,800 and 2,700 thousand euros, respecitvely; thercfore, the
Group now holds 100% of these comnanies and the consalidation methad-chanoés












assets. The amortised cost category is the one that practically collects all of the Group’s
financial assets, which were previously classified under the 1AS 39 as “loans and
receivables”. This new category does not present any significant valuation differences
when compared to the categories used by IAS 39. In section 11 of these financial
statements, a breakdown of all financial assets as of 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017 has been included, using the terminology specified by IFRS 9 and IAS
39, respectively.

Refinancing liabilities: as established by IAS 39, contractual amendments of any
liabilities are not listed as losses in the consolidated income statement because they are
considered unsubstantial amendments. The new standards indicate that these ought to be
accounted for as changes in the estimated contractual flow for the liability, under the
original effective interest rate and adjusting the book value on the modification date,
recording the difference as either income or an expense in the income statement on the
refinancing date.

Acciona Group, during their last financial years, has carried out a series of debt
refinancing operations. As of 1 January 2018 (first application date) the impact of
applying IFRS 9 criteria to the aforementioned refinancing operations has amounted to a
decrease in the book value of financial liabilities and retained earnings of 7 million
curos.

e Value impairment

As established by IFRS 9, the Group has established a new impairment model based on
the expected losses to replace the previous model based on incurred losses. The new
model requires any potential losses arising from defaulting payments during the next 12
months or throughout the entire lifespan of the financial instrument to be recognised,
depending on the nature of the financial asset and the evolution of its associated credit
risk from the initial recognition date.

The standard also provides a simplified model for trade receivables, accounts receivable
related to financial leases, and any assets included under IFRS 15, which calculates the
total expected losses for the lifespan of these assets. It is in this trade receivables section
that the expected loss calculations have had the most impact on the Group.

In order to calculate expected losses, Acciona Group has developed a model that allows,
firstly, any pending receivables according to be segmented by business division and
type of client (public entities, large clients, etc.) and subsequently, analyses past credit
losses over the last five years. In these cases, past credit loss experiences are then
adjusted in order to reflect the differences between the economic conditions of the
period during which the historical data was gathered and the current economic
conditions.

Following this analysis, a negative impact of 49 million euros after taxes has been
estimated, which was recorded against the retained earnings at 1 January 2018,
according to the standard.






The main differences brought about by the adoption of this standard in Acciona Group’s
revenue recognition policies correspond to:

- An increase in the level of customer acceptance required to record revenue
coming from modifications over the original contract. When it comes to those
contracts where negotiations are still taking place and customer acceptance is
still pending, it is now required for their completion status to be advanced
enough to reasonably ensure that it is highly likely that the revenues recorded
will not be reverted once negotiations are finalised. Furthermore, in such cases
revenue recognition will be recorded under the limitations corresponding to
variable compensation, as set out by paragraph 19 of IFRS 15 standard. The
negative impact after taxes recorded in reserves, as of 1 January 2018, amounted
to 416.6 million euros.

- On the other hand, the new standard requires the different performance
obligations to be identified at the beginning, in a way that allows revenue
recognition for each obligation to be done separately. The negative impact after
taxes recorded in reserves, as of 1 January 2018, amounted to 2.3 million euros.

- Recognition of the costs for obtaining construction projects has also been
revised, and it is now necessary for any expenses listed under this item to
correspond to incremental costs, that is, to costs incurred after the project is
awarded. The negative impact after taxes recorded in reserves, as of 1 January
2018, amounted to 4.7 million euros.

- The change in revenue recognition methods implemented by Nordex subgroup,
which is accounted for by the Acciona Group using the equity method, replace
the incurred costs - percentage completion method for the completed milestones
method. The negative impact after taxes recorded in reserves, as of the 1st of
January 2018, amounted to approximately 36.6 million euros.

It should be noted that the effects of the first application of both 1IFRS 9 and IFRS 15
have created a negative difference between ‘“current assets” and “current liabilities”,
although this has had no impact on the management of the Group’s working capital.
This is a transient situation and will progressively correct itself as the different related
revenue recording conditions are met — mainly after reaching the required customer
acceptance levels for works in progress, and when accounts receivables that were
derecognised after the initial application of the accounting standards are re-established.
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- IFRS 16 - Leases:

IFRS 16 — Leases, will replace the IAS 17 — Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, SIC 15 Operating leases - Incentives and SIC 27,
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease, for
reporting periods starting on 1 January 2019. This new standard proposes a single lease
model in which a liability will be recorded for any payments due for the lease, including
any reasonable extensions, and an asset that represents the right to use the underlying
asset for the duration of the lease. Lessees will also be responsible for re-evaluating any
liabilities on the lease, usually by adjusting the recorded asset for right of use, whenever
certain events require it - such as changes to the duration of the lease, changes in the
future payment schedule caused by updating any clauses included in the lease
agreement, changes to any future instalments, etc. The Standard includes two exceptions
to lease asset and liability recognition on behalf of lessees: small value leases and leases
lasting under 12 months. Likewise, lessees must also list their amortised liability
expenses as separate from the amortised value for right of use. The dual model based on
the current IAS 17 is maintained for the lessor and the leases will be financial or
operational.

Most of the situations in which Acciona Group acts as a lessee relate to operational
leases, and the Group is currently finalising an analysis on the full impact of this
standard on its financial statements. This analysis has taken into account the following
procedures:

— Inventory of any lease agreement in force as of 31 December 2018 that are expected
to remain valid by | January 2019.

— Analysis of each lease agreement in order to determine their effective periods, based
on the likely extensions that will be negotiated, and whether any of these fall within
the scope of IFRS 16.

— analysis on the right to substantially obtain all the economic benefits of the use of
the asset in order to conclude on the Group's capacity as a lessee, to control the use
of the underlying asset identified in the contract. As a result of this analysis, which
entails a high level of judgement value, the Group considers that most of the land
lease contracts where wind power generation facilities are located are excluded from
the scope of IFRS 16, since they contain clauses that do not recognise the exclusive
use by the lessee subsidiaries, and allow the lessor access to and development of
activities on the land, restricting, therefore, the ability of the Group to manage the
use of such land.

Given this is an issue that is not specifically regulated in the standard, the fact that
this treatment may be modified cannot be discarded, in accordance with the
interpretations or clarifications that may be issued by the legislators or the doctrine.

— Revising any payment plans included within lease agreements in order to separate,
whenever possible, which instalments belong to services rendered and therefore do
not meet the definition of a lease.

— Estimating the discount rates that will be applied to each lease agreement.
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Implementing a management tool that facilitate future control and calculations for
the new standard.

Acciona Group has chosen not to adopt [FRS 16 in advance, and it intends to apply
a mixed transition method, by which, depending on the characteristics of the
contracts in force and the historical information that can be reconstructed from
them, the application of a modified retroactive transition (paragraph C8 (b) (i)), ora
simplified modified retroactive transition method (paragraph C8 (b) (ii)) is being
considered. Additionally, the Group will apply the recognition exemptions for
short-term or low-value leases, establishing the amount of 5,000 euros as an upper
limit for the latter.

The Group is currently finishing the estimates and policies that should be applied in
relation to this new standard. Following a first estimate of the incremental rate and
application to contracts subject to IFRS 16, at the closing date they would imply the
recognition of an asset for rights of use, a negative impact on reserves, and a lease
liability of 158 million euros, 23 million euros, and 181 million euros, respectively.
The main types of underlying assets identified in the affected contracts are detailed
below in millions of euros:
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If land leases, related to the generation of wind energy described above are subject to
IFRS 16, the estimated initial impact should be increased by 193 million euros for rights
of use, 8 million euros for the negative impact on reserves, and 201 million euros for
lease liability.

Except for the impacts of the standards indicated in the paragraphs above, the Group’s
Directors do not anticipate any significant changes to arise as a result of the introduction
of the other standards, amendments and interpretations published but not yet in force,
since they are applications to be applied prospectively, amendments related to
presentation and disclosure issues and/or matters that are not applicable to the Group’s
operations.
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4.2 Measurement standards
The main measurement standards applied in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, were as follows:

A) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes are stated on the consolidated balance sheet at
the lower of acquisition or production cost less any accumulated depreciation and their
recoverable amounts.

The costs of expansion, modermnisation or improvements leading to increased
productivity, capacity or efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets
are capitalised. Acquisition cost includes professional fees and borrowing costs incurred
during the construction period that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use. The finance costs relating
to this funding used for the construction of these assets are entirely capitalised during
their construction.

The acquisition cost of elements acquired before 31 December 2003 includes any asset
revaluations permitted in the various countries to adjust the value of the property, plant
and equipment due to the effect of inflation until that date.

The balances of assets retired as a result of modernisation or for any other reason are de-
recognised from the related cost and accumulated depreciation accounts.

In-house work done by the Group on its own property, plant and equipment is
recognised at accumulated cost (external costs plus internal costs calculated on the basis
of in-house consumption of warehouse materials and manufacturing costs incurred). At
31 December 2018 “other income™ on the accompanying consolidated income statement
recorded the amount of 207 million euros for work done by the Group on its own
property, plant and equipment, mostly related to wind projects developed in Chile,
Mexico and Australia, and a photovoltaic project in Chile.

Upkeep and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated income statement for the
year in which they are incurred.

Generally, depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the
acquisition cost of the assets less their residual value; it is understood that the land on
which the buildings and other structures stand has an indefinite useful life and,
therefore, is not depreciated. The Group companies depreciate their property, plant and
equipment over the years of estimated useful life. The annual depreciation rates
applicable in 2018 were as follows:






the given consideration, the value assigned to non-dominant stake holdings and the
identification and measurement of the net amount of the assets acquired at fair value is
recognised in the profit/(loss).

The assets and liabilities acquired are measured provisionally at the date on which
control is acquired, and the resulting value is reviewed no later than one year from the
date of acquisition.

Goodwill is not amortised, but impairment is verified each year, or before then if there
are signs of a potential loss of asset value. For these purposes, the goodwill resulting
from the business combination is assigned to each of the Cash-Generating Units (CGU)
or groups of CGUs that belong to the Group which are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. After the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at its
cost less the accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill generated internally is not recognised as an asset. Goodwill is only recognised
when it has been acquired for a consideration and represents, therefore, a payment made
by the buyer in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets of the acquired
company that are not individually and separately identifiable and recognisable.

Goodwill arising in the acquisition of companies with a functional currency other than
the euro is translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the

consolidated balance sheet.

D) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are
subsequently measured at cost less, if applicable, any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over those useful lives using
methods similar to those used to depreciate property, plant and equipment. The
amortisation rates, which were determined on the basis of the average years of estimated
useful life of the assets, are basically as follows:

Develonment exnenditure 10 -33%
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The consolidated companies recognise any impairment loss in the carrying amount of
these assets with a charge to “Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current
assets” on the consolidated income statement. The criteria to recognise the impairment
losses of these assets and, if appropriate, the loss recoveries that might occur
subsequently are detailed in section E) in this note.

Research and development

As a general rule, expenditure on research activities is recoonised as an exnense in the
year in which it is incurred, except in develop:
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asset is created, it is probable that the asset will generate future economic benefits, and
the development cost of the asset can be reliably measured. The Group’s development
expenditure, basically related to the wind power business, is only recognised as an asset
if it is probable that it will generate future economic benefits and the development cost
of the asset can be reliably measured.

Development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Unless the aforementioned conditions for recognition as an asset are met, development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.

Administrative concessions

The “Administrative Concessions” line item includes concessions that have been
acquired by the Group for a consideration (in the case of concessions that can be
transferred) or for the amount of the expenses incurred to directly obtain the concession
from the Government or from a public agency. Administrative concessions are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the concession. Appendix V details
the duration (and, therefore, amortisation) of the main concessions.

Intangible assets in infrastructure projects

Since the adoption of IFRIC 12, the Acciona Group has included under “Intangible
Assets in Infrastructure Projects”, the intangible assets associated with concessions in
which the demand risk is borne by the operator. This type of concession-related activity
is carried out through investments mainly in transport and water supply infrastructure
that is operated by subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates (concession
operators), the main characteristics being as follows:

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases.

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or
regulates the service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which
it should be provided.

- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the
concession tender specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this
period, the assets are handed over to the concession grantor, and the concession operator
has no right whatsoever over these assets.

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from
the users or through the concession grantor.

The most significant accounting criteria applied by the Acciona Group in relation to
these concession arrangements are as follows:

- Capitalisation of the borrowing costs incurred during the construction period and non-
capitalisation of the borrowing costs subsequent to the entry into service of the related
assets.

- Amortisation of the concession = ~
concession term.



- Concession operators amortise these assets so that the carrying amount of the
investment made plus the costs considered necessary to return the assets in working
order is zero at the end of the concession term.

- Practically in all the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was
carried out by Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding
to infrastructure construction or upgrade services are recognised at their gross amount
(recognition of the sales and the cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements of
the Acciona Group), with the construction margin recognised on the consolidated
financial statements. If construction were not carried out by the Group itself, this fact
would be taken into account for the purpose of recognising sales and the cost of sales on
the consolidated financial statements. No adjustment was necessary in 2018 for this
reason.

Computer software
The acquisition and development costs incurred in relation to the basic computer
systems used in the Group’s management are recognised at acquisition cost with a

charge to “Other Intangible Assets” on the consolidated balance sheet.

Computer system maintenance costs are recognised with a charge to the consolidated
income statement for the year in which they are incurred.

E) Impairment of non-current assets

At the closing date of each balance sheet, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets, to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets might have sustained an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the value impairment loss (if any). When the asset does
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest identifiable cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
in such a way that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or cash-generating unit) in previous years.

At the end of each reporting period, goodwill is reviewed for impairment (i.e. a
reduction in its recoverable amount to below its carrying amount) and any impairment is
written down with a charge to “Impairment and profit/(loss) on Disposals of Non-
Current Assets” on the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised
for goodwill do not reverse in a subsequ



Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The
methodology used to estimate value in use varies on the basis of the type of asset in
question. For these purposes, the Group considers three types of assets: investment
property (assets held to earn rentals), goodwill of companies and assets of a limited
duration (primarily assets related to electricity production and infrastructure
concessions); the way they are measured is explained below.

Real estate assets (assets held to carn rentals and inventories)

The Group’s real estate investment relates to properties earmarked for lease. The fair
value at 31 December 2018 of the Group’s real estate investment was calculated with
the support of valuations conducted at that date by Savills Aguirre Newman (its report
was issued on 7 February 2019 as an independent expert).

Assets of this type are measured by updating the rents at rates that vary on the basis of
the type of building earmarked for lease and of the specific characteristics of the
buildings. In proportion to their carrying amounts, the assets held to earn rentals may be
classified as residential for rent (19.81%), offices (39.83%), land for development
(21.79%) and other property (18.57%) (housing, car parks, etc.) The update rates used
for each type of property lie in the following ranges: residential property for rent (5.75-
6.5%), offices (7.25-9.5%) and other property (8-11.5%).

The method used to calculate the market value of investment goods consists in
preparing ten-year forecasts for the income and expenses of each asset that will then be
updated at the date of the statement of financial position, through a market discount rate.
The residual amount at the end of the tenth year is calculated by applying a yield rate
(“exit yield” or cap rate”) from the forecasts for net income in the eleventh year. The
market values thus obtained are analysed through calculation and analysis of the
capitalisation of the yield implicit in these values. The forecasts are used to reflect the
best estimate of income and expenses of property assets over the future. The yield rate
and the discount rate are defined according to the domestic market; the reasonability of
the market value thus obtained is proved in terms of initial gain.

To calculate the fair value of land, the residual method was applied. This method
consists in estimating the value of the final product on the basis of the comparison or
cash flow discount method, and the development costs are taken off this value.
Development costs include the cost or urbanisation, construction, fees, levies and all the
costs needed to carry out the projected development. Revenue and costs are distributed
over time according to the development and sale periods estimated by the appraiser. The
update rate used is the rate representing the annual average yield of the project, and the
external financing that would be required by an average developer for a development of
the characteristics of the development analysed is not taken into account. This update
rate is calculated by adding the risk premium (determined through the risk assessment
of the development, with the type of property asset to build, its location, liquidity, term
of construction and amount of required investment being considered) to the free-risk
rate. Where in the determination of the cash flows external financing is taken into
account, the risk premium mentioned above increases depending on the percentage of
said financing (leverage level) attributed to the project and on the usual interest rates on
the mortgage market.



Taking the valuations made as a benchmark, the related impairment if any is booked
and recognised in “Impairment and profit/loss on disposal of non-current assets” on the
income statement (see Note 6).

Goodwill of companies

The impairment test takes into consideration the cash-generating units® overall capacity
to generate future cash flows.

The Group prepares five-year forecasts of projected cash flows, including the best
available estimates of income and expenses for the cash-generating units, using industry
projections, past experience and future expectations.

Also, a residual value is calculated on the basis of the normalised cash flows of the last
year of the forecast, to which a perpetuity growth rate is applied which under no
circumstances exceeds the growth rates of previous years or those estimated in the long
term for the market where the cash generating unit is located. The cash flow used to
calculate residual value takes into account the replacement investments required for the
continuity of the business in the future at the estimated growth rate.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is used to discount cash flows, which
will depend on the type of business and on the market in which it is carried on. The
average leverage during the projection period is taken into account in the calculation of
the WACC.

Other items calculated include: i) the effective cost of borrowings, which takes into
account the tax shield that they give rise to, based on the average tax rates in each
country; and ii) the estimated cost of equity based on a risk-free interest rate, (generally
using as a benchmark the return on a ten-year bond in each market), the beta (which
factors in the leverage and the risk associated with the asset), and a market premium
(estimated on the basis of historical yields on the capital markets). These variables are
tested using recent studies on premiums required at long term, comparable companies in
the industry and rates habitually used by investment banks.

At 31 December 2018, the impairment tests implemented did not show the need to
register impairment (see Note 7).

Non-current assets in projects

This line item includes concession assets and projects with a limited duration and
characterised by having a contractual structure that makes it possible for the costs
incurred in the project to be clearly determined (both at the initial investment stage and
at the operating phase) and the related revenue to be reasonably projected over the life
of the project (basically property, plant and equipment from the energy division). They
are registered under property, plant and equipment (mainly under electric power
generation facilities) and in other intangible assets under intangible concessions (IFRIC
12).



To calculate the value in use of assets of this nature, the expected cash flows are
projected until the end of the life of the asset. Therefore, it is assumed that there is no
terminal value. This is possible because:

o These assets have a stable long-term production, thus making it possible for
reliable long-term estimates to be made.

o There are extensive series of historical data from reliable external sources.

e In connection with the energy division, the estimates of prices used by the
Acciona Group for revenue determination (pool price) are based on a profound
understanding of the market and on the analysis of the parameters determining
pool prices.

o The operating costs are known and with scant variability.

* A large part of them have been financed with long-term debt with known and
constant terms and conditions that make it possible to forecast easily the
necessary outflows of cash to cover the debt service.

The projections include both known data (based on project contracts) and basic
assumptions supported by specific studies performed by experts or by historical data (on
demand, production, etc.). Also, macroeconomic data, such as inflation, interest rates,
etc.,, are projected using data provided by independent specialist sources (e.g.
Bloomberg).

The discounted cash flows are those obtained by the sharecholder after servicing the
debt. The rates used to discount these cash flows are based on the cost of equity, and in
each case include the business risk and the sovereign risk relating to the location where
the operation is being performed.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Acciona Group has not recognised significant
amounts in the accompanying consolidated income statement for this concept.

F) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases

When the consolidated companies act as the lessee, they disclose the cost of the leased
assets on the consolidated balance sheet, based on the nature of the leased asset, and,
simultaneously, recognise a liability for the same amount (which will be the lower of
the fair value of the leased asset and the aggregate present values of the amounts
payable to the lessor plus, where applicable, the price of exercising the purchase
option). These assets are depreciated using the same criteria as those applied to similar
items of property, plant and equipment that are owned.

The finance charges arising under finance leases are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases.



Operating leases

In operating leases, the ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards relating to the leased assets remain with the lessor, which recognises the assets
at their acquisition cost.

These assets are depreciated using the coefficients set ou in section 4.2.A) and lease
income is recognised on the income statement on a straight-line basis.

When the consolidated companies act as the lessee, lease costs, including any incentives
granted by the lessor, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis on their

income statements.

Amounts received and receivable as incentives for the arrangement of operating leases
are also recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

G) Non-current receivables and other non-current assets

“Non-Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Assets” includes the non-current
trade receivables, mainly from public authorities, and withholdings from trade
receivables, mainly from the Infrastructure division.

Since the Acciona Group adopted IFRIC 12, it has recognised under “Other Non-
Current Assets” non-current assets associated with concessions in which the grantor
guarantees the payment of a quantified or quantifiable amount, and where, therefore, the
operator does not bear any demand risk.

This type of concession-related activity was carried on through investments mainly in
transport, water supply and hospital infrastructure operated by subsidiaries, jointly
controlled entities or associates {concession operators), the detail being as follows:

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases.

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or
regulates the service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which
it should be provided.

- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the
concession tender specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this
period, the assets are handed over to the concession grantor, and the concession operator
has no right whatsoever over these assets.

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from
the users or through the concession grantor.

The most significant accounting criteria applied by the Acciona Group in relation to
these concession arrangements are as follows:

- The account receivable is recognised for the nresent value of the amount receivahie
from the grantor.



- Borrowing costs are not capitalised, either during the construction phase or after the
concession has started to operate.

- The Group recognises interest income eamed on the financial asset, even during the
construction phase, by applying the effective interest rate of the financial asset. This
income is recognised in the net revenue.

- Practically in all the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was
carried out by Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding
to infrastructure construction or upgrade services are recognised at their gross amount
(recognition of the sales and the cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements of
the Acciona Group), with the construction margin recognised on the consolidated
financial statements. If construction were not carried out by the Group itself, this fact
would be considered for the purpose of recognising sales and the cost of sales on the
consolidated financial statements.

- There is no depreciation or amortisation charge since the arrangements constitute a
financial asset.

- Annual billings are divided into a financial asset component recognised on the balance
sheet (and, therefore, not recognised as sales) and the component relating to services

provided, which is recognised under “Revenue”.

H) Financial instrument disclosures

The qualitative and quantitative disclosures in the financial statements regarding
financial instruments and risk and capital management are detailed in the following
notes:

- Financial asset and liability categories, including derivative financial instruments
and accounting policies are detailed in Note 4.2 1).

- Classification of the fair value measurements of financial assets and for derivative
financial instruments consistent with the fair value hierarchy established in
IFRS 7, detailed in Note 4.2 i).

- Disclosure requirements {qualitative and quantitative information) regarding the
capital are detailed in Note 16 g).

- Risk accounting and management policies are detailed in Note 19.

- Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting are detailed in Note 20.

- Transfers from equity to the year’s profit or loss, for settlements of hedging
derivative financial instrument transactions, are detailed in Note 28.
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1)

Financial instruments

Non-current and current financial assets excluding hedging derivatives

The financial assets held by the Group companies are classified into two large blocks
based on the subsequent valuation method:

- Financial assets carried at amortised cost: corresponds to assets that are expected to
retain contractual cash flows, which consist of collecting principal and interest (if
applicable). These items are measured at amortised cost, which is basically the 1nitial
market value, less principal repayments, plus the accrued interest receivable
calculated using the effective interest method. The types of assets comprised by this
classification are:

Loans and receivables: those originated by the companies in exchange for
supplying cash, goods or services directly to a debtor. This category is
comprised practically in its entirety of the assets recorded under heading “Trade
and other accounts receivable”.

Cash and other current financial assets: this item comprises both cash and bank
deposits on demand. Other cash equivalents comprise short-term investments,
with maturity under three months, and not subject to a relevant risk of change in
value.

Other financial assets: assets with fixed or quantifiable payments and fixed
maturity. The Group has the intention and ability to hold them from the date of
purchase to the date of maturity. The category mainly includes loans granted to
companies consolidated by equity method, short-term deposits, and deposits and
guarantees.

The Group has determined an impairment model based on the forecast losses arising
from defaulting payments during the next 12 months or throughout the entire lifespan of
the financial instrument to be recognised, depending on the nature of the financial asset
and the evolution of its associated credit risk from the initial recognition date. The
model is carried out by considering the division, type of customer (public entity, large
customers, etc.) as well as the historical experience regarding credit risk over the past
five years. No significant amount for this concept has been recognised in the income
statement for 2018,

- Financial Assets designated at fair value with changes in profit or loss: these relate to
securities acquired that are not classified in the other categories; almost all of them
relate to financial instruments in the capital of companies. They are measured:

- In the case of shareholdings in unlisted companies, given that the fair value

cannot always be reliably determined, at acquisition cost, adjusted for any
impairment losses disclosed. The main criterion applied by the Acciona Group
to determine if there is objective evidence of impairment is to have incurred
significant or permanent losses in the investee.

At fair value when it is possible to determine it reliably, either through the
market price or, in the absence thereof, using the price established in recent

transactions or the discounted presen ains



and losses from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

In financial years 2018 and 2017, no financial assets were reclassified among the
categories defined in the foregoing paragraphs. Although the classification of these

categories has been aligned to IFRS 9, it has not led to a change in the valuation method
for the Group’s financial assets with respect to the previous year.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are booked using the trade date method.

Transfers of financial assets

The Acciona Group de-recognises financial assets when they expire or when the rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership have also been transferred, such as in the case of firm asset sales, factoring of
trade receivables in which the company does not retain any credit or interest rate risk,
sales of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at fair value and the
securitisation of financial assets in which the transferor does not retain any subordinate
financing or award any kind of guarantee or assume any other kind of risk.

Bank borrowings other than derivatives

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recognised at the amount received, net of
direct issue costs. Borrowing costs, including premiums payable on settlement or
redemption and direct issue costs, are recognised in the income statement on an accrual
basis using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of
the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. In
subsequent periods, these obligations are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

In specific cases where liabilities are the underlying of a fair value hedge, they are
measured, exceptionally, at fair value for the portion of the hedged risk.

The Group writes off financial liabilities or part of them when the obligations contained
therein expire, or when it is legally released from the main responsibility of the liability
through a legal process or by the creditor.

The exchange of debt instruments between Group and the counterparty, or substantial
modifications to the liabilities that had initially been recognised are accounted for as the
cancellation of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability, whenever the instruments have substantially different terms.

The Group considers the terms to be substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability.

If the exchange is accounted for as an evtinmrichmant nf tha ~rining] financial liability
then any costs or fees incurred are recog loss. the rise, the



cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any difference with
the previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the costs or fees
adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of
the modified liability.

The Group recognises the difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability
(or part thereof) extinguished or transferred to a third party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed in profit or loss.

The Group also applies this accounting treatment to debt renegotiations arising from
agreements with creditors, recognising the effect of them at the date the agreement is
legally approved. Positive results are recognised under “financial income” in the
consolidated income statement.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Because of its activities, the Group is mainly exposed to the financial risks derived from
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates and in certain energy material
supplies. The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap
contracts to hedge these exposures. Electricity price and supply hedging transactions are
also arranged. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
Board of Directors.

Accounting policies:

Derivatives are recognised at fair value (see measurement bases below) at the
consolidated balance sheet date under “Other Current Financial Assets” or “Non-
Current Financial Assets” if positive and under “Bank Borrowings” (both current and
non-current) if negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
are recognised on the consolidated income statement as they arise. If the derivative has
been designated as a hedge which is highly effective, it is recognised as follows:

- Fair value hedges: these hedges are arranged to fully or partially reduce the risk of
fluctuations in the value of assets and liabilities (underlying) recognised on the
consolidated balance sheet. The portion of the underlying for which the risk is being
hedged is measured at fair value, as is the related hedging instrument, and changes in
the fair values of both items are recognised under the same heading on the
consolidated income statement. At 31 December 2018, the Group had no fair value
hedges.

- Cash flow hedges: these hedges are arranged to reduce the risk of potential changes
in the cash flows associated with the interest payments on non-current floating-rate
financial liabilities, exchange rates and fuel stock and fuel hedges. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives are recognised, with respect to the effective portion of the
hedge, in “Reserves - Value Adjustments” under equity. The cumulative gain or loss
recognised in this heading is transferred to the consolidated income statement to the
extent of the impact of the underlying =~ ~~ ~ T 7 7 d) ~n_the
consolidated income statement; thus, this le ading -



on the consolidated income statement. Gains or losses on the ineffective portion of
the hedges are recognised directly on the consolidated income statement.

Group policy on hedging:

At the inception of the transaction, the Group designates and formally documents the
hedging relationship and the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Hedges
are only recognised when formal documentation regarding the hedging relationship is
available and all effectiveness requirements are met; this means that if an economic
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument is proven to exist, if
the credit risk effect does not dominate value changes arising from this economic
relationship, and if there is a reason for the hedge through which the hedging
relationship 1s the same as that arising from the amount of the hedged item without any
imbalance between the weights of the hedged item and hedging instrument which could
cause the hedge to be ineffective.

The Group does not hedge projected transactions, but rather only firm financing
commitments. If the cash flows from projected transactions were hedged, the Group
would assess whether such transactions were highly probable and whether they were
exposed to changes in cash flows that could ultimately affect the year’s profit or loss.

If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or projected transaction results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, then, at the time the asset
or liability 1s recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had
previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset
or liability. For hedges that do not result in recognition of a non-financial asset or
liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement in the same
period as that in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss.

Compound financial instruments with multiple embedded derivatives

The Acciona Group does not have any compound financial instruments with embedded
derivatives,

Measurement and adjustment for credit risk bases

The Group measures derivatives not traded on an organised market (OTC) by
discounting the expected cash flows and using generally accepted option pricing models
based on spot and futures market conditions at the closing date of every financial year.
The fair value calculations for each type of financial instrument are as follows:

- Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future settlements between fixed
and floating interest rates to their present value, in line with implicit market
rates, obtained from long-term interest rate swap curves. Implicit volatility is
used to calculate the fair values of caps and floors using option pricing models.

- Foreign currency hedging and option contracts are valued using the spot
exchange rate, forward spots nf the related Friimrenecisc and in the race nf nAntiong,

implicit volatility until maturi



- Commodities contracts (for fuel) are valued in a similar way, in this case, taking
into account the futures prices of the underlying and the implicit volatility of the
options.

In order to determine the adjustment for credit risk in the measurement of derivatives at
31 December 2018, the technique applied was based on a calculation through
simulations of the total expected exposure (incorporating both the actual and the
potential exposure) adjusted in line with the probability of default over time and the
severity (or potential loss) assigned to the Company and to each of the counterparties.

More specifically, the adjustment for credit risk was obtained from the following
formula:

EAD * PD * LGD, where

- EAD: Exposure at default at any given moment. This is calculated through the
simulation of scenarios with market price curves.

- PD: Probability of default, i.e., that one or other of the counterparties may fail to
fulfil its payment obligations at any given moment.

- LGD: Loss given default with a severity = 1- (recovery rate): The percentage of
losses ultimately occurring when one of the counterparties has incurred default.

The total expected exposure from derivatives is obtained using observable market
inputs, such as interest curves, exchange rates and volatilities depending on the market
conditions on the measurement date.

The inputs applied to obtain credit risk and counterparty risk (determination of the
probability of default) are mainly based on the application of credit spreads of the
Company or other comparable businesses currently traded on the market (CDS curves,
IRR of debt issues). In the absence of credit spreads of the Company or other
comparable businesses and in order to maximise the use of relevant observable
variables, the listed references taken into account are those considered most suitable in
each case (listed credit spread indices). For counterparties with credit information
available, the credit spreads used are obtained from the Credit Default Swaps (CDS)
listed on the market.

Furthermore, for the fair value (adjustment of the market value to the bilateral credit
risk), consideration has been given to the credit enhancements in terms of collateral or
guarantees when determining the severity rate to be applied to each position. Severity is
considered to be unique over time. If there are no credit enhancements in terms of
collateral or guarantees, a standard market recovery rate has been applied which
corresponds to a senior unsecured debt of 40%. Nonetheless, this recovery rate would
range between 66.15% and 90.45%, depending on the degree of progress in the project
(construction or operation phase), and its geographical area (Western Europe, Eastern
Europe, North America, Latin America, Oceania and Afiica), for derivatives contracted
under Project Finance structures.

The measurements at fair value made over the different derivative financial instruments
including the information used for the calculation of the adjustment for credit risk of
both the Company and its counterparty are classified at level 2 in the fair valye
hierarchy established in IFRS 7 as the inputs sir-*lar
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instruments on active markets (not included in level 1), listed prices for identical or
similar instruments on markets that are not active, and techniques based on valuation
models for which all the significant inputs are observable on the market or can be
corroborated by observable market data.

Although the Acciona Group has determined that most of the inputs used to evaluate the
derivatives are at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, the credit risk adjustments use
level 3 inputs such as the credit estimations based on the credit rating or comparable
companies to assess the probability of insolvency for the Company or its counterparty.
The Group has assessed the relevance of the credit risk adjustments for the total
valuation of the derivative financial instruments and has concluded that they are not
material.

Trade pavables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value, which does
not differ substantially from their fair value.

Trade payables include unpaid balances to suppliers which are handled through
confirming contracts with financial entities and, in the same way, payments related
thereto are classified as transaction flows, since these transactions do not include either
special guarantees given as pledge for the payments to be made or modifications that
change the commercial nature of the transactions.

Current/Non-current classification

On the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within
no more than twelve months are generally classified as current items and those maturing
within more than twelve months are classified as non-current items. However, the
companies in the Real Estate business classify them based on the operation cycle, which
is usually greater than one year. The current assets and liabilities allocated to this
division with an estimated maturity of more than twelve months are as follows:

nvenenes 449,70 414,213

Other current habiliies 18,157 8,627

Loans that mature in the short term but whose long-term refinancing is, at the Groun’s
discretion, ensured through available long-term credit facilitie
current liabilities.
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1! Inventories
The Group companies measure their inventories as follows:

- In the Construction business, procurements, consisting basically of construction
materials located at the sites of the various construction projects in progress, are
measured at acquisition cost. Semi-finished goods or work in progress to be
included in the value of the construction projects are recognised at production cost.

- In the real estate business, land is measured at acquisition cost, plus urban
development costs, if any, purchase transaction costs and borrowing costs incurred
from the date of commencement of the development of the site for its desired use
until construction begins, or at their estimated market value, whichever is the lower.
If the building work is halted due to its rescheduling or other reasons, the
borrowing costs cease to be capitalised.

The costs incurred in property developments or part thereof whose construction has
not been completed at the closing date of the financial year are treated as
inventories. These costs include land, urban development and construction costs,
capitalised borrowing costs incurred in the construction period, and other allocable
direct and indirect costs. Commercial costs are charged to the income statement in
the year in which they are incurred.

In financial year 2018, the capitalised borrowing costs in inventories came to 2,642
thousand euros (672 thousand euros in 2017) (see Note 28).

- Other inventories are recognised generally at the lower of weighted average cost
and net realisable value. These inventories can, on a residual basis, be measured at
FIFO cost.

As regards real estate inventories, the Group’s Directors estimate their fair value at the
end of every year on the basis of the valuations carried out by independent experts
Savills Aguirre Newman (whose report was issued on 7 February 2019), and CB
Richard Ellis, S.A. (whose report was issued on 7 February 2019) allocating if
necessary provisions for impairment when the properties are found to be overvalued.

The valuations were carried out in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation
Standards issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (R1CS) of Great Britain
and the International Valuation Standards (IVS) issued by the International Valuation
Standards Committee (1VSC). The residual method was used to calculate the fair value,
supplemented by the comparative method.

Whenever there is a reasonable change in the basic assumptions that affect the
recoverable amount of the assets, the Group performs a sensitivity analysis to determine
whether this change may reduce the realisable value to below the carrying amount, in
which case, an impairment loss is recognised.



K) Treasury shares

At 31 December 2018, Acciona, S.A. held 2,902,115 treasury shares representing 5.06%
of the share capital at the time. The acquisition cost of these shares amounted to
199,616 thousand euros. The acquisition cost of the treasury shares and the gains or
losses on transactions involving them were recognised directly in equity (see Note 16).

At 31 December 2017, Acciona, S.A. held 45,702 treasury shares representing 0.0798%
of the share capital at the time. The acquisition cost of these shares amounted to 3,146
thousand euros.

L) Termination benefits

Under the legislation for the time being in force, the Spanish companies and certain
foreign companies are required to pay termination benefits to employees dismissed on
unfair grounds. The Acciona Group companies do not currently have any employee
termination plans that have not been appropriately provisioned in accordance with the
regulations in force.

M)  Provisions

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include all the provisions covering
present obligations at the balance sheet date arising from past events which could give
rise to a loss for the companies, certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount
and/or timing. They include all the provisions with respect to which it is considered that
it is more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled.

Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the
consequences of the event giving rise to them and are reviewed and adjusted at the close
of every accounting period, are used to cater for the specific obligations for which they
were originally recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed when such
obligations are extinguished or reduced.

Litigation and/or claims in process

At the close of financial years 2018 and 2017, certain litigation and claims arising from
the ordinary course of operations were in process against the consolidated companies.
The Group’s Directors, considering the opinion of its legal advisers, consider that the
outcome of litigation and claims will not have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements for the years in which they are settled. Accordingly, they did not
deem it necessary to record an additional provision in this respect.

Operating provisions and allowances

These provisions and allowances include costs that have not yet been incurred. The
provision for the cost of completion of construction projects is intended to cover the
expenses arising from the date on which project units are completed to the date of
delivery to the client.



Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

The Acciona Group companies do generally not have any penston plans to supplement
social security pensions. The appropriate provisions are recognised for terminations of
permanent site personnel related to projects, except for the group mentioned below.

Certain companies from the Acciona Group entered into or were subrogated to
collective agreements that establish benefits of specific amounts for employees included
in such agreements that reach retirement age, provided that the conditions established in
the agreements are met. Some of these collective agreements also establish a loyalty
bonus based on the employee’s length of service at the companies. The impact of these
obligations is not material.

These companies have various pension obligations to their employees. These defined
benefit obligations are basically formalised in pension plans, except as regards certain
benefits in kind, mainly electricity supply commitments, which, due to their nature,
have not been externalised and are covered by the related in-house provisions.

For the defined benefit plans, the companies recognise the expenditure relating to these
obligations on an accrual basis over the working life of the employees by performing at
the consolidated balance sheet date the appropriate actuarial studies calculated using the
projected unit credit method. The past service costs relating to changes in benefits are
recognised immediately on the consolidated income statement as the benefits are
accrued.

The defined benefit plan obligations represent the present value of the accrued benefits
after deducting the fair value of the qualifying plan assets. The actuarial losses and
gains arising in the measurement of both the plan liabilities and the plan assets are
recognised directly in equity under “Reserves - Change due to Actuarial Losses and
Gains on Pension Schemes™.

For each of the plans, any positive difference between the actuarial liability for past
services and the plan assets is recognised under “Provisions” on the consolidated
balance sheet and any negative difference is recognised under “Trade and Other
Receivables” on the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet, provided that such
negative difference is recoverable by the Group, usually through a reduction in future
contributions.

The impact of these plans on the consolidated income statement is not material (see
Note 17).

The Group recognises termination benefits when there is an individual or collective
agreement with the employees or a genuine expectation that such an agreement will be
reached that will enable the employees, unilaterally or by mutual agreement with the
company, to cease working for the Group in exchange for a termination benefit. If a
mutual agreement is required, a provision is only recorded in situations in which the
Group has decided to consent to the termination of the employees when this has been
requested by them. In all cases in which these provisions are recognised the employees
have an expectation that these early reti



N} Grants

Government grants related to assets to cover staff re-training costs are recognised as
income once all the conditions attached to them have been fulfilled over the periods
necessary to match them with the related costs.

Government grants related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
treated as deferred income, are classified under “Other Non-Current Liabilities” and are
taken to income over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned under “Other
Income”.

0) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured by the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the
goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT
and other sales-related taxes.

Income and expenses are recognised following the accrual principle, that is, when the
actual flow of goods and services represented takes place, regardless of the time when
the cash or financial flow arising therefrom occurs.

As mentioned above, with the new revenue recognition standard IFRS 15 entering into
force on 1 January 2018, the Group has modified its revenue recognition policies so that
they conform to this standard, and has developed a common policy to be applied across
the various segments.

In this sense, the Group identifies and separates the different commitments when
transferring goods or services referred to in a contract. This implies a separate
recognition for each of the obligations that can be identified individually within the
same main contract.

In addition, the Group estimates the price of each of the contracts identified, also
considering the initial agreed contract price, the amount of variable considerations, the
time value of money (in cases that are considered to have a significant financing
component), and non-cash contributions.

In cases when the amount is variable, or corresponds to unapproved claims, the amount
is estimated following the approach that best predicts what the Group will have a right
to, using an expected value based on the probability, or the single most likely value is
used. This consideration is only recognised to the extent that it is considered to be
highly probable that a significant reversal of the revenue recognised will not occur once
the associated uncertainty has been resolved.

Some of the particular features of the business activities carried on by the Group are
detailed below:



Construction business revenue:

Revenue:

Given the type of activity, revenue usually comes from long-term contracts where the
start date of the contract activity and the date of completion of same generally fall into
different accounting periods, so the initial revenue and expenses estimates may suffer
variations that could affect the recognition of revenue, expenses and results thereof.

The Group recognises construction contract revenue and expenses by reference to the
stage of completion of the activity under contract at the closing date of the balance
sheet, determined on the basis of the examination of the work carried out, or by the
percentage of costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs. In the first case, based
on the measurement of the units made, the production of the period is recorded as
revenue and costs are recognised based on the accrual related to the units performed. In
the second case, revenue is recognised in the revenue statement according to the
percentage of progress in costs (costs incurred versus total costs estimated in the
contract), applied to the total revenue that is considered to be highly likely to be
obtained from the project. The latter is commonly used in markets of Anglo-Saxon
influence and contracts without unit prices.

In exceptional cases, where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be reliably
estimated, contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred and contract revenue 1s recognised only to the extent that the contract costs
incurred are highly likely to be recovered.

In addition, for contracts where it is considered that the estimated costs of the contract
will exceed the revenue derived from same, the expected losses are provisioned against
the consolidated income statement for the year in which they are known.

Ordinary revenue from the contract is recognised considering the initial amount of the
contract agreed with the client as well as any modifications and claims on the same to
the extent that it is highly probable that revenue will be obtained from same, that it can
be reliably measured, and that a significant reversal will not occur in the future.

It is considered that there is a modification to the contract when there is a client’s
instruction to change the scope of the contract. It is considered that there is a claim on
the contract when, due to the client or third parties, there are costs not included in the
initial contract (delays, errors in specifications or design, etc.) and the contractor is
entitled to be compensated for the overrunning costs incurred, either by the client or by
the third party causing them.

These modifications and claims are included as contract revenue when the client has
approved the associated work, either in writing, by verbal agreement or tacitly under
normal commercial practices, i.e., when collection is considered to be highly probable
and a significant reversal of the revenue will not be produced in the future.

In cases when the work has been approved but has yet to be assigned an associated
price, or where approval has not been granted bv the client, the Group considers that

final approval is highly probable when th stage o

when there is a technical and/or legal repo ng sucl



work; the amount recognised as revenue under such cases is estimated according to the
definition of “variable consideration™ set out in IFRS 15, i.e. using methods that provide
the best prediction of the consideration so that the most likely amount is obtained
(single most likely amount within a range of possible consideration amounts), according
to all the information available (historical, current and expected) that can reasonably be
made available, and only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of ordinary accumulated revenue recognised will not occur when
the uncertainty related to the variable consideration is resolved at a later date.

As discussed above, construction contracts are subject to estimates for revenues and
costs that need to be reviewed by project managers as the contracts progress. Any
change in estimates for revenue, expenses and final work results is subject to review by
the different Management levels and when verified and approved, the effect is treated as
a change in the accounting estimate in the year in which it occurs and in subsequent
periods, in accordance with the accounting standards in force.

Expenses:

A project costs include those directly related to the main contract and to any
modifications or claims on the contract. In addition, they include the costs related to the
contracting activity for each contract, such as insurance, consultancy, design and
technical assistance, etc.

Construction contract costs are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e., the costs related to
work units performed and total contract indirect costs attributable to said units are
booked as expense.

Costs that relate to future activity on the contract, such as insurance premiums, site
installations, consultancy, design and other initial costs are initially recognised as assets
in “Inventories”, provided that they are considered to be necessary to fulfil the contract
and will be recovered by successfully completing the contract, and are charged to the
income statement on the basis of the stage of completion of the contract.

Machinery removal and site installation dismantling costs, upkeep costs within the
warranty period and the costs, if any, arising in the period from completion of the
construction work to the date of final settlement, are deferred and recognised over the
life of the construction project, since they are considered one more cost of the
construction work and they relate both to the completed contract units and to the future
activity on the contract.

As regards the provision for depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in
construction contracts, the assets whose estimated useful life coincides with the duration
of the construction work are depreciated over the term of the contract so that they are
fully depreciated upon completion thereof. For machinery whose useful life exceeds the
term of the contract is depreciated systematically on the basis of the technical criteria
stipulated under the various contracts for which it is used and it depreciates under the
straight-line method in the course of each contract.

Late payment interest due to delay in the payvment b tha cliant far warl- ~ertifications
are registered, as financial income, only wh :d and *heir
collection is reasonably guaranteed.



The Group Companies record in the account “Executed production pending
certification”, under “Trade and other accounts receivable”, the positive difference
between the recognised revenue from a contract and the amount of the certifications at
the origin of the contract. In addition, they record in the account “Advances received on
orders”, under “Trade and other accounts payable”, the amount of advance certifications
for various items, including advances received from the client.

Services business revenue:

This business includes a large variety of services rendered, and the associated revenue is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet
date, provided that the outcome of the transaction can be reliably estimated.

For each financial year the Group companies will follow the procedure of recognising
as profit or loss from their services, the difference between production (value at the
selling price of the services provided during the period, as stipulated in the main
contract entered into with the client or in amendments or addenda thereto as approved
by the client, or of the services not yet approved but whose recovery is highly probable)
and the costs incurred during the year.

Price reviews stipulated under the initial contract signed with the client are recognised
as revenue on an accrual basis, regardless of whether they have been approved by the
client on an annual basis, as they are considered to have been committed to under the
contract.

Energy sale revenue:

Electricity sales, along with associated complementary items, are recorded as revenue at
the time it is delivered to the client, moment at which the performance obligations
regarding the amounts supplied during the period are met.

For generation business in regulated markets and in projects with PPA (Power Purchase
Agreement), or long-term energy supply contracts, the energy sale and complementary
items have pre-set prices; for projects in which energy is sold without these kinds of
contracts, the energy sale price and the price of complementary items will vary
throughout the project based on the quoted market prices per MWh (pool) at each
moment,

Real estate business revenue:

The Group companies recognise property sale revenue and costs on the date the
property is delivered, since this is considered to be the time when the client obtains
control over the asset.

Accordingly, at the date of delivery of the property the Group companies recognise, if
appropriate, the provisions required to cover the contractually stipulated costs not yet
incurred in relation to the asset delivered. These provisions arise from a present
obligation of the company, the amount of which can be reliably estimated and whose
settlement will probably give rise to ar



Rental revenue is recognised on an accrual basis, and incentive-related income and the
initial costs of the lease agreements are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-hine
basis over the term of the agreement.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of property
developments or property investments -assets that necessarily require a substantial
period of time to be prepared for their intended use or sale- are added to the cost of said
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for use or sale, provided that
the market value exceeds the accumulated cost of the asset. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

P) Income tax. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Income tax expense is calculated by applying the tax rate to the adjusted accounting
profit, and s comprised of the current tax that results from applying the tax rate to the
tax base for the period after applying deductions and credits, plus the change in deferred
tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their tax bases. They are registered by applying the tax rates at which
they are expected to be recovered or settled.

Corporate tax and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities not arising from business
combinations are recognised on the consolidated income statement or in equity accounts
on the consolidated balance sheet depending on where the profits or losses giving rise to
them have been recognised.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences, and tax loss and tax credit
carryforwards are recognised only if it is considered probable that the consolidated
companies will have sufficient future taxable profits against which they can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised are reassessed at each balance sheet date in
order to verify whether they still exist, and the appropriate adjustments are made on the

basis of the findings of the analyses performed.

Q) Foreign currency balances and transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of each company are
recognised in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates prevailing at the
date of the transaction. During the year, the differences that arise between the balances
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction and the balances
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of collection or payment are
recorded as finance costs or finance income on the consolidated income statement.

In addition, balances receivable or payable at 31 December of every year denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies in which the financial statements of
the consolidated companies are denominated are translated to euros at the year-end
exchange rates. Translation differences e - -
income on the consolidated income staten



R) Environment-related activities

In general, environment-related activities are considered to be operations whose main
purpose is to prevent, reduce or redress damage to the environment.

Investments relating to environmental activities are measured at acquisition cost and
capitalised as an addition to non-current assets in the year in which they are made.

Environmental protection and improvement expenses are charged to profit or loss in the
year in which they are incurred, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial
flow arises.

Provisions for probable or certain liability, litigation in process and outstanding
environmental indemnity payments or obligations of an unspecified amount, not
covered by the insurance policies taken out, are recorded when the liability or obligation
giving rise to the indemnity or payment arises.

S) Discontinued operations and non-current assets and liabilities held for sale

The Group classifies as “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale” property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, other non-current assets or investments under
“Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method” and disposal groups (groups of
assets which will be disposed of together with their directly associated liabilities) for
which at the date of the consolidated balance sheet an active programme and at
reasonable prices has been started so as to sell them and the sale is expected to be
completed within twelve months from that date.

The Group classifies as “Discontinued Operations” the relevant business lines that were
sold or otherwise disposed of or which meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale,
including, where applicable, assets which, together with the business line, are part of the
same disposal plan or are classified as held for sale as a result of acquired commitments,
Similarly, companies acquired exclusively with a view to resale are classified as
“Discontinued Operations”.

These assets or disposal groups are measured at their carrying amount or their fair value
less costs to sell, whichever is the lower, and depreciation on such assets ceases from
the time they are classified as “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale”. However, at the date
of each consolidated balance sheet the related value adjustments are made to ensure that
the carrying amount is not higher than the fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets held for sale and the components of the disposal groups classified as
held for sale are disclosed on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows:
the assets as a single line item called “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” and the liabilities also as a single line item called “Liabilities
Associated with Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Profit or loss after tax of discontinued operations is disclosed as a single line item on the
consolidated income statement as “Profit/(Loss) after Tax from Discontinued —-

Operations”.



There were no discontinued operations at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

T) Eamnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period’s net profit attributable to
the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during said period, excluding the average number of shares of the Parent Company held
by the Group companies.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period’s net profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders adjusted by the effect attributable to the dilutive
potential ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period, adjusted by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding if all the potential ordinary shares have been
converted into ordinary shares of the company. For these purposes, it is considered that
the shares are converted at the beginning of the accounting period or at the date of issue
of the potential ordinary shares, if the latter had been issued during the accounting
period.

U) Consolidated cash flow statement

The following terms, with the meanings specified, are used on the consolidated
statement of cash flows, which was prepared using the indirect method:

- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are taken to
be changes in the value of short-term, highly liquid investments.

- Operating activities: the main revenue-producing activities of the Company and
other activities that are not investing or financing activities. Beginning with the
profit before tax from continuing operations, in addition to the adjustment for
“Depreciation and Amortisation Charge”, transfers of interest paid and received are
recognised under “Other Adjustments to Profit (Net)” although on a separate basis,
as well as the transfer of the gains or losses on disposal of non-current assets
included under investing activities and, lastly, the adjustments to the results of
companies accounted for using the equity method and, in general, any results that do
not generate cash flows.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other
investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of
equity and of borrowings that are not operating activities.
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4.3  Accounting estimates and judgements

The information contained in these financial statements is the responsibility of the
Directors of the Parent Company.

For the consolidated financial statements for 2018 and 2017, estimates were made by
the Group’s Directors in order to measure some of the assets, liabilities, income,
expenses and obligations reported therein. These estimates, the results of which can be
found in the applicable measurement standards, refer to:

- The measurement of assets showing signs of impairment and goodwill so as to
determine any impairment losses thereon.
- Allocation of the cost of business combinations.

- Revenue recognition in the construction and engineering business.

- The assumptions used in the actuarial estimate of pension liabilities and
obligations.

- The useful life of property, plant and equipment, investment property and
intangible assets.

- The assumptions used to measure the fair value of financial instruments.

- The probability of occurrence and the amount, as applicable, of liabilities of an
undetermined amount or contingent liabilities.

- Future costs for dismantling facilities and the restoration of land.

- The results for tax purposes of the various Group companies that will be
reported to the tax authorities in the future, which served as the basis for
recognising the various corporate tax related balances on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, and the recoverability of recognised deferred
tax.

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31
December 2018 and 2017 on the events analysed. However, events that may take place
in the future could make it necessary to change these estimates. Any such changes
would be made in accordance with the requirements of IAS 8.
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4.4 Changes in accounting estimates and policies and correction of fundamental
errors

- Changes in accounting estimates: the effect of any change in accounting estimates is
recognised prospectively, under the same income statement heading as that under
which the expense or income measured using the previous estimate was recognised.

- Changes in accounting policies and correction of fundamental errors. The effects of
changes and corrections of this kind are recognised as follows: if material, the
cumulative effect at the beginning of the year is adjusted under “Reserves” and the
effect for the current year is recognised on the income statement. In these cases, the
financial data for the comparative year presented together with those for the current
year are restated.

At 31 December 2018, there were no material changes in accounting estimates or
accounting policies; nor any corrections of errors, except for those described in Note
4.1. with regards to changes in accounting policies adopted at 1 January 2018 following
IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with clients and IFRS 9 - Financial instruments
entering into force, through which modifications to the measurement standards desribed
in notes 4.2.0) and 4.2.I) were introduced, respectively. As set out in the transition
models of both standards, restatement of prior periods could be avoided, an alternative
that has been applied by the Acciona Group.

- Page 63 -






“Transfers” line includes transfers from PPE in progress for two wind projects that were
commissioned during 2018, one of them is located in Mexico and the other in Australia,
to the electric power generation facilities item for the combined amount of 399 million
euros. These projects were commissioned in July and September 2018, respectively.

This heading also includes transfers from intangible assets related to the expected rights
associated with the wind farms in Mexico and Australia for a total net amount of 17
million euros.

With regards to “Reductions” heading, the dismantling of the “El Cabrito” wind farm
located in Cadiz (Spain) should be mentioned. This project is currently being repowered
and hence the old wind turbines with a fully amortised cost of 37 million euros are
being replaced for more modern and efficient turbines. This heading also includes the
disposal of machinery related to works carried out in Ecuador and Dubai that were
almost fully amortised.

“Variations due to changes in scope of consolidation” includes the inclusion of land and
buildings, plant and PPE in progress from the services division, after acquiring control
over the Chilean company “Andes Airport Services, S.A.”, in addition to the acquisition
of the additional 50% of two wind farms in Spain “Valdivia Energia Eodlica, S.A.” and
“Eolico Alijar, S.A.” in the energy division (see Note 3).

In 2018, “Other changes” included mostly the effect of translation differences for the
period, for a positive amount of 22 million euros (negative 294 million euros in 2017),
which came mainly from the wind farms located in the United States, Chile and Mexico,
whose financial statements consolidate in US dollars. This currency appreciated against
the euro in 2018.

In 2017, the most significant change related to the reclassification of the
Trasmediterranea Subgroup and five solar plants located in Spain to “assets held for
sale” for the net carrying amount of 1,255 million euros.

“Variations due to changes in the scope of consolidation” in 2017 included the inclusion
within the construction division after acquiring control of the Australian construction
subgroup "Geotech Holding", and for acquiring the additional 50% of a wind power
g I . nCan:

The photovoltaic plant E1 Romero (Chile) and a wind farm in India started operation in
March and April 2017, respectively, for an approximate amount of 380 million euros.

The main “Additions” in financial year 2017 corresponded to the Trasmediterrdnea
Subroup’s acquisition of a vessel {(subgroup disposed of in 2018, refer to Note 3) for 54
million euros, investments in the energy division corresponding to projects in Mexico,
India, Chile and Australia for approximately 421 million euros, and investments in
machinery and other PPE to carry out construction projects in Canada, Ecuador, United
Arab Emirates and Norway.

No signs of impairment have been identifi
to the need to recognise any additional sig



At 31 December 2018, the amount registered for 2018 and for the previous years under
“impairments” amounted to 798 million euros (777 million euros in 2017). The
impairment amounts of the assets registered at 31 December 2018 mainly correspond to
the energy division, both in the international area and in respect of Spanish assets. In the
case of Spanish assets, it is due to the regulatory change that took place in 2012 and
2013 as explained in detail in note 2 relating the Spanish regulatory framework.

In 2018 the companies capitalised finance costs amounting to 6.9 million curos as
property, plant and equipment (4.2 million euros in 2017) (see Note 28).

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in use at 31 December 2018 and 2017
amounted to 465 and 455 million euros, respectively; most of these assets are currently
in use.

At 31 December 2018, the Group companies had property, plant and equipment
purchase commitments amounting to 233 million euros, mainly in the energy division,
for the wind projects currently under construction in Chile, Mexico, Australia, Ukraine
and the United States. The amount committed at 31 December 2017 came to 546
million euros.

The Group has insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its property, plant
and equipment are exposed, and the claims that might be filed against it in the
development of its business activities. These policies are considered to provide adequate
cover for the related risks.

At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment acquired under the finance lease system amounted to 51 million euros (44
million euros in 2017); most of this PPE related to machinery for the construction of a
dam in Canada.

At 31 December 2018, the net carrying amount for material assets used as guarantee for
finance debts associated with a specific project in the energy division was 1,967 million
euros (2,163 million euros in 2017).

The Group has mortgaged land and buildings coming to a net carrying amount of 22
million euros (18 million euros in 2017) to secure credit facilities granted to the Group
by banks.
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0.- Investment property

The Group’s investment property relates mainly to properties earmarked for lease.

The changes in 2018 and 2017 in the Group’s investment property were as follows:

Accumulated

Cost depreciation

and impairment Total
Incees
Additions 27947 (7.729) 20218
‘Lransters (48.814) 28.308 (20.506)
Balance at 31/12/2017 276.804 (H00.047Y 176787
Disnosals (82.341) 31878 {50 46%)

The most significant changes in financial year 2018 cormrespond to the sale of an office
building in Madrid with a net carrying amount of 39 million euros, as well as the sale of
various assets, mainly residential, located in Spain.

During 2017, the main additions corresponded to the acquisition of land in Madrid to be
used for offices, as well as the transfer of mostly land from property investments to
inventories due to their change in use for a gross amount of 48 million euros, and a net
impairment value of 20.5 million euros.

In addition, in 2017 the change in scope occurred through which Acciona Real Estate, a
company 100% owned by the Group, provided Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A. with a
package of rental assets by contributing its share in the companies Cia. Urbanizadora
del Coto, SL. and Valgrand 6, S.A.U., as well as 44 homes located in Lleida, in
exchange for newly issued shares of Testa representing 21.02% of the resulting capital
after the increase, and which involves net real estate assets of 336 million euros leaving
the scope (see Note 9).

At 31 December 2018, the fair market value of the assets recorded under this line item
estimated on the basis of the valuations made by independent appraisers (see note 4.2.
E) came to 156,522 thousand euros (196,944 thousand euros at 31 December 2017). The
reduction in value in 2018 if compared to 2017 was mainly due to the sale of the office
building in Madrid indicated above and to the sales of various assets, mostly residential,
with an appraised value of 44,846 thousand euros at 31 December 2017. If these
impacts were to be considered, the appraised value in 2017 if compared to 2018 would
amount to 152,098 thousand euros.

The rental income earned by the Group from investment property listed under this
heading at 31 December 2018, all of which was leased out under operating leases,
amounted to 11 million euros (20 million euros in 2017). Direct operating expenses
arising from investment property in the perind amnuntad tn A millinn anrac /O milling

euros in 2017), recognised under “Other C g

consolidated income statement.






At 31 December 2018, negative translation differences under this heading have been
registered amounting to approximately 7 million euros, mainly due to Australian dollar
exchange rate fluctaations.

In 2018, the update of the impairment tests for subgroups Geotech Holding, Acciona
Agua Subgroup, and Acciona Facility Services Subgroup, according to the method
described in note 3.2 E) did not show the need to record any impairment as the
recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount.

The growth rate employed by the Geotech Holding subgroup to extrapolate the cash
flow projections beyond the five-year period covered by the forecasts was 2%, and the
one used by the Agua and Services subgroups was 1.5%,

The WACC rates after tax that were applied were: 7.2% for the Geotech Holding
subgroup, 5.0% for the Agua subgroup, and 6.8% for the Services subgroup.

A sensitivity test was carried out for these subgroups, particularly in relation to the
operating margin, the discount rate and the perpetuity growth rate, in order to ensure
than possible changes in the estimation did not have an impact on the possible recovery
of the goodwill registered. The outcome of these sensitivity tests indicated that,
decreases of 75 basis points in the growth rate applied, increases in the discount rate of
up to 40 basis points and 150 basis point reductions in the net operating margin, these
assumptions being considered jointly, do not change the outcome of the impairment test,
that is, no impairment is shown on the goodwill registered.

The Acciona Group applies the acquisition method to account for any and all additions
to the Group that involve the acquisition of a controlling interest.

There were no further additions to the group in 2017 and 2018 that led to recognition of
goodwill different than those described above.
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The main “Additions” in the year correspond to the award of a concession to the Water
division in Boca del Rio, Mexico, related to the integral water cycle for approximately
26 million euros, as well as the acquisition of the expected rights associated with
projects under development in the energy division in Mexico and Ukraine for
approximately 27 million euros.

At 31 December 2018, the amount recorded under “Transfers” line mostly corresponded
to the reclassification made to current assets of the assets and liabilities related to the
concession business of the subsidiary ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de
Catalunya, S.A. as a result of the early termination of the concession contract (see Note
17).

“Transfers” also included the reclassification of expected rights associated with wind
farms that enter into operation in Mexico and Australia to “Property, plant and
equipment” for a net amount of 17 million euros (see Note 5).

During financial year 2017 the main “Additions” in this heading corresponded to the
investment undertaken by ATLL Concessiondria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A.,
and the Brazilian concession Rodovia Do Ago, as well as payment of the initial fee for a
water supply concession awarded in Mexico.

“Vanation due to changes in scope of consolidation” in 2017 included the acquisition
of 50% of the concessionaire company Autovia de los Vifiedos, S.A., through which its
entire equity was consolidated following the fully consolidated method, for a net
amount of 172 million euros. Also highlighted was the incorporation of intangible assets
from the Geotech Holding subgroup which was acquired in 2017.

“Transfers” in 2017 included the reclassification of operating rights acquired in relation
to the El Romero photovoltaic plant in Chile to “Property, plant and equipment” after
the plant was commissioned in March 2017, for a net carrying amount of 27 million
euros. Also highlighted was the transfer made to “Non-current assets held for sale” for a
net carrying amount of 21 million euros associated to the Trasmediterranea Subgroup.

In financial year 2018, “Other changes” includes the effect of translation differences in
the period for a negative amount of 11 million euros, mainly related to the net effect of
the depreciation of the Brazilian real and the appreciation of the US dollar (negative
amount of 33 million euros in 2017).
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Relevant events for financial year 2017 include the “change in scope” in the Acciona
Inmobiliaria subgroup of 21.02% of the share in Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A. after
the non-cash contribution of shares and assets that was carried out on 27 July 2017
which was initially valued at 336 million euros and which amounted to 335 million
curos at the end of 2017.

During financial year 2017, Acciona S.A. sold a group of concession companies to
Acciona Concesiones S.L., a company belonging to the Group and the effect of which
(neutral for the group) was reflected under "changes in scope and others".

With regards to the share in Nordex, SE, a company whose shares are traded on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the continued significant decline in the share price to below
the carrying amount experienced in 2017, together with the downward re-estimation of
the forecasts announced by the company in 2017, were considered as a sign of
impairment. Thus, the Acciona Group carried out an impairment test, the result of which
at 31 December 2017 indicated that the recoverable value amounted to 623 million
euros, which is why the Group registered an impairment of the investment value of 145
million euros to reach such an amount.

Given the importance of this investment and as the price of the subgroup has remained
below the net carrying amount, the Group considered that the impairment test should be
updated at 31 December 2018 by reviewing the main model hypotheses according to the
latest information published by Nordex and using information from specialised external
sources in the sector.

Some key indicators of the sector, as well as those of the company itself, have
experience recent improvements, such as for example the significant increase in the
volume of orders announced by the company during the presentation of the results
corresponding to 31 September 2018. While the test places the value in use at 596
million euros, somewhat above the carrying amount of the investment, it cannot be
ignored that the stock price continues to be at levels below the carrying amount, and the
sector continues to be immersed in a readjustment process caused by the transformation
of compensation schemes applied to renewable energy generation businesses which
some key markets have experienced. Therefore, the Group considers prudent to
continue its policy of continuously monitoring Nordex, SE waiting that these
improvements are consolidated in order for the impairment applied in 2017 to be
reversed. At 31 December 2018, the Group considers that such circumstances have not
occurred, and therefore it maintains the impairment applied.

The methodology used for calculating the value in use is described in note 3.2.E), i.e.,
through discounting the cash flows (WACC) at a rate which considers the risks inherent
to the company’s business as well as the different markets in which it operates. A cash
flow projection that covers a period of five years (2019-2023) has been calculated for
this discount operation along with a terminal value that represents the value of the future
cash flow from the sixth year and which has been determined based on a standard cash
flow estimate.

With regard to the growth of sales used for the standard period, which serves as a basis
to calculate the terminal value (“g” paramete= = 1 804 renorth hae haan egtimated,
despite the existence of growth prospects i1 perates that
support greater growth, among other rea sed for ...



replacement of conventional energies. However, given the uncertainty associated with
projections for such large periods, it has been considered that 1.5% is a reasonable
growth rate.

For the discounted cash flows, an after-tax WACC rate of 7.2% has been considered.

Also, in order to strengthen the consistency and reasonableness of the test, sensitivity
analyses have been performed on changes reasonably expected to occur in the main
hypotheses. Thus, a variation of +/- 50 basis points in the WACC would produce an
additional impact on calculated value in use of -60 and +60 million euros, and a
variation of +/- 50 basis points in the sales growth rate in the standard period (*g”)
would result in an additional impact on value in use of +45 and -45 million euros,

“Tax effect and other changes” reflects, in addition to the tax effect of the year’s result,
the vartations due to derivatives, translation differences and the effect of transfers to
non-current liabilities of values that turn out to be negative upon application of the
equity method.

At 31 December 2018, the heading “Tax effect and other changes” mainly includes a
negative amount of 13 million euros corresponding to the tax effect, and a negative
amount of 3 million euros due to the variation of derivatives.

The table below shows (in thousands of euros), in proportion to the share percentage in
the capital of each of the associates included under this heading, the assets, lhabilities,
ordinary revenue and profit or loss for 2018 (the figures related to associates with an
equity deficit, recognised on the liability side of the consolidated balance sheet, are
detailed in Note 17):

Assets

Current assets 622.477 218.643 6.703 847823
Liabilities

Non-current habilities 664.774 468.346 355 1.135.475

Total equity and liabilities 2,058,453 748.008 7.281 2.813.742

Net revenue 854.825 191.368 401 1.046.594

Profit/{Loss) before tax 15,806 30,309 (3,849) 42,266

At 31 December 2018, none of the associates are individually significant for the Group
except for Nordex, S.E., (29.9%); all the main key figures of this investment based on
the latest available information are detailed below.












to the fair value of a non-financing derivative engaged by a Chilean subsidiary within
the Energy Division to supply energy to a client as from 2017 at an inflacted fixed price
for 13.5 years.

“Non-current prepayments and accrued income™ includes the amount of 62,319
thousand euros (14,571 thousand euros at 31 December 2017) related to the initial value
of two energy contracts entered into in December 2015 and December 2018 by two
subsidiaries in the United States, to supply a specific amount of energy for a term of 13
years and 12 years, respectively.

“Concessions under the Non-Current Financial Asset Model” includes the balance
receivable to more than one year for concessions which, in accordance with IFRIC 12,
were treated as financial assets, since there was an unconditional collection right on the
investment made to date. The current portion of this unconditional collection right was
recognised under “Trade and Other Receivables™ based on the collections expected to
be made by the grantors of the concessions under the various economic and financial
plans. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balance reclassified to short term in the
“Concessions under the Current Financial Asset Model” under the heading “Trade and
Other Receivables” for the amount expected to be collected by the granting entities in
the next twelve months came to 12,852 and 14,573 thousand euros, respectively (see
Note 14).

The breakdown of “Concessions under the Non-Current Financial Asset Model” for the
infrastructure division was as follows:

Infrastructure concessions 109.871 112211

Total 110,969 112,592
The main concession projects included in the infrastructure concession business relate to
hospitals and motorways, and those in the water business relate to the integral water

cycle and are detailed in Appendix V. The breakdown of the balance of the main
concessions under the financial model at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

5.C. Hospital del Norte. 5. A. 77.185 79301

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group companies had no commitments to acquire
concession assets under the financial asset model in any significant amount.
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15. - Cash and cash equivalents

The detail of the balance at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

Cash 1.352.330 909.851
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,717,405 1,272,781

This heading included mainly the Group’s cash, bank deposits and risk-free deposits
with initial maturity of three months or less,

In 2018 and 2017 the cash and cash equivalent balances earned interest at market rates.

16.- Equity

a) Subscribed and registered share capital

The Parent Company’s share capital is represented by 57,259,550 fully paid-up ordinary
shares with a face value of 1 euro each, represented by book entries. All the Parent
Company’s shares carry the same rights, are listed and there are no restrictions as to
their transferability under the Articles of Association.

The table below shows, based on the notices received by the company, the owners of
significant direct and indirect equity interests at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

lussen de Grachten. B.V. 21.80% 27 R00%

La Verdosa, 5.L. 5.54% --

(*) On 26 January 2018, the family Group of Mr. José Maria Entrecanales de Azcarate
heirs informed of the internal reorganisation carried out in the investment company that
centralises Acciona, S.A. shares, under which La Verdosa, S.L became a direct holder
of 5.31% of Acciona, S.A. After this reorganisation, the investment company Wit
Europesse Investering, B.V. Holds 25.01% of Acciona, S.A.

b) Share premium, reserves and translation differences

The balance of the “Share Premiumn™ account, which at 31 December 2018 and 2017
amounted to 170,110 thousands of million euros, arose as a result of the capital
increases with share premiums carried out on different dates. The consolidated text of
the Capital Companies Act expressly permits the use of the share premium account
balance to increase capital and does not establish any specific restrictions as to the use
of said balance.






S.A. cancelled said liquidity contract and on the same date, the Company signed a new
liquidity contract with the terms detailed in Circular 1/2017 of the Spanish National
Securities Market Commission (CNMV) for the purposes of their acceptance as a
market practice. The cash accounts and securities accounts that were associated with the
cancelled liquidity contract and amounted to 44,328 shares and 3,539,114.85 euros were
used to allocate cash and securities to the new liquidity contract, adjusting the amount in
cash to the trading value of the shares assigned to the new contract, in accordance with
the limits established in the new CNMYV circular, which have been set at 44,328 shares
and 3,539,114.85 euros.

On 27 March 2018, Acciona S.A.’s Board of Directors established a time-scheduled
share buy-back programme as approved by the sharcholders at the Annual General
Meeting held on 18 May 2017, under point six of the agenda (the “Buy-back
programme”), and according to articles 2.2 and 2.3 of Delegated Regulation (EU)
2016/1052 of 8 March 2016, which complements Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 on
market abuse with regards to technical regulation standards relating to the conditions
applicable to buy-back programmes and stabilisation measures, and therefore the
liquidity contract was temporarily suspended.

As noted above, the Company’s Board of Directors agreed to carry out a time-scheduled
buy-back programme up to a maximum of 2,862,978 shares, representing 5% of the
share capital, and a monetary amount of a maximum of 233,332,707 euros. The purpose
of this time-scheduled buy-back programme over its own shares is mainly the reduction
in capital through the amortisation of shares, and to a lesser extent, to comply with
Acciona, S.A.’s obligations with the Share Delivery Plan for directors and executives.

Subsequently, on 25 September 2018 the liquidity contract was reactivated by
suspending the time-scheduled buy-back programme. On 16 October 2018, the liquidity
contract was suspended again for 13 days during which the buy-back programme was
operational again, and on 29 October 2018 the liquidity contract was reinstated and the
buy-back programme was definitively suspended in 2018.

Throughout financial year 2018, the positive result derived from operations with own
shares under the liquidity contract has been recorded under the “reserves” heading for
an amount of 427 thousand euros.

With regards to the remaining movements carried out with own shares in 2018 were as
follows:

- 2,817,395 shares were acquired under the buy-back programme over own shares,
equating to 4.92% of the share capital with a cost of 193,207 thousand euros.

- 150,000 shares for a value of 9,865 thousand euros were acquired and 119,418
shares were retired under the Share Delivery Plan and the Variable
Remuneration Replacement Plan for Company directors, recording a loss of 231
thousand euros in reserves.

- On 20 December 2018, and under the Performance Shares Plan, 8,675 shares
were given to Executive Directors of the Company, which led to a profit being
recorded in reserves amountingto 77 )



The main movement in 2017 corresponded to the conversions associated with the early
amortisation of the Convertible Bond, which resulted in a reduction of 279,965 shares
with a loss reflected in the reserves heading amounting to 2,484 thousand euros. To
carry out this operation, the liquidity contract was temporarily suspended on 3 May
2017 and 221,357 shares at 74.85 euros each were acquired on the market.

In the previous financial year, two block purchases were carried out on 18 December
2017 comprising a total package of 90,000 Acciona, S.A. treasury shares, representing
0.157% of the share capital at a price of 70.78 euros per share.

The remaining shares retired in 2017 mainly related to the shares delivered to the
Group’s management. This delivery took place under the Share Delivery Plan and the
variable remuneration Replacement Plan (see Note 34). The profit reflected in
“reserves” for these operations was 1,275 thousand euros.

d) Reserves in consolidated companies and translation differences

The detail, by business line, of the consolidation reserves contributed by subsidiaries
(that includes change in value adjustments), joint ventures and associates and of the
related translation differences at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows (in
thousand euros):

Reserves

Line of Consolidated Translation Reserves Translation
business P Differences  Censolidated  Differences
Infrastructures (370,349) (163,754) 74,356 (182,389)

Lonsolidation
adinctments

(34,721) - (37,738)

{*) The consolidated reserves decrease after the impact of the first application of IFRS 15 and 9 at }
January 2018 by a negative amount of 499 million euros (See note 4.1).

In addition to the Parent Company, at 31 December 2018, the Group company
Mostostal Warszawa, S.A. was a listed company. The average market price of this
company in the last quarter was PLN 2.29 and the market price at year-end was PLN
2.08. The associate Nordex SE is also a listed company. Its average market price in the
last quarter was EUR 8.255 and the market price at year-end was EUR 7.586.

e) Value adjustments

* Financial assets at fair value with changes in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

This heading under “Retained Earnings™ on the consolidated balance sheet includes the
amount, net of the related tax effect, of « T i ' =d at
fair value with changes in the consolidate [















Certain Group companies have clauses in their financing contracts that have to be met in
order for profit to be distributed to the shareholders. Specifically, the clauses stipulate
the maintenance of a senior debt coverage ratio in financing contracts.

17.- Provisions and litigation

The movement in the “Non-current provisions” heading on the liability side of the
consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

Opening balance 528.607 497.472
Removals 5141 (74.587)
Other chanees (13 ROSY 4.644

The main changes in financial year 2018 related to the increase in provisions for
dismantling operations, both due to the update in estimates and due to international
wind farms being commissioned which carry this provision, as well as the allocation to
the repairs provision. With regards to “removals”, the decrease of 34 million euros
should be noted (20 million euros transferred to current accounts), after the agreement
reached in the contentious procedure that the Group had for the Plaza project, as
described later on. “Transfers” mainly correspond to repair provisions and so-called
drought provisions of the subsidiary ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de
Catalunya, S.A. amounting to 49 million euros at 31 December 2018 and transferred to
a current account as described below. The movement in “Other changes”™ corresponds to
scope changes, translation differences, and to the cancellation of the provision for
constructive obligations associated with Infraestructuras y Radiales, S.A. as explained
in section a) of this note.

The Acciona Group operates in different businesses and in a great number of countries
with very specific industry regulations. In the normal course of its business, the Group
is exposed to litigation related to these business activities, including most notably: tax
claims, claims related to defects in construction projects performed and claims related to
differences regarding services rendered. Part of these risks are covered by insurance
policies (third-party liability, construction defects, etc.) and for the other risks
identified, the required provisions are recognised. The nature and amount of the main
provisions are detailed below.

a) Constructive obligations: Provisions are recognised for the constructive obligations of
subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method when the Group’s investments in
associates have been reduced to zero. At 31 December 2018, the provision in this
connection amounted to 36 million euros (59 million euros at 31 December 2017). The
table below shows the detail, by division and in proportion to the Group’s share
percentage in the capital of each, of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit/(loss) for
2018 of the associates for which a provisior -




Assets

Current assets 11,062 50,708 - 61,770

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities 26.335 236.079 -- 262414
Total equity and Labilities 30.616 269.398 - 300.014
Net revenue 3.645 53.570 - 57.215
Profil/(Loss) betore tax 469 (1,257 - (6,788)

This heading includes a provision in the amount of 3 million euros for Sociedad
Concesionaria Puente del Ebro, S.A., which was declared to be under voluntary
creditors’ meeting proceedings on 4 November 2014 at Commercial Court no. 2 in
Zaragoza. The creditors’ agreement was not approved and hence on 9 November 2017
the company entered into liquidation phase. From an administrative point of view, the
Aragon Regional Government (DGA) initiated a process to terminate the concession
contract on 22 January 2018, providing a period of six months as set out in article 266
of RD 2/2000 which approves the Consolidated Text of the Public Administrations
Contract Law. On 27 February 2018, the DGA suspended this period, as according to
the administrative specifications document, the state liability of the administration
should be calculated by an independent expert appointed by the parties. The contract
termination period is still suspended.

The associate companies Infraestructuras y Radiales, S.A. and Henarsa, S.A. from the
Infrastructure division were declared to be under voluntary creditors’ meeting
proceedings on 5 September 2013 at Commercial Court no. 10 in Madrid. The creditors’
meeting took place in September 2017 and as sufficient creditors did not adhere to the
proposed agreement, on 18 October 2017 the companies entered into liquidation phase,
and the liquidation rulings were approved in February 2018. Finally, in July 2018 the
termination of the concession contract was published, and the entity Sociedad Estatal de
Infraestructuras del Transporte Terrestre, S.A. (SEITTSA) took over the operations. At
that time, the Acciona Group cancelled the provision of 29 million euros for
constructive obligations against the load granted to the Company for the same amount
which had been recorded under “other non-current bank loans” (see Note 11).

b) Levies, taxes and local charges: these relate to provisions for regional, state or
international levies, taxes and local charges arising from construction work and
infrastructure development and taxes in general which, in view of the varying
interpretations that can be made of the tax legislation, could give rise to contingent tax
liabilities in the various countries in which the Acciona Group operates. The provision
in this connection, at 31 December 2018, amounted to 41 million euros (42 million
euros at 31 December 2017).

¢) So-called “drought” provision: was ATLL
Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalu trac  in




order to deal with possible drought periods. At 31 December 2018, as discussed in this
note, the Group has reclassified all the assets and liabilities related to the concession
activity to a current asset account as a result of the early termination of the concession
contract. The accumulated balance for this provision at 31 December 2017 came to 30
million euros.

d) Repairs: these relate to provisions in connection to repairs agreed with the awarding
entity in concessions from the Infrastructure division. Each year they are systematically
endowed by a charge against the operating profit/(loss). The provision in this
connection, at 31 December 2018, amounted to 39 million euros (69 million euros at 31
December 2017). The decrease in 2018 is due to the sale of the concession company
“Acciona Concessoes Rodovia do Ago, S.A.” which had recorded a provision for
repairs at 31 December 2017 of 5 million euros, and due to the reduction of 24 million
euros provided by the company ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya,
S.A. at 31 December 2017 which has been reclassified to a current asset account, as
noted in section c¢) above.

e) Pensions and similar: these relate to provisions for pensions and similar obligations
arising mainly from the acquisition of assets from Endesa in 2009, which are detailed
and quantified below. The provision in this connection, at 31 December 2018, amounted
to 11 million euros (10 million euros at 31 December 2017).

f) Burdensome contracts: these relate to contracts for works and provision of services
that represent a burden and lead to losses. The Group charges a provision against the
income statement for losses expected from these contracts at the moment when it
determines that the contract’s costs which cannot be avoided in order to comply with the
contract are likely to exceed the revenue therefrom. The provision in this connection, at
31 December 2018, amounted to 54 million euros (54 million euros at 31 December
2017).

g) Dismantling: these relate mainly to provisions stemming from the electricity
generation facilities in the Energy division international area, after the Group
concluded, upon analysis of the particulanties of these contracts, that there is an
obligation to dismantle said facilities. The provisicon in this connection, at 31 December
2018, amounted to 105 million euros (85 miilion euros at 31 December 2017).

h) Litigation: these related to provisions for lawsuits under way as a number of claims
have been brought against the Group in various jurisdictions for various reasons. At 31
December 2018, the Group maintained provisions amounting to 126 million euros (168
million euros at 31 December 2017), of which 87 and 39 million euros corresponded to
the energy and infrastructure divisions respectively.

As regards these cases, it is hard to predict how they will turn out, although, with the
exception noted in the following paragraph, the Group’s Directors are of the opinion
that there will be no short-term outflow of economic profits due to the status of these
court cases at the present time.

The best estimates of the risks and uncertainty inevitably surrounding most of the events
and circumstances affecting these cases have been taken into account to record of these
provisions. The measurement of this uncertaintv has been done. with nrudence, ---
understood as the inclusion of a certain deg 'y



assessments, but safeguarding in all cases the true and fair view of the financial
statements.

The Group’s Management considers that no significant additional liabilities will occur
that are not provisioned in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2018.
With regards to the the claim against Logistics Platform of Zaragoza (Plaza), an
agreement was reached on 9 December 2018 between the defence, prosecutors and
private prosecution, exempting all natural persons from any criminal liability. In terms
of civil liability, the Group subsidiary Acciona Construccion, S.A., as a Joint Venture
partner, has reached an agreement whereby it disbursed 15 million euros at the end of
financial year 2018; after contractual compensations, another 20 million euros are still
pending payment, and will be payable in April 2019. The remaining payable amounts
will be resolved through a technical arbitration process with no criminal liability
involved. The Acciona Group considers that this arbitration will have no adverse
economic effect.

The Group, through one of its Australian subsidiaries, holds a contract for the design,
construction and start-up of a tram route in the city centre of Sydney (Australia)
together with its partner Alstom, in the context of a public-private partnership (PPP)
agreement through the concessionaire Altrac Light Rail Partnership (of which the Group
holds 5% of the share capital), whose final customer is Transport for New South Wales
(TINSW).

As a consequence of the multiple changes and scope changes produced during the
execution of the contract and based on the different technical and legal reports from
external advisers, the Group, through its subsidiary, filed claims with grounds on the
contractual clauses. In addition, the subsidiary filed claims before the Supreme Court of
New South Wales against TENSW in 2018.

In parallel, the different parties involved reached an agreement to resolve some pending
contractual disputes through a facilitation process, which is still ongoing.

In any case, the Group continues to strictly comply with the obligations under the
contract, delivering the work according to the required technical and safety standards.

At the date these consolidated annual financial statements were prepared, all
negotiation processes are still in effect, subject to a confidentiality commitment between
the parties. The Group’s Management expects these to be resolved in 2019 without
expecting negative impacts on equity.

With regards to the court proceedings related to ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat
de Catalunya, S.A., on 22 June 2015 the High Court of Justice of Catalonia (hereinafeter
HCIC) issued judgement allowing in part the appeal for judicial review of the
administrative decision lodged by the concession company ATLL Concesiondria de la
Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. and Acciona Agua, S.A., overruling the resolution dated
2 January 2013 from the Contractual Resources Administrative Body of Catalonia in
relation to exclusion of the bid made by the Acciona led consortium. The Court,
however, considered that there were defects in the tender procedure that are not
attributable to the bidders, which lead to the contracting procedure being rendered void
as a whole because the bidders did not he=~ &1 Tenwvdndon ~fidln nonnt cnnen ~ 841~
requirements related to the works schedul



lodged at the Supreme Court, and dismissed in February and March. This judgement
dismisses the claims brought forward by the Generalitat and confirms the HCJC ruling.

Subsequently, the Council of Terntory and Sustainability has notified ATLL. CGC
through a ruling issued on 4 June, where according to the substantial meaning of such
court decisions and in application of the provisions of section 35.1 of the Consolidated
Text of the Public Contract Law, the concession contract has been cancelled and is
currently in liquidation phase. The ruling has been appealed by ATLL CGC via
administrative and judicial channels.

The aforementioned ruling of 4 June 2018 calls upon the liquidation process of the
contract to begin, which is delegated to a Committee. The Committee was created
through a Government Resolution issued on 17 July 2018, a contentious appeal to
which has been lodged before the HCIC by ATLIL CGC on 27 November 2018; the
appeal has been admitted for processing and given the procedure number 332/2018.
This appeal has requested for the suspension of the agreement and the immediate
cessation of the Committee’s activity as a precautionary measure.

Decree-Law 4/2018 of 17 July was published in the Official Gazette of the Government
of Catalomia on 19 July 2018, by which the direct management of the water supply
service to populations through facilities of the Ter-Llobregat water supply network
owned by the Generalitat de Catalunya is undertaken, and the entity Ens d'Abastament
d'Aigua Ter-Llobregat is created; this Decree-Law was validated by the Permanent
Parliamentary Council (Diputacié Permanent del Parlament ) in the session held on 1
August 2018. This Decree-Law includes the provision for 1 January 2019 to be the
deadline on which the new public entity shall start operations, albeit subject to
compliance with certain milestones. Likewise, it is established that within the period
between the entry into force of the Decree-Law and when Ens d’Abastament d’ Aigua
Ter-Llobregat starts operations, ATLL CGC shall continue to provide the service under
the terms and conditions provided in the contract dated 27 December 2012. With
regards to the fee applicable to the service, it is temporarily prescribed that from 1
January 2018 and until the new rate to be applied by the Water Supply Agency is
approved, the amount shall be that established for financial year 2017.

Furthermore, as noted in paragraphs above, ATLL CGC filed an appeal for
administrative reinstatement against the ruling issued on 4 June 2018 by the Council,
which was not admitted through the ruling dated 20 July 2018, whereby it was advised
that any discrepancy was to be considered in the relevant incident, in executing the
ruling thereto, before the Administrative Chamber of the HCIC. ATLL CGC filed a
contentious-administrative appeal against this ruling on the appeal for reinstatement
before the HCJC on 22 October 2018, which is ongoing and has procedure number
276/2018.

Likewise, on 5 September 2018, ATLL CGC filed an incidental complaint for
enforcement of the judgement obtained by procedure No. 14/2013 followed before the
HCJC by the Generalitat against the OARCC ruling issued on 2 January 2013. This
incident has been dismissed by Order issued on 19 November 2018, and ATLL CGC
filed an appeal for reconsideration against this order. It is important to point out that in
this Order, the Court affirms that according to the operative provisions of the ruling, the
contract awarding agreement resulted in a cause of voidability attributable to the
Administration in contrast to the nullity a< intended hv tha Adminictratinn which would
have supposed that the contract had nev tract



this fact confirms the voidability of the contract award and, therefore, the contract enters
into the liquidation phase, with the effects provided for in the Public Sector Contract
Law, in the contract itself, and in the interpretive ruling of 5 July 2013 issued by the
Council of Territory and Sustainability, and the Minister of Economy and Knowledge.
In this sense, the contract includes a contractual clause, 9.12, which refers to early
termination of the concession contract. This clause establishes that if the concession
contract is terminated before the ordinary contract termination date, regardless of the
grounds for termination, the Administration should pay the concession company
compensation that will cover:

“(a) the unamortised portion of the total concession fee. This amortisation is
calculated according to what is established in this clause 9.12 of the contract in
conformity with clause 22 of the Administrative Specifications Document,

{b) the unamortised portion of the works, installations and other investments, in
PPE and intangible assets, carried out by the concessionaire up to date; and,

(c) related additional costs.”

Additionally, this clause contains the following in relation to the amount to be paid by
the Concessionaire to the Administration: “The Concessionaire, in turn, must pay the
Administration any balance pending for payment on the date of the deferred fee
resolution (including principal and interest), without prejudice to any compensation that
must be paid in the event of non-performance attributable to the concessionaire. The
financial expenses accrued by the deferred fee and not yet incorporated into the rate
based on the review criteria under section 22.1 of the Tender Specifications, shall not be
included in the pending balance in favour of the granting administration.”

Likewise, in the event that certain assumptions included in article 286 of the Public
Sector Contract Law are considered to be fulfilled, section 55 of the Tender
Specifications provides a calculation method for the compensation that the
Administration must pay to the concessionaire. In this sense, section 55.2.d) of the
Tender Specifications provides that the Administration will indemnify the
concessionaire for any damages and losses incurred, including the future profit that the
latter ceases to receive for any years remaining to be completed under the contract.

Based on expert reports carried out by independent experts, the Group has estimated
that the amount resulting from clause 9.12 amounts to 305,328 thousand euros,
notwithstanding the amount of the compensation for damages caused, corresponding to
unrealised profits that would be expected during the normal development of the
concessionaire activity until the end of the contract period, and which according to
clause 55 of the Tender Specifications amount to 769,535 thousand euros.

As part of the Administration’s actions aimed at starting the operation of the Ens
d’ Abastament d’ Aigua, communication from the Council of Territory and Sustainability
was received on 21 December 2018, according to which the 31 December 2018 was the
last day that the service was provided by ATLL CGC, and ATLL CGC was required to
facilitate the corresponding transfer of operations to Ens d’Abastament d’Aigua Ter-
Llobregat. Likewise, a request was received from the Director General of State Assets
of the Generalitat de Catalunya on 21 December 2018, in order for the possession and
occupation of the assets listed in the Annex to Decree-Law 4/2018 shall cease, taking
effect on 31 December 2018, and such aseete chall he evicted and nncepecinn retirned to
the Generalitat de Catalunya. Admini: blds



actions and followed by the HCJC Administrative Chamber under number 359/18 (fifth
section) and 739/2018 (second section), respectively. In these procedures ATLL CGC
has requested the precautionary suspension of the effects thereto.

As a continuation of the requirement to evict and return possession of the assets, on 16
January 2019 ATL.L CGC submitted, within the term granted, allegations requiring the
procedure to be terminated insofar as ATLL CGC was not legally or contractually
obliged to return the facilities and cease to effectively provide the service, until the
corresponding compensation from the Generalitat has been paid.

Since confirmation of the invalidity of the contract by Supreme Court Order issued on
19 November 2018, the Administration has submitted different proposals to liquidate
the concession, based on the synthesis of the contract incurring in a cause of radical or
full nullity and, therefore, was never able to produce effects and accordingly, the
doctrine issued by the Supreme Court does not apply, and there is a breach of the terms
and conditions included in section 9.12. of the contract, and hence such proposals have
not been accepted by the Company; the Company has continued to provide the water
supply service until a ruling in accordance with the agreed conditions is issued, or,
where appropriate, the administrative appeals are finally resolved confirming the
eviction and return of the concession assets to the Generalitat de Catalunya,

On 6 and 12 February 2019, the appeals filed in response to the concession asset
eviction and return requirements for the assets under the Company’s control and
allowing the service to be provided were rejected by the HCJC. Therefore, the Group
has submitted a written request to the Generalitat on 13 February 2019 to formalise the
delivery of the assets subject to the provision of the service, and to continue as promptly
and efficiently as possible, with the contract liquidation procedure, all in accordance
with the terms and conditions included therein. However, as established in Article 56 of
the Tender Specifications and the joint decision of the Regional Departments of
Economy & Knowledge and Territory and Sustainability of the Generalitat de
Catalunya, the Group shall continue to provide the concession services until the
compensation set out in the Tender Specifications and in the Consolidated Text of the
Public Contract Law is paid and until the minutes in relation to the return of the assets
and rights linked to the public service are signed. On the assumption that the Group
ceases to provide the service, without receiving the corresponding compensation, all
appropriate legal and administrative procedures will be initiated, to claim the relevant
contractual amount corresponding to the liquidation of such concession from the
Generalitat.

Therefore, in light of the uncertainties related to the existing conditions in respect to the
Administration’s position, and under the firm premise by the Group based on
independent experts’ reports that it is remote that the Company’s assets may be subject
to any damage whatsoever, it is then considered appropriate to record an entry under the
current assets heading (included under “Other Current Assets” in the consolidated
balance sheet), based on the expected liquidation in the short term, corresponding to the
net amount of the concession assets and liabilities in individual books.



Provisions for pensions and similar oblications

The “Non-current provisions”™ section on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
includes provisions for pensions and similar obligations mainiy due to the acquisition of
assets and/or companies from the Endesa Group in 2009.

The group of employees considered in 2018 for measurement was 87 employees (92 at
the close of 2017), 22 of whom have already taken early retirement or are retired (23 at
the close of 2017). Not all of them are in the same situation and under the same
commitment. The main characteristics of the plans assumed are the following:

1) Defined benefit pension plan with salary increase rate tied to the increase in the
CPLI. This plan is treated in exactly the same way as a defined benefit system.
The assumptions used in calculating the actuarial liability in respect of the
uninsured defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as
follows:

Interest rate 1.91% 1.72%

bxpecied rate of retum on plan
assets

1.89% 1.70%

Information is provided below on the changes in the actuarial liabilities for the
defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Cost incurred 1n the year 109 112
Benetits paid in the year -- (190
Final actuarial liability 3,336 4,064

Information is provided below on the changes in the actuarial assets for the
defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Retum recoenised in the vear 46 43

Actuarial gains and losses (904} (155
At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the total amount of the final actuarial assets and
liabilities related in full to defined benefit obligations in Spain.
At 2018 year-end, the amount recognised in the consolidated income statement

for defined benefit pension obligations amounted to 134 thousand euros (146
thousand euros in 2017) and rn]a'h:ar] tn thoa rnct incnrrad Anisine tha vrane and +k3



iii)

return and finance cost of the assets and liabilities associated with these
employee welfare benefits.

Obligations to provide certain employee welfare benefits during the retirement
period, relating mainly to electricity supplies. These obligations were not
externalised and are covered by the related in-house provisions totalling 3,223
thousand euros (2,981 thousand euros at 31 December 2017).

The actuarial changes recognised, arising in this connection, amounted to a
profit of 228 thousand euros in financial year 2018 (profit of 331 thousand euros
in 2017).

Commitment undertaken by the company to supplement the public social
security system benefits in the event of termination of the employment
relationship as a result of an agreement between the parties.

The movement in the provision for these obligations, recognised under the
“Provisions” heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in 2018
and 2017, was as follows:

Additions and ailocations 44
Balance at 31/12/2017 215
Removals (146}

These liabilities related in full to the collective redundancy procedures signed by
Group companies in Spain.

The Plan affects employees with at least 10 years of acknowledged seniority.
Employees aged 50 or more at 31 December 2005 were entitled to adhere to a
pre-retirement plan at the age of 60, of which they could avail themselves
between the ages of 50 and 60, upon the mutual agreement between the
employee and the company concemmed. For the Plan to apply to employees
younger than 50 at 31 December 2005, a written request from the employee and
the acceptance thereof by the Group were required.

The conditions applicable to employees under 50 years of age affected by the
Voluntary Redundancy Plan consisted in a termination benefit of 45 days’ salary
per year of service plus an additional amount of 1 or 2 months’ salary based on
the employee’s age at 31 December 2005.

The impact of these plans on the consolidated income statement is not material.



18. - Financial debt

a) Bank borrowings

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, detail of recourse and non-recourse borrowings, it
being understood that non-recourse is the debt with no corporate guarantees, whose
recourse is limited to the debtor’s flows and assets, was as follows (in thousand euros):

Current Non-current Current Non-current
Mortgage loans tor non-current asset financing 8.563 6.706 13.127 11.206
FProiect finance 262279 990.471 149990 1.407316
Uther hmited recourse debt - -- 1.252
Discounted notes and bills not yet due 25 - 522
1'otal bank borrowings 4,838 3,673,960 331,142 4,406,936

All financial liabilities in this note correspond to financial instruments measured at
amortised cost, except for the financial derivatives that are detailed in note 20 and are
measured at fair value.

In 2018 and 2017, the Group’s loans and credit facilities accrued interest mainly tied to
Euribor for those financed in euros, although a portion of the Group’s borrowings were
also tied to other indices such as Libor for borrowings in US dollars, the CDOR for
borrowings in Canadian dollars, the TIIE for financing in Mexican pesos, the WIBOR
for financing in Polish zloty, the BBSY for financing in Australian dollars and the
JIBAR for financing in South African rands; these are the main indices for the Group
outside the euro zone. A significant portion of the Group’s borrowings is hedged by
financial derivatives which seek to reduce the volatility in the interest rates paid by the
Acciona Group (see Note 20).

Through subsidiaries or associates, the Acciona Group undertakes investments mainly
in transport infrastructure, energy, water supply and hospitals, and these are then
operated by subsidiaries, joint operations and associates and funded through “Project
finance” (financing applied to projects).

These finance structures are applied to projects capable of providing by themselves
sufficient support for the participating financial entities as to the repayment of the
borrowings taken out to implement them. Thus, each one is normally executed through
special purpose vehicles in which the project’s assets are financed on the one hand by a
contribution of funds by the project’s sponsors, limited to a certain predefined amount,
and, on the other hand, generally a larger sum through third-party funds in the form of
long-term borrowing. The debt service on these loans or credits is fundamentally backed
by the cash flows to be generated in future by the project itself, as well as by in rem
guarantees over the project’s assets and credit richte



In financial year 2018, the decrease that occur under the line "current and non-current
project finance" mainly correspond to the amortisation of this type of loan, the exchange
differences of the period, mainly those from the projects done in South African rand,
and the cancellation of 113 million euros of bank debt in two wind projects in Spain
which are now financed through recourse debt.

Acciona Financiacion Filiales, S.A. arranged a syndicated loan last April 2018 for 1,300
million euros, classified under the “other bank loans and credit facilities” heading, with
due date to 5 years and accruing a market interest rate. Several bilateral loans maturing
in 2018-2020 and part of the previous syndicated loan are cancelled through this
operation, and the average life of the debt is extended. These debt cancellations have a
related financial expense of 14 million euros from transferring the arrangement fees and
other pending costs incurred to the consolidated income statement. In addition, Acciona
Financiacidn Filiales, S.A. arranged a credit facility to dispose of 100 million euros with
the European Investment Bank, which matures in 2024, It had been drawn down in its
entirety at 2018 year-end. The purpose of this credit is to invest in research,
development and innovation projects in water treatment, renwable energy and
infrastructure sectors, as well as for certain cross-cutting investments in digitalisation
and other technologies.

As indicated in Note 4.2 I), the adoption of IFRS 13 requires an adjustment in the
measurement techniques applied by the Acciona Group to obtain the fair value of its
derivatives in order to incorporate the bilateral credit risk adjustment so as to reflect
both own risk and counterparty risk in the fair value of the derivatives.

At 31 December 2018, the adjustment of credit risk represented a lower valuation of
liability derivatives in the amount of 4,664 thousand euros, recognised on the one hand
as a smaller debt with credit entities in the amount of 2,630 thousand euros by
subsidiaries and, on the other hand, as a higher value of the investment using the equity
method in the amount of 1,526 thousand euros, without considering the tax effect, by
the companies consolidated in accordance with this method. The effect, net of external
and after-tax effects, that this modification had on the heading “Adjustments in equity
for valuation of cash flow hedges” was positive in the amount of 3,165 thousand euros.

At 31 December 2018, the Group companies had been granted additional financing of
2,170,368 thousand euros that had not been drawn down, relating to credit lines to
finance working capital.

The Group’s Management is of the opinion that the amount of these credit lines and the
ordinary generation of cash, together with the realisation of current assets, will
sufficiently cover the short-term payment obligations.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, neither Acciona, S.A. nor any of its significant
subsidiaries were in breach of any of their financial obligations or any other obligations
in such a way as might lead to early maturity of their financial obligations. Similarly, no
default is expected for 2019,

In addition, in 2018 and 2017 there were no defaults or any other non-payments of
principal, interest or repayments in resp o :









Stock Exchange), notes are issued on the euro market with maturities between 15 and
364 days. In 2018, promissory notes were issued and amortised for 1,204 and 908
million euros, respectively, and the outstanding balance stood at 677 million euros at 31
December 2018.

- Issue by Acciona, S.A. in April 2014 of simple bearer debentures through a private
placement, in the amount of 62.7 million euros and maturing in 2024, The face value of
cach debenture is 100,000 euros and they accrue interest at 5.55% per annum with an
annual coupon. At 31 December 2018, the balances recorded for these simple
debentures on the accounts for non-current and current bonds and debentures, net of the
transaction costs and considering the interest accrued, amounted to 61.9 and 2.4 million
euros, respectively.

- On 12 April 2018, Acciona Financiacién Filiales, S.A. renewed, with the guarantee of
Acciona, S.A., under the same terms and conditions as the previous one issued by
Acciona, S.A., a fixed-interest securities issue programme - Euro Medium Term Note
Programme (EMNT) for a maximum amount of up to 2,000 million euros. In relation to
this programme, the Group prepared a base leaflet that was approved by the Central
Bank of Ireland. These issues accrue annual interest ranging from 0.125% to 4.625%.
The securities issued under this programme may: accrue fixed or variable interest, be
issued in euros or in another currency and at par, below par and premium and have
different maturity dates for the principal and the interest. At 31 December 2018, the
balances registered against this EMNT programme in the non-current and current
debentures and bonds accounts, net of transactions costs and considering interest
accrued, amounted to 444 and 241 million euros, respectively. The fair value of the
bonds at the end of the financial year amounts to 766 million euros,

- With regards to Autovia de los Vifiedos, S.A., a bond issue took place on 28 October
2004 in the amount of 64.100 thousand euros and accrues interest at 4.79% per annum
payable on 15 December each year throughout the life of the issue. The bonds started to
be redeemed on 15 December 2009 and their total amortisation is scheduled for 15
December 2027. However, as noted above, after all these obligations were acquired by
the Group subsidiary Acciona Financiacion Filiales, S.A. in 2018, the issue has been
cancelled in its entirety.

At 31 December 2018, there were no issues convertible into shares, or issues granting
rights or privileges that might, in the event of a contingency, make them convertible into
shares of the Parent Company or of any of the Group companies.

In addition, three of the companies in the Acciona Group consolidated using the equity
method have debentures and bonds issued with the following characteristics:

- Private issue of bonds with a credit rating of “A™ given by the Standard & Poors
rating agency by the Canadian company Chinook Roads Partnership in the amount
of 108,882 thousand euros attributed as part of the funding needed to undertake the
construction, operation and maintenance project for the Southeast Stoney Trail
motorway in the city of Calgary (Canada). This issue took place on 31 March 2010
and accrues interest of 7.134% per annum payable monthly on the last working day
of each month during the construction phase and quarterly during the operation
phase. Debt amortisation began on 31 Deremher 2013 and will cantinie with
quarterly cancellations until its tota] amortis






Change in value of derivatives (10,990)

Translation differences and other {32,081)

19.- Risk management policy

Due to its geographical and business diversification, the Acciona Group is exposed to
certain risks, which are managed appropriately through the application of a Risk
Management System. This System is designed to identify potential events that might
affect the organisation; to manage its risks through the establishment of internal
treatment and control procedures that ensure the probability of occurrence and impact of
these events are kept within the established tolerance levels; and to provide reasonable
assurance in relation to the achievement of strategic business objectives.

This policy seeks to integrate risk management into Acciona’s strategy and to establish
the framework and principles of the Risk Management System.

This policy covers all the risks associated with the activities carried on by Acciona’s
business lines throughout the geographical areas in which it carries on its activity.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate fluctuations change the future flows of assets and liabilities that bear
floating-rate interest.

This interest rate fluctuation nisk is particularly material with regard to the funding of
infrastructure projects, in concession contracts, in the construction of wind farms or
solar plants and other projects where the variation in interest rates may have a strong
impact on their profitability. This risk is mitigated by hedging transactions through the
engagement of derivatives (mainly interest rate swaps, IRS).

Hedging transactions are carried out that mitigate these risks as a function of the
Acciona Group’s projections of the trend in interest rates and of debt structure targets.
The level of debt hedged in each project depends on the type of project in question and
the country in which the investment is made.

The benchmark interest rate for the borrowings arranged by the Acciona Group
companies is mainly FEuribor for transactions denominated in euros, Libor for
transactions denominated in US dollars, CDOR for transactions denominated in
Canadian dollars, and BBSW for transactions denominated in Australian dollars. The
borrowings arranged for projects in Latin America are normally tied to the local indices
customarily used in the local banking industry, or also to the LIBOR rate as the projects
in this geographic area are frequently financed in US dollars since the cash flows
generated by the asset are also in the sa~—~ ~meanrr fovoabomms vote ol cnbisan] bhad oy



Sensitivity test on derivatives and debt

The financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk are basically borrowings
arranged at floating interest rates and derivative financial instruments,

In order to be able to analyse the effect that a possible fluctuation in interest rates might
have on the Group’s financial statements, a simulation was performed which assumed a
50-basis point increase and decrease in interest rates at 31 December 2018.

The analysis of sensitivity to upward or downward changes of 0.50% in floating interest
rates (mainly Euribor and Libor) gave rise to a sensitivity in the Group’s consolidated
income statement arising from an increase or decrease in financial results due to interest
payments, without the effect of derivatives being considered of 14,043 thousand euros
at 31 December 2018.

The analysis of the sensitivity to upward or downward changes in the long-term interest
rate curve in relation to the fair value of interest rate derivatives included in cash flow
hedges arranged by the Group at 31 December 2018 on the basis of consolidation
percentage, meant a decrease in debt for financial derivatives vis-a-vis 0.5% increases in
the interest rate curve of 62,033 thousand euros. Similarly, 0.5% decrease in the interest
rate curve would lead to an increase of 61,174 thousand euros in liabilities for financial
derivatives.

Foreign currency risk

Acciona is developing a process of growing the internationalisation of its business,
which means it is exposed to foreign currency risk involving transactions in the
currencies of the countries where it invests and operates.

This risk is managed by the Group’s Economic and Financial Department, with non-
speculative hedge criteria being applied.

Foreign currency risks relate basically to the following transactions:

- Debt denominated in foreign currencies engaged by Group companies and
associates.

- Payments to be made in international markets for procurements.

- Receivables tied mainly to the performance of currencies other than the euro.

- Investments made in foreign companies.

In order to mitigate foreign currency risk, the Acciona Group uses currency derivatives
(foreign currency hedges) to cover future transactions and cash flows, within acceptable
risk limits. At other times, non-current assets in currencies other than the euro are
financed in the same currency as that in which the asset is denominated (natural cover).

Also, the net assets relating to net investments in foreign operations whose functional
currency is not the euro are exposed to foreign currency risk in the translation of the
financial statements of these foreign operations on consolidation.



The composition of current and non-current assets and liabilities and equity at 31
December 2018 is shown below in thousand euros for the main currencies in which the
Acciona Group operates.

Australian dollar (AUD} 698.249 301.685 246.511 427.508 325915 32.592
Canadian dollar (CAD) 190.875 147.966 92.692 125.696 120.453 12.045
Mexican Peso (MXN} 248,351 350.186 86.508 299.656 212.373 21.237
Ub doltar {UsL) 2419246 439974 899530 379989 1.579.701 157970

The last column on the table above shows estimate of the negative impact on the
Group’s equity of 10% revaluation in the quotation of the euro in respect of these eight
main currencies in which the Group operates and holds investments.

Credit risk

Credit nisk is the risk that the counterparty to a contract does not meet its obligations,
giving rise to a financial loss for the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only
trading with solvent third parties and obtaining sufficient guarantees to mitigate the risk
of losses in the event of non-performance. The Group only trades with entities rated at
the same investment level as the Group, or higher, and obtains information on its
counterparties through independent company valuation agencies, other public sources of
financial information or the information it obtains from its own relations with clients.

Bills receivable and trade receivables from clients relate to a large number of clients
spread over different industries and geographical areas. Credit relations with clients and
their solvency are assessed on an ongoing basis and credit guarantee insurance is
arranged when it is considered necessary.

As regards the default risk, basically in the infrastructure division, an assessment
process is implemented before entering into contracts with public and private clients.
This assessment includes both a solvency study and supervision of contractual
requirements from a financial and legal guarantee viewpoint. During the course of the
projects, the correct performance of the debt is monitored constantly and the related
value adjustments are made using economic criteria.

The Group does not have significant exposure to credit risk with any of its clients or
groups of clients with similar characteristics. Similarly, credit risk concentration is not
significant.

The credit and liquidity risk of derivative instruments with a positive fair value is
limited in the Acciona Group, since both cash placements and the arrangement of
derivatives are made with highly solvent counterparties with high credit ratings and no
counterparty has significant levels of tatal rradit ricl



Moreover, the definition given for the fair value of a liability in 1IFRS 13, based on the
concept of transferring the liability in question to a market player, confirms that own
credit risk must be taken into account in the fair value of liabilities. Thus, Acciona adds
a bilateral credit risk adjustment in order to reflect both its own risk and the
counterparty risk in the fair value of derivatives.

Liquidity risk

The Acciona Group manages liquidity risk prudently by ensuring that it has sufficient
cash and negotiable securities (see Note 15) and by arranging committed credit facilities
for amounts sufficient to cater for its projected requirements. As noted in Note 18, at 31
December 2018 the Group companies had been granted additional financing of
2,170,368 thousand euros that had not been drawn down relating to credit lines to
finance working capital. The average term of these limits amounts to 3.20 years.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management lies with the Economic and
Financial Department, which prepares the appropriate framework to control the group’s
liquidity requirements in the short, medium and long term. The Group manages
liquidity risk by holding adequate reserves, appropriate banking services, having
available loans and credit facilities, monitoring projected and actual cash flows on an
ongoing basis and pairing them against financial asset and liability maturity profiles.

Finally, attention should be drawn, in relation to this risk, to the fact that the Acciona
Group has recognised, as part of its quest to diversify its funding sources, a European
Commercial Paper programme for the maximum amount of 1,000 million euros to issue
commercial paper with maturities of not more than one year and a Euro Medium Term
Notes programme for a maximum of 2,000 million euros (see Note 18).

Economic risk vs. budget variances

The Group has an overall system of economic and budget control for each business,
adapted to each activity, which provides those responsible for each business with the
necessary information and allows them to control potential risks and make the most
appropriate management decisions. The economic and financial information generated
within each division is periodically compared with the projected data and indicators,
variances regarding business volume, profitability, cash flows and other relevant and
reliable parameters are assessed and, where necessary, the appropriate corrective
measures are taken.

Price risk

With regards to the price risk on the Spanish electricity market, Royal Decree-
Law 9/2013, whereby urgent measures were adopted to guarantee the financial stability
of the electricity systern, was published on 12 July 2013. This Royal Decree, which
came into force on 13 July 2013, repealed, among others, Royal Decree 661/2007, of 25
May, the decree governing the remuneration framework supporting renewable energies
for most of the Acciona Group’s power generation facilities located in Spain.

Royal Decree 413/2014, whereby the activities for electricitv oenerminn_ from

renewable energy sources, co-generation an d on 6
June 2014 and published in the Central Go In the



development of this decree, final Ministerial Order IET 1045/2014 was signed on 20
June 2014 and published in the Central Government Gazette on 29 June 2014. The
Order sets out the final remuneration parameters applicable to all renewable facilities,
whether already in existence or planned. These parameters were recently updated after
approval of Order ETU/130/2017 of 17 February. The new model defines the
remuneration for assets to be applied from 14 July 2013 onwards, pursuant to RDL
9/2013.

This regulation provides that, in addition to the remuneration for the sale of electricity
generated valued at market prices, facilities can receive a specific remuneration
comprising a term per unit of power installed, covering, where appropriate the
investment costs for a standard facility that cannot be recovered through electricity sales
and an operating term that covers, where applicable, the difference between operating
costs and the revenue from the participation of that standard facility in the market.
Furthermore, the terms for remunerating the investment and the transaction will be
reviewed every 3 years, taking into consideration the revenue from energy sales at
market rates by standard facilities, so that any upward or downward variations outside
the range of the bands established in said Ministerial Order will be incorporated into the
calculation of the specific remuneration.

According to the regulation, the purpose of these remuneration terms is not to exceed
the minimum level necessary to cover the costs enabling the facilities to compete on an
equal footing with the rest of the technologies on the market and making it possible for
them to achieve reasonable profitability. With regards to what constitutes reasonable
profitability, the Royal Decree-Law indicates this will revolve around the mean pre-tax
yield on the secondary market of ten-year Government Bonds by applying the
appropriate differential. The first additional provision of Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 sets
this appropriate differential at 300 basis points for facilities participating in the
economic regime with a premium, all without prejudice to a possible review every six
years.

The regulatory framework shows that a large part of the Group’s renewable assets,
espectally wind power technology commissioned prior to 2004, as well as many of its
mini-hydroelectric power stations, will cease to receive any additional remuneration
other than the market price and will thus be fully exposed to price variations on the
electricity market. At 31 December 2018, 57% of the installed capacity in Spain is
subject to regulated remuneration whereas the rest is remunerated at market prices.

Finally, as regards the price risk on the international power markets where Acciona
operates, it should be noted that approximately 62% of production is governed by a
long-term price contract {(PPA) established with a third party, 18% under a regulatory
feed-in tariff and the remainder through »mrectricted cala an the marlat

20. - Derivative financial instrumen

Interest rate hedges
The Acciona Group regularly arranges i Jhate. .s

hedges. These instruments are used to hedge possible changes in cash ﬂows due to
interest payments on long-term floating rate financial liabilities.
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Detail of the derivative financial instruments arranged and outstanding at 31 December
2018 and 2017, which are recognised at market value on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet, in assets or liabilities, depending on the market value of the derivative and
the method of inclusion in the Acciona Group, was as follows:

{thousand Nongna Financial Fianciai investment NOTong] Financial Held tor Financial Investment
amount "tnanct assets in associates amount I sale assets in associates
EUTUS) avrranmad Ilﬂblllhes IWata 110 i*y  areasoo A Ilﬂ.bl]lhes Bahilidkiac FMAlaka 111 Fial
Interest 8
rate swaps 2,588,421 94,375 14 (47,740) 1,746,487 105,464 25,268 7,089 (55,628)

(*) The indicated amount of investment in asscciates is net of tax.

The most commonly used interest rate derivatives are interest rate swaps, the purpose of
which is to fix or limit fluctuations in the floating interest rates of hedged borrowings.
The Group arranges these financial derivatives mainly to hedge the cash flows on the
debt arranged to finance wind farms or solar facilities, in the case of the Energy
division, and to finance the infrastructure concessions operated mainly through joint
operations and associates.

At 31 December 2018, the fixed interest rates on the Euribor benchmarked financial
derivative instruments ranged from 5.06% to 0.14%, and at 31 December 2017 from
5.074% to 2.060%.

The amounts recognised by the Group are based on the market values of equivalent
instruments at the balance sheet date. Substantially all the interest rate swaps are
designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value thereof is deferred and
recognised in equity.

The terms in which these cash flow hedges are expected to impact the income statement
are shown below (in thousand euros).

-1
< 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 mq:::l:s 1 year - 5 years + 5 years

Associates (*) 612 870 10,680 35,990 22,161

(*) The indicated amount of investment is detailed in proportion to the Group’s share percentage and is not detailed net of 1ax.

Changes in the fair value of these instruments are recognised directly in equity (see
Note 16.e). The net deferred tax asset arising on recognition of these instruments
amounted to 21,403 thousand euros at 31 December 2018 and 21,470 thousand euros at
31 December 2017; these were recognised in equity lines (see Note 22).

The methods and criteria applied by the Group to measure the fair value of these
financial instruments are described in Ni



The notional amounts of the liabilities hedged by interest rate hedges were as follows:

Group companies 2,055,900 1,191,829

Companies classified as held for sale - 116.644

{*) The indicated amount is detailed in proportion to the Group!s share percentage,

The contractual notional amounts of the contracts entered into do not reflect the risk
assumed by the Group, since these amounts merely represent the basis on which the
derivative settlement calculations are made. The changes in the notional amounts of the
financial instruments arranged for the coming years are as follows:

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Associates (*) 717224 678,692 579,115 529,105 432,577 385,577
(*) The indicated amount is detailed in proportion to the Group’s share percentage.
Fuel hedges

Through its subsidiary Compaiiia Trasmediterranea, S.A. before its disposal (see Note
3), the Group hedged fuel oil and diesel price fluctuations by arranging several
derivatives which ensured a fixed purchase price. The settlements of these derivatives in
2018 were favourable to the Group and revenue of 2,985 thousand euros relating to the
contracts that matured during the year was recognised on the consolidated income
statement as a reduction to the cost of procurements.

The amount directly recognised at 31 December 2018 in equity as the effective part of
the cash-flow hedging relations amounted to a profit of 2,490 thousand euros net of
external and deferred tax, and a total net amount of 2,985 thousand euros was recycled
to the income statement at the time of the disposal.

The Group does not have any derivative fuel hedges to cover fuel price risks following
the disposal of Compafiia Trasmeditarranea, S.A.

Foreign currency hedges

The Group uses currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash
flows. In 2018 and 2017 the Group hedged a portion of purchases and payments to
suppliers in US dollars through exchange rate insurance.

The derivative financial instruments arranged and outstanding at 31 December 2018 and
2017, which are recognised at market value on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet, in assets or liabilities, depending on the market value of the derivative, were as
follows:









At 31 December 2017, the main movement in “Other Non-Current Payables” related to
the balance pending payment of 799 million euros from the subsidiary ATLL
Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. for the fee under the conditions
established in the tender specifications. As described in note 17, at 31 December 2018,
this amount has been transferred, along with the remaining concession assets and
liabilities related to the ATLL business, to a current asset account.

The same item records a loan from the Administration for 61 million euros as part of the
financing for Sociedad Concesionaria A2 Tramo 2, S.A.U., as well as liabilities for
long-term business transactions relating to the construction business for 51 million
euros (50 million euros in 2017). This figure includes advances from clients, which will
be discounted with future certifications in a period over one year in the international
projects of the construction business.

The heading “Other Non-Current Payables™ decreased by 79 million euros which is
mainly explained by the movement in the PPE supplier accounts mostly in the energy
division, and by the payments made in 2018 for two wind facilities that were being built
in Australia and Mexico at the end of the previous financial year, net of the increase
produced by another two wind facilities under construction in Chile and the United
States at the end of the financial year.

The heading “Obligations under Finance Leases”, which related mainly to the pending
lease payments, includes the purchase option on certain facilities of the energy division
in Australia. Detail was as follows:

Amounts payable under leases 2018 2017

Between one and two vears 1.768 1.902
After five vears 20.614 25531
Less furure finance charges 14,835 17.074
Less amount due for settlement within twelve months (current liability) 690 538

The main change in the financial year related to the payments made during the period.
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“Grants” related mostly to amounts awarded for the construction of wind farms in
United States. The changes in “Grants™ in 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Balance at 31/12/2016 132.426
Others (13.8000
Additions 147
Others 4.516

In 2018 there were no significant additions. The line “Other” reflects mainly a positive
variation due to the exchange rate, as a result of the appreciation of the US dollar
against the euro.

In 2017 there were no significant additions either. The line “Other” reflected mainly a
negative variation due to the exchange rate, as a result of the depreciation of the US
dollar against the euro.

22.- Tax matters

Tax Consolidation System:

Pursuant to current legislation, consolidated tax groups include the Parent Company
together with certain subsidiaries that meet the requirements provided for in Spanish tax
legislation. Since 2009, there has been a single tax group in Spain that avails itself of
this special taxation system, the Parent Company of which is Acciona, S.A. In addition
to the Spanish tax group, the Group pays tax under the tax consolidation system in
Australia (including all the Group’s divisions operating in said country), in Germany for
the handling business and for the companies comprising the energy division in the US,
Portugal and Italy.

The other Acciona Group companies file separate tax returns in accordance with the
applicable state or regional tax laws or those in force in each jurisdiction.

Effective from 1 January 2008, several Group companies availed themselves of the
special system for Company Groups for VAT purposes, as set forth in Chapter IX of
Title IX of Value Added Tax Act 37/1992, of 28 December. The Parent Company of the
VAT Group is Acciona, S.A. Various entities of the energy division also pay VAT
under the Group VAT system, in accordance with local laws in Navarra, Italy, Australia
and in the United Arab Emirates, which includes the Construction and Water project
companies in Abu Dhabi and Dubai.

Years open for review by the tax authorities:

On 10 March 2012, tax audits were initiate r 2007-2009
by the inspection services from the Central /€rs, agair<t



both the Parent Company, Acciona, S.A., and other subsidiaries. In addition to the
review of the Tax Group’s corporate tax for those years, the Company Group for VAT
was under review for 2008 and 2009 and for other taxes for 2008 and 2009 of the Group
companies subject to the tax review.

During these actions and on the occasion of the review of the withholdings effected on
payment of dividends, this partial review was extended to financial years 2010, 2011
and 2012 and also included the reverse merger operation involving Grupo Entrecanales,
S.A. and its subsidiaries taken over by Acciona, S.A. on Il July 2011. The tax
inspectors accepted the existence of valid economic grounds for the merger operation
and its inclusion within the special tax system for mergers, spin-offs, contributions of
assets and securities swaps.

The inspectors, for their part, queried the fulfilment of the requirements for application
of the exemption in the payment of dividends for one of the non-resident shareholders,
in particular, the requirements of holding the status of effective beneficiary, and this led
to the signing of the contested tax assessments. On 3 and 17 July 2014, the Company
lodged economic and administrative appeals at the Central Economic Administrative
Court. On 29 May 2015 the Company reached an agreement with the shareholder that
received the dividends so as to proceed to pay said amount, with settlement of the tax
debt upon the shareholder’s payment.

The other inspection actions concluded on 12 June 2014 with the signing of uncontested
assessments for Corporate Tax for 2007-2009 and without any tax due, uncontested
conclusions for VAT (without fine), as well as contested assessments for Personal
Income Tax withholdings relating to compensation for dismissal. The Group companies
lodged economic and administrative appeals at the Central Economic Administrative
Court. On 19 October 2015 this Court notified dismissal of the claims filed by Acciona
Construccion, S.A. confirming settlement of the assessments for withholdings for the
2008 to 2011 periods, as well as the relevant fine proceedings. On 3 December 2015 the
company filed appeal for judicial review at the National Appellate Court. On 3 April
2018 the National Appellate Court notified that the appeal related to the debts settled
had been dismissed, but disciplinary proceedings had been annulled. A notice of a
cassation appeal was submitted to the Supreme Court on 18 July 2018, which was
declared inadmissible on 12 November 2018. An appeal for annulment was made
against this decision to the Supreme Court on December 2018, which was eventually
declared inadmissible on 11 January 2019.

On 21 May 2015 the Central Office of High-Income Taxpayers notified the start of
inspection actions in relation to Corporate Tax for financial years 2010-2012, targeting
Acciona, S.A., as the Parent Company of the Group, and several subsidiaries. The
activities were concluded with the signing of a Corporate Tax conformity certificate for
the Tax Group and the signing of the VAT settlement certificate without penalty, under
the terms agreed in previous proceedings.

On 10 January 2013, the company Guadalaviar Consorcio Edlico, S.A. was notified of
the inception of tax inspection actions relating to Corporate Tax and Value Added Tax
for financial years 2008 and 2009, in which the value of the wind-power rights
transferred in 2009 was reviewed. These actions concluded w1th the 51gnmg of a
contested assessment for the measureme - ot

power rights, which increased the value



the proposed settlement from the technical services from the Central Office for High-
Income Taxpayers on 23 December 2013 and an economic-administrative appeal was
filed at the Central Economic and Administrative Court on 13 January 2014. On 16
February 2017, the Central Economic and Administrative Court issued resolution
accepting the claim in part and ordering the Inspection to proceed to notify the entity of
its right to have a countervaluation by appraisal experts. On 27 August 2017, the
Technical Office of the Tax and Customs Control of the Spanish Internal Revenue
Administration (AEAT) notified of the Central Economic and Administrative Court’s
enforcement of the resolution agreement, retroactively agreeing to the actions taken
during the Inspection phase, and reporting a new settlement agreement.

On 22 September 2017, the Company lodged an economic and administrative appeal at
the Central Economic Administrative Court against the aforementioned Settlement
Agreement and requested for the automatic suspension without providing a debt
guarantee. On 5 April 2018, allegations were submitted to the Central Economic
Administrative Court which are pending resolution to date.

The amount of the adjustment, including late-payment interest up to the settlement date
would come to 10,838 thousand euros and it is estimated that the possibility of these
liabilities materialising is possible, and therefore provisions have been provided at 31
December 2018.

In the month of December 2014, the Mexican project companies Eurus SAPI de CV, CE
Oaxaca Il and CE Oaxaca IV received notice of tax settlements from Juchitin Town
Council for municipal levies related to the 2011 to 2014 financial years. These
companies lodged complaints or appeals (petitions for legal protection) before the
District Court of Oaxaca and obtained the suspension of enforcement of the settlements.
There are solid arguments for the defence, as constitutional principles have been
breached and they are administrative acts contrary to law. All this was supported by the
fact that a Mexican court, at the first instance, allowed cancellation of the municipal
regulations on these contributions for 2015. In addition, on 28 January 2016 the Seventh
District Court of Oaxaca issued a ruling favourable to the company Oaxaca IV, allowing
the appeal filed against the settlement of municipal contributions of the Juchitdn Town
Council, the amount of which came to 126 million pesos.

On their behalf, on 6 October 2017, the Sixth District of Oaxaca also issued a ruling in
favour of the appeal against the settlements of the company EURUS (years 2011-2014),
the amount of which came to 823 million pesos.

Finally, on 27 June 2018, a favourable ruling was issued on the appeal filed by the
company Oaxaca III, the amount of which came to 455 million pesos, thereby
concluding these procedures without adjustment.

At 31 December 2018, the years that have not lapsed and that have not been reviewed
were subject to review by the tax authorities, both for Corporate Tax and for the other
main taxes applicable to the companies in the consolidated tax group. In general, the
other Spanish consolidated companies have the last four years open for review by the
tax authorities for the main taxes applicable thereto. Foreign entities on the other hand
are subject to lapse periods which in most countries where the Group operates is from 4
to 5 years.






Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) and the tax result

Reconciliation between the accounting result and the income tax expense, at 31
December 2018 and 2017, was as follows:

Lonsolidated profiv/{ loss} betore tax U, 73U 350,286
Fermanent difterences {136,/K3) 10,539
12x experse adjusted by lax rate Y, 18 89,255
O1tset of taxable amounts not posted to the accounts (2,721) {3,919)

Year s tax expense 137,201 94,381

EIlect 01 (ax adjustinents trom previous years and (Y38) 0,158
nther

I ax expense Irem aisconunued operatnons - -

The “Permanent differences” item is made up of income and expenditure that are not
eligible for inclusion in accordance with the applicable tax legislation. In addition, the
heading also includes those results that are eliminated in the consolidation process but,
nonetheless, are fully effective within the scope of the international tax returns of each
entity in the Group, especially those that do not belong to the Tax Groups.

The most significant permanent differences include the adjustment of the positive result
of 44.8 million euros which is generated by transferring the equity participation in
Compafiia Trasmediterranea, S.A. (see Note 3.2.h) and which is not subject to taxation,
as well as the reversals of asset impairment in the real estate division amounting to 30.4
million euros which were not deductible in previous years, and therefore not subject to
taxation in the current financial year. In addition, negative differences amounting to
30.3 million euros are included, derived from the inflation adjustments that arise in
branches of the Infrastructure division located in Brazil and Chile.

The most significant permanent positive difference in 2017 related to the adjustment of
the depreciation recorded on the Nordex SE investment amounting to 145 million euros.
The permanent negative difference corresponded to the adjustment of the positive result
of 74 million euros that was generated by the contribution of assets to Testa Residencial
SOCIMI, S.A.

The “Tax expense adjusted by tax rate” is the result of applying the different tax rates
applicable to the adjusted accounting result for each of the different jurisdictions where
the Group operates.

The line “Unrecognised tax credits” includes the tax credits derived from the negative
results generated by some subsidiaries, mainly in Chile, Canada and the United States.

The reconciliation of the pre-tax accon
below:












Act 27/2014, of 27 November, on Corporate Tax, eliminated, effective 1 January 2015,
the deadline for offsetting double-taxation deductions pending application from
previous financial years, so the period is unlimited, as provided for in section 39 of
Act 27/2014, and extended the general period to offset other deductions to 15 years,
except for R&D+I which was extended to 18 years.

At year-end, there are no material unused tax credits that had not been recognised.

The Acciona Group expects to recover the tax loss and tax credit carryforwards
recognised in the books, through the companies’ ordinary activities and without any
equity risk of losses.

Most of the deferred tax assets included in the line “Other” related to provisions for
liabilities, risks, insolvency, and other non-deductible items amounting to 50,300
thousand euros, to the adjustment for non-deductible accounting amortisation of 30% of
the Spanish companies introduced on a temporary basis for the years 2013 and 2014 and
which began to reverse in 2015, the amount of which at the close of 2018 is 23,370
thousand euros, as well as the homogenisations made as part of the consolidation
process and the elimination of internal margins that reverse as the assets are amortised.
Finally, this heading includes adjustments to the tax base through the application of
other countries’ specific regulations whereby certain expenses are not deductible until
payment or do not follow the accounting accrual criterion for their deductibility, as is
the case with Mexico, Australia and the United States, or because a billing-based
criterion is applied instead of accounting accrual by stage of progress, as happens in
Chile.

The line “Other” under the deferred tax liability heading includes the tax adjustments
under the freedom to amortise established in the Eleventh Additional Provision included
in RDL 4/2004 (consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act) by Act 4/2008. This line
reflects the reversion of the adjustment from previous years for the amount of the
accounting amortisation recognised and for de-recognised assets. The accumulated
amount of this adjustment at 31 December 2018 for the Spanish Tax Group companies
amounted to 185,011 million euros for tax liability. It also included the amortisation
effect for tax purposes of Mexico, the US and Chile for approximately 85, 57 and 9
million euros for tax liability, respectively, as well as adjustments for application of the
specific regulations of countries where accounting income is not recognised for tax
purposes until the bill is issued or collected, instead of the principle of accounting
accrual or stage of progress, mainly in Chile and Mexico. This line also includes
deferment of income from uncertified works and advances to suppliers of several
Mexican companies.

Based on the enactment of Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of 2 December, which establishes
measures in the taxation area aimed at the consolidation of public finances, and urgent
measures in social matters, the total amount of the deferred tax liability related to the
impairment of portfolio pending reversion in the taxable base for 45,456 thousand
euros. This Royal Decree established the incorporation of value impairments of
investments that were fiscally deductible in periods prior to 2013, for a maximum
period of five years from the tax periods starting on 01/01/2016, regardless of whether
their value has been recovered or not. For quantification of this tax liability, the specific
situations of each value impairment of ¢~ -h~w=-l~ldier~ fe ~nelis1 ~r g capital and-
reserves of the investees that were fis red, as wel" 1s



potential legal or contractual restrictions or otherwise in connection to possible
transferability of such shareholdings.

Reporting obligations

Current Corporate tax legislation provides tax incentives to encourage certain
investments. The companies in the Tax Group have availed themselves of the benefits
provided for under this legislation.

The Tax Group, through its Parent Company and certain of its subsidiaries, is required
to fulfil the obligations assumed in connection with the tax incentives applied and, in
particular, it must hold, for the stipulated period, the assets for which the investment or
reinvestment tax credits were taken.

In financial years 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014, the Parent Company and certain
companies in the Tax Group availed themselves of the tax credit for reinvestment of
extraordinary income provided for by Article 42 of Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004
(consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act)!. The income qualifying for this tax credit
in these years amounted to 86,550, 160,251, 8,640, 9,598 and 34,516 thousand euros,
respectively. The income relating to 2009 and 2010 was reinvested in 2010, the income
relating to 2011 was reinvested in 2011, the income relating to 2012 and 2013 was
reinvested in 2013, and the income relating to 2014 in 2014. The assets in which the
income was reinvested were as listed in Article 42 of Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004,
i.e. property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment property and securitics
representing stakeholdings of no less than 5% in the share capital or equity of all
manner of companies. The income was reinvested by the companies belonging to Tax
Group 30/96.

Pursuant to section 10 of article 42 of the consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act,
this information must be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
as long as the period for which the assets must be held, as established in section 8 of
article 48, is not complied with.

In accordance with the provisions contained in section 86 of Corporate Tax Act
27/2014, certain Group companies engaged in 2018 in the transactions listed below, to
which the Special System for mergers, spin-offs, contribution of assets and securities
swaps was applied:

- Special non-cash contribution by Acciona, S.A. to Corporacion Acciona
Infraestructuras, S.A. of the stakeholding in Acciona Concesiones, S.L., documented in
public deed dated 28 December 2018.

Pursuant to section 3 of article 86 of Act 27/2014 on the consolidated text of the
Corporate Tax Act, the information required for operations carried out in previous years
appears in the relevant separate notes to financial statements as approved.

In 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, several companies in the tax group deducted the
tax credit for impairment losses on ownership interests in Group companies, joint
operations and associates, as provided for in Article 12.3 of Royal Legislative Decree

I Regulated in the Twenty-Fourth Temporary Pr



4/2004 (consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act), regulated in Temporary Provision
Sixteen of Act 27/2014.

Act 16/2013, of 29 October, repealed, with effect from 1 January 2013, section 12.3 of
the consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act in relation to deduction of impairment
losses on such equity interests and established a transitional system for the inclusion of
losses pending incorporation at 31/12/2012 in the taxable base.

Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of 2 December, which establishes measures aimed at the
consolidation of public finances and urgent measures in social matters, provided for
mandatory minimum reversion of deductible portfolio reversions, in a maximum period
of five years, effective financial year 2016.

The notes to the separate financial statements of these companies include the disclosures

required by tax legislation concerning the change in the year in the investees’ equity, the
amounts included in the taxable base and the amounts yet to be included.

23.- Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

In financial year 2017, Acciona Group classified all assets and liabilities associated with
the subgroup Trasmediterranea (Other Activities division)} and with the subgroup
Acciona Termosolar (Energy division) under “non-current assets and liabilities held for
sale”. The sale of both subgroups materialised during financial year 2018,

The sale of the totality of the shares held by Acciona Group in Compaiia
Trasmediterranea, S.A. (92.71% of the share capital) to Grupo Naviera Armas was
formalised in June 2018 after fulfilling all the conditions precedent. The Acciona Group
recognised capital gains amounting to 44.8 million euros in the consolidated income
statement under “impairment and gains or losses on disposal of assets” for this
operation (see Note 3).

On the other hand, the final condition precedent of the sales contract for 100% of the
shares in Acciona Termosolar, S.L. to Contourglobal Mirror 2 S.A.R.L. was fulfilled in
May 2018, for which capital gains of 53 million euros were recognised under
“impairment and gains or losses on disposal of assets” (see Note 3).

At 31 December 2018, there are no assets classified as held for sale.

24. - Guarantee commitments to third parties

The Group has provided third-party bonds before clients, public agencies and financial
institutions, for 3,985,012 thousand euros and 3,677,415 thousand euros at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase was mainly due to bonds delivered
for new tenders within the construction business.

The purpose of most of the bonds provided was to guarantee good performance in the
development of the works engaged by the infrastructure division.






The Group’s different business models are described below, according to the nature,
timing, and uncertainty of the revenue:

Long-Term Asset Business

This category includes the portfolio of operating assets for renewable electricity
generation in the group, as well as its portfolio of concessions for social,
transport, and water infrastructure. It is a capital-intensive business, where most
of the investment is made at the beginning of the useful life and a high operating
margin is needed for a return on investment as well as to compensate for
operation and maintenance costs. Revenue is characterised by its low level of
risk given that it is mostly regulated or comes from long-term contracts with
solvent counterparties that have a high degree of diversification. Revenue
recognition is carried out at the same time as electricity is generated, or the
service is provided, as applicable. With regards to generation assets, the high
diversification of the portfolio in terms of facilities, technologies and
geographical areas means that production is highly stable and predictable.

Service Business

Includes the group’s services business, covering the operation and maintenance
of infrastructure and other services related to such activities within the service
business, as well as financial services (asset management). It is a medium risk
business with low capital intensity. With regards to infrastructure services,
revenue comes from lfong-term operation and maintenance contracts which range
from 5 to 15 years. Revenue recognition is carried out at the same time as the
service is provided. In the case of financial services, these activities have a high
margin because of the specialisation and added value of the business, and while
they are exposed to the volatility of the market, a high degree of loyalty from its
customer base is also enjoyed. For mediation and consultancy services, revenue
recognition is carried out at the same time as the service is provided.

Greenfield Developments Business

This type of business encompasses activities for the construction of civil works
(railways, roads, bridges, hydraulic works, etc.), buildings (residential and non-
residential), industrial and water treatment facilities (the latter two with high
technological content and carried out, for the most part, under the turnkey or
EPC - Engineering, Procurement and Construction- modality), as well as the
development and construction of renewable generation assets. The main purpose
of this activity is the creation of new and complex infrastructures, both for
public or private clients as well as for the company’s own portfolio, and is
characterised by its low capital intensity which makes it possible to apply lower
margins in comparison with other businesses of the group, which require higher
investment levels. The revenue horizon depends on the level of the contracted
portfolio, which is usually between 18 and 24 months. Because of that, the work
generally consists in the creation or transformation of an asset that is under the
client’s control, and revenue is recognised based on the level of completion of
the work. The business also inc’ ~ ’ ’ “vities (both
residential and tertiary) the revent me tha™ "he



property is delivered to the client, with a generation period of around 36 months,
which includes preparing the project, licensing, execution, etc.

e Corporate and other

This chapter mainly includes the elimination of revenues between different
segments upon consolidation, as well as revenue from some residual businesses.
It also includes revenue from Compaiiia Trasmediterranea which according to
Note 3.2.h was removed from the consolidation scope in June 2018.

The breakdown, by geographical area, of the Group companies’ total production was as
follows (in thousand euros):

2018

Infrastructures 1.633.373 423.344 1.701.600 1.300.685 5.059.002
Intra-Group transactions (111.03%) (4.226} {32126} (n (147.402)
2017

Intrastruciures 1.415.186 474417 1.769.994% 1.28(0.322 4939924
Intra-Giroup transactions (87.976) (4.538) (20.448) (13 (112.975)

Revenue from the Infrastructure activity

Concessions

At 31 December 2018, the Acciona Group maintained its main service concession
contracts in force in the construction and water businesses. The net amount of revenue at
the close of the financial year for each category of concession agreement, including
those within the scope of IFRIC 12, came to 108 and 206 million euros, respectively.
Appendix V details the main concessions.

As indicated in Note 4.2 g), following the adoption of IFRIC 12, the Acciona Group
recognises under “Non-Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Assets™ concession
business assets whose recovery is guaranteed under the concession contract by the
grantor through the payment of a fixed or quantifiable amount and, accordingly, no
demand risk is borne by the operator.

In relation to these concession assets, even during the construction phase the Group
recognises income earned on interest, based on the effective interest rate of the financial
asset. This interest income is recognised under “Revenue”, and at 31 December 2018
and 2017 it amounted to 10,458 and 15,547 thousand euros, respectively.









The classification above broken down by gender in 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

[nfrastructures 26.320 9.276 35.596 24.823 8886 33.709
Total average number of employees 28,252 10,292 38,544 27,231 10,172 37,403

In 2018 and 2017, respectively, 347 and 313 employees of the total headcount were
employees of the Parent Company and the remainder were employed by the Group
subsidiaries.

At 31 December 2018, the average number of employees with a disability level of 33%
or over employed by the consolidated companies amounted to 1,001 employees (direct
and indirect employment), and to 897 at 31 December 2017. The percentage of
compliance with Royal Decree Law 1/2013, of 29 November, which approves the
Consolidated Text on the General Act for the Rights and Social Integration of Persons
with Disabilities, which establishes a minimum quota of 2% for the recruitment of
disabled persons in companies with more than 50 employees, was 3.86% (3.52% at 31
December 2017).

Operating leases:

On 31 December 2018, following the sale of Compariia Trasmediterranea (see Note 3),
the Acciona Group no longer has assets under lease that are individually significant.
During 2018, the expense included in the “Leases” account under “Other External
Expenses” on the accompanying consolidated income statement corresponds to multiple
lease contracts for goods of various kinds, which cover items of transport, land, and
machinery. A large part of these contracts are short-term and their consideration is
established according to highly variable components such as hours/machine, MW/hours,
etc.

The amount of minimum payments and committed operating lease fees are the
following, in thousand euros:

Less than one vear 76.438

After five vears 272.244
At 31 December 2017, the lease terms and conditions and minimum payments (without

taking into account inflation or possible updates) under the main vessel charter contracts
entered into by the Compaiiia Trasmediterrdnea Subgroup were as follows:






At the end of the financial year, “Impairment of other assets” included mainly
impairment for machinery in the construction business at national level.

This same heading at 31 December 2017 included impairment for 13 million euros in
intangible assets from the Brazilian concessionaire Rodovia do Ao, S.A., as well as the
reversals of investment property impairments for 6.8 million euros from the real estate
business.

Other gains or losses

In 2017, a capital gain of 5 million euros was recorded under this heading as a result of
the purchase of an additional 50% stake in Sociedad Concesionaria Autovia de los
Vifedos, S.A.

Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financial instruments at fair value

At 31 December 2017, this heading reflected mainly revenue of 37,370 thousand euros
related to the change in fair value of two energy sales contracts concluded in December
2015 and 2016 by subsidiaries in the US and Chile respectively, to supply a specific
amount of energy in the long term at a fixed price.

27.- Segment reporting

Segment reporting is done based on the nature of the goods and services produced by
the Group. The Acciona Group’s business model is inspired by values supported by two
pillars: Energy and Infrastructure, offering products and services with an emphasis on
supplying solutions to meet the challenges of modern society and always under the
same guiding principle: sustainable development.

The Group also has other lines of business that are grouped under the name of "other
activities", composed mainly of fund management services and financial intermediation,
real estate business and wine production.

Each of the segments constitutes a differentiated business that has its own management
and reporting structure in order to evaluate the degree to which the objectives are
achieved. The information presented to Acciona Group’s Corporate Management in
order for the performance of the different segments to be evaluated, as well as to
allocate resources between them, is structured according to this segmentation criterion.

Costs incurred by the Corporate Unit are distributed pro rata, using an internal cost
distribution system, among the different divisions. Inter-segment sales are made at
market prices.

A reorganisation process for the current infrastructure division started in 2014 by
integrating both the construction and operation activities, under concession
arrangements, for water treatment infrastructure and facilities, as well as a set of
services (facility services, mobility, urban services, airport handling, etc.), creating
therefore a comprehensive range of sol 1 which has
allowed the Group to enhance what it egrating the



different infrastructure activities under the same management has brought important
synergies, such as optimising the international business support structure, for example.
Along with centralising functions under a common management structure, the Group
started a corporate restructuring process in order to provide the segment with its own
management and reporting structure, which was completed in 2018. In this sense,
starting in financial year 2018 the Group presents information corresponding to these
activities integrated under the common “Infrastructure” heading, aligned with the
Group’s strategy as a global supplier of infrastructure services, and the financial and
management information is evaluated periodically by Senior Management.

On the other hand, in financial year 2018 the financial margin that the centralised
treasury system which manages the Corporate Unit was charged across the different
divisions based on their financing needs.

For comparison purposes, the segment information for financial year 2017 has been
reexpressed according to the changes described in the above two paragraphs.

In addition to the segment information, in order to help understand the results and in
line with the way in which the Acciona Group Directors manage this information,
certain amounts related to “Corporate Transactions” that facilitate a better
understanding of the ordinary course of business are presented as an additional column.
Nonetheless, where these effects are material in respect of the Group’s results, details
are given as to how they affect each segment.

Finally, the information is also presented in terms of the geographical areas in which the
operations take place.

Segment information and that of Corporation Transactions for 2018 and 2017 is shown
below:

- Pape 136 -





















In addition, 13,100 thousand euros {14,938 thousand euros in 2017) relating to these
periodic settlements were recognised as a decrease in the results of companies
accounted for using the equity method.

29.- Proposed application of profit/(loss)

Proposed application of the profit in financial years 2018 and 2017 of Acciona, S.A., as
approved by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting, in the case of 2017, and that
the Board of Directors will submit to approval by the Annual General Shareholders’
Meeting, in the case of 2018, is as follows (in euros):

Distribution basis:

Apnplication:

To statutory reserve 2.338.551.08 20.920.246.21
‘l'o voluntarv reserves 34.697.064.45 11.836.335.66
‘Total 233,855,108.03 209,202,462.05

The proposed allocation contemplates the distribution of dividends of 3.35 euros per
share.

Under its Articles of Association, Acciona, S.A. must, in any event, allocate 10% of net
profit to legal and statutory reserves in such a manner that, when the former is covered
(20% of the share capital), any remaining portion of the 10% of net profit must be
transferred to the statutory reserve. This reserve is unrestricted.

30.- Environmental matters

ACCIONA backs the development of environmentally sustainable businesses: it
generates electricity from renewable sources; it desalinates water, makes it drinkable
and also cleans it; and it builds infrastructures and services where the environmental
variable is relevant when it comes to decision making.

In 2018, 38% of the Group’s global sales and 69% of EBITDA were based on
businesses included in what the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)
defines as the Green Economy.

http://web.unep.org/greeneconomy/resources/ green-economy-report

In 2018 environmental expenses accounted for 2,687 million euros and environmental
investments 555 million euros, which placed the company’s global environmental
activity at 3,242 million euros.

Out of that total figure, 83 million euros arose from management (prevention, mitigation
or correction) of the environmental im activity (69
million euros in expenses and 14 million million e c-






- Diluted:

To calculate the diluted earnings per share, the entity adjusts the result of the financial
year attrtbutable to the holders of ordinary equity instruments and the mean weighted
average of the number of outstanding shares for all diluting effects attached to the
potential ordinary shares.

In January 2014, Acciona S.A. issued convertible bonds. In 2017, conversions and early
cancellations were made and this financial instrument was fully cancelled at 31
December 2017. The convertible bonds are the only diluting effect that explained the
difference between the weighted average number of treasury shares outstanding
considered in the basic eamings per share calculation and the diluted earnings per share
in December 2017. The finance costs recorded in the income statement for the financial
year 2017 before Corporate Tax amounted to 5,148 thousand euros. There have been no
diluting effects in financial year 2018, and therefore the basic earnings per share and
diluted earnings per share are the same.

The amount for the pertod closed on 31 December 2018 and 2017 is given below:

Adjusted nel protit attnbutable to
the Parent Comnanvy (thonsand enrns) 328,030 225279

Diluted carnings per share {euros} 5.90 7

32.- Events after the reporting period

As mentioned in Note 17 to these consolidated financial statements, on 16 January 2019
the Group submitted, within the term granted, allegations requiring the procedure to
evict the facilities to be terminated insofar as ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de
Catalunya, S.A. was not legally or contractually obliged to return the facilities and cease
to effectively provide the service, until the corresponding compensation from the
Generalitat has been paid.

Likewise, on 6 and 12 February 2019, the appeals filed in response to the concession
asset eviction and return requirements for the assets under the Group’s control and
allowing the service to be provided were rejected by the HCJC. Therefore, the Group
has submitted a written request to the Generalitat on 13 February 2019 to formalise the
delivery of the assets subject to the provision of the service, and to continue as promptly
and efficiently as possible, with the contract liquidation procedure, all in accordance
with the terms and conditions included therein. However, as established in Article 56 of
the Tender Specifications and the joint decision of the Regional Departments of
Economy & Knowledge and Territory and Sustainability of the Generalitat de
Catalunya, the Group shall continue to provide the concession services until the
compensation set out in the Tender Specifications and in the Consolidated Text of the
Public Contract Law is paid and until the minutes in relation to the return of the assets
and rights linked to the public service are signed. On the assumption that the Group
ceases to provide the service, without receiving the corresponding compensation, all
appropriate legal and administrati n the relevant



contractual amount corresponding to the liquidation of such concession from the
Generalitat.

33.- Related party transactions

As indicated in these notes to the consolidated financial statements, transactions
performed by the Company with its subsidiaries (related parties) as part of its normal
business activities, as regards their purpose and terms and conditions, were eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and
its associates are disclosed below.

Transactions with associates

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, detail of the balances receivable from and payable to
associates was as follows (in thousand euros):

Trade and other accounis receivable 64.555 58.216

Loans to associates 110,717 112,019 8.496 £.649

The “Income” heading mainly reflects billings by Acciona Energia Servicios México for
the construction of the photovoltaic plant Puerto Libertad in Mexico, as well as those by
Acciona Construccion, S.A. with the Toledo University Hospital Concessionaire for the
construction of their asset.

The balances of “Expenses” and “Payables” mainly include transactions carried out by
companies in the energy division with the Nordex Group corresponding to the
acquisition of wind turbines for the construction of new projects for the division.

The balances receivable related to the line “Loans to associates” were mainly made up
of loans made by Acciona, S.A., Acciona Concesiones, S.A and Acciona Energia, S.A.
to associates.

These transactions were performed on an arm’s length basis.

Transactions with other related parties

At 31 December 2014, following the arrival of the KKR Fund in the shareholding
structure of the Acciona Group subsidiary, Acciona Energy Internacional, S.A., this
fund became a “related party” for the Group as the term is defined in IAS 24. The only
transaction of note with the KKR Fund in financial year 2018 was the subordinated debt
described in Note 21.

In addition, the contract signed between Acciona Energy, S.A. and said fund
incorporates long-term collaboratior -~ —- - -=*-*-*—--- - 4 --*--- Group and KKR
in certain affected countries, throug! 0 case represent a
firm commitment.












Following a resolution adopted by the General Sharcholders’ Meeting with the legally
required scope, Executive Directors may also be remunerated through the delivery of
shares or share option rights, or by means of any other remuneration referenced to the
value of the shares.

Furthermore, Art. 55 of the Regulations for the Board of Directors establishes that the
Board determines the system for distributing the remuneration for Directors within the
framework established in the Articles of Association.

The decision must take into account the report issued for the purpose by the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee.

The Board of Directors shall strive to ensure that the Directors’ remuneration is
moderate and in line with that paid on the market in companies of a similar size and
business activity, with preference for those formats relating a significant portion of the
remuneration to their dedication to Acciona.

The system for remuneration of independent directors will strive to serve as a sufficient
incentive for their dedication without compromising their independence.

The remuneration of external directors representing substantial shareholders for their
performance as Directors must be proportional to that of other Directors and shall not
represent any favoured treatment in the form of remuneration of the shareholder(s)
designating them. The remuneration system will establish similar remuneration for
comparable functions and dedication.

As regards remuneration of executive directors, article 55 bis of the Regulations
establishes that the Board of Directors must try and ensure that the remuneration
policies in force at each time include for variable remuneration necessary technical
safeguards to make sure that such remuneration is in line with the professional
performance of its beneficiaries and does not arise simply from the general trend of
markets or of the company’s business sector or from other similar circumstances. The
remuneration of directors must be transparent.

On 18 May 2017, the General Sharcholders’ Meeting approved the Directors
Remuneration Policy for the years 2018-2020, without prejudice to the fact that
amendments introduced by the Policy shall apply to remuneration accrued from the date
the Policy was approved.

The Remuneration Policy approved at the Meeting and according to Article 31.2 of the
Articles of Association of Acciona: a) the maximum amount of remuneration payable
per year to the directors in aggregate for their duties as such is 1,700,000 euros; b)
except where the General Shareholders’ Meeting establishes otherwise, the distribution
of the remuneration among the directors will be decided by the Board of Directors,
having consideration for the functions and responsibilities of each director, whether they
belong to Board committees, and other objective circumstances that it considers to be
relevant.

At its meeting on 30 May 2018, the Board of Directors resolved, at the proposal of the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee, to set new amounts for membership of the
Board of Directors and its Committees —*'-* “--— "= 2= -3 a5 follows: a)
Executive directors shall not receive remu pofitl Board of






With regards to long term variable remuneration linked to Company shares following
what was established in the Plan 2014 regulations and based on an evaluation of the
results obtained during the three year period from 2014 to 2016, following a proposal by
the Appointments and Remuneration Committee the Board of Directors approved to
deliver a total of 104,096 shares to Executive Directors in 2017, with a fair value of
7,277 thousand euros. In addition, 26,025 shares were assigned in 2017 to have a
delivery deferred for a period of three years on a straight-line basis in implementation of
the Plan. In 2018, 8,675 shares with deferred delivery were assigned to executive
directors and therefore 17,350 shares remain pending delivery. The amount or gross
profit of the shares delivered was 665 and 7,277 thousand euros in 2018 and 2017
respectively, equivalent to the market value at the date of delivery.

In 2014, the Company implemented a savings plan related to a term life assurance,
permanent disability in the degrees of total, absolute and grand invalidity, and death
(“Savings Plan”) aimed solely and exclusively at the Company’s Executive Directors.
The basic characteristics of the plan are as follows:

a) Itis a social welfare system based on a defined contribution.

b) It is a system endowed externally through the payment by the Company of annual
premiums to an insurance company with the Participant as the beneficiary, for the
coverage of survival and the risk contingencies, i.e.: (i) death and (ii) permanent
disability in the degrees established in the Regulations.

¢) Should the Participants cease to occupy positions as Executive Directors of
Acciona for any reason, the Company shall cease to pay the premiums to the
Savings Plan on the date on which they indisputably cease to hold their position,
without prejudice to any economic rights recognised to Participants.

d) The payment of the Benefit arising out of the Savings Plan will be made directly
by the insurance entity to the Participants, net of any corresponding withholdings
or payments on account of personal Income Tax that may be applicable in each
case and payable by the beneficiary of the Benefit. For the rest of the
contingencies, the payment of the Benefit will also be made directly by the
insurance entity to any entitled parties.

e) The status of Participant in the Savings Plan will be lost should any of the
following circumstances arise: i) occurrence of any of the risk contingencies
covered and collection of the Benefit; ii) attainment of the age of 65 years;
iil) removal from the position of Executive Director of Acciona for any reason
other than those indicated above.

f) Consolidation conditions. The beneficiary of the Savings Plan shall be the
Company under the following two situations:

If the participant is removed from the position of Executive Director of Acciona
due to resignation for voluntary causes. If the participant is removed from the
position of Executive Director for breaching their duties or for an act or omission
that harms the Company, or is sentenced with a final verdict issued by a judicial
authority.



In these cases, the participants shall lose all economic rights accumulated in the
Savings Plan and therefore, may not receive any benefit arising from the Plan.

The contributions to the Savings Plan in 2018 and 2017 in favour of the Executive
Directors came to 5,013 and 5,125 thousand euros. These contributions in 2018
included 100% of the fixed annual salary and an additional amount arising from
extraordinary contributions to the Savings Plan related to part of the variable
remuneration in 2018.

The accumulated value at 31 December 2018 of the savings systems with non-
consolidated economic rights of Executive Directors amounted to 15,958 thousand
€uros.

No obligations have been entered into in connection with pensions with respect to
former and current members of the Board of Directors. Nor have any advances, credits
or guarantees been given in favour of the members of the Board of Directors, except as
indicated in this note.

In financial years 2018 and 2017 the directors of the Parent did not receive any
remuneration for being members of other boards and/or senior management of Group
Companies.

The total remuneration of members of the board of directors of Acciona, S.A., including
remuneration for executive functions, was 6,864 and 17,269 thousand euros in 2018 and
2017, respectively.

B. Senior Management

Senior Management includes those people forming the top two levels of the Acciona
group’s management and the Corporate Internal Audit Director. This classification is for
information purposes only and without prejudice to their specific employment
relationship.

The remuneration of the Company’s General Managers and people discharging similar
duties, excluding those who are simultaneously members of the Board of Directors
(whose remuneration is disclosed above), and bearing in mind that this remuneration is
taken from the perspective of the Parent Company and subsidiaries, in 2018 and 2017 is
summarised as follows:

Number of people 40 35

The figures for 2018 appearing as remuneration included the amounts related to
compensation paid to the executives that left the company every year, for termination of
their employment relationship, as well as the money settlement for differences in the
options exercised during the year. In 2017 no settlements were paid to Senior
Management.

The civil liability premium for directors
to1,345 thousand euros.



Plan for delivery of shares and performance shares

The General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 24 June 2014 approved the following
agreement:

A) To extend the term of validity of the Shares and Options Delivery Plan to Acciona
group’s management, including Executive Directors, as was approved by the General
Shareholders’ Meeting of Acciona, S.A. on 4 June 2009, for application in financial
years 2014 to 2020, and to increase the maximum number of shares available by
200,000 shares.

B) To aquthorise the Board of Directors of the Company so that it may, to all the extend
required by law and upon proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee,
amend the Plan Regulations under the terms and conditions that the Board considers
convenient, establishing delivery conditions and times, accrual periods, allocation
criteria and limits and any other aspect that the Board considers relevant, in order to
align further the long-term interests of the Company’s Executive Directors and other
executives of the Acciona Group with those of the shareholders of Acciona, S.A., and
thus boost their motivation in the attainment of higher value and long-term stability for
the group, and consolidate their loyalty and permanence in the Group.

Pursuant to that authority, on 26 February 2015 the Board of Directors approved, upon
proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, to amend the Plan
Regulations, drawing up a new one whose term of validity covers the six-year period
from 2014 to 2019, both inclusive. In addition, and making use of the approval of the
General Shareholders’ Meeting on 18 May 2017, following a proposal from the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors approved an
additional amendment to the Plan Regulations at their meeting held on 14 December
2017 with the aim of adapting it to corporate governance best practices regarding
deferral, malus and clawback on the variable remuneration of executive directors, and to
the principles and guidelines contained in the Directors Remuneration Policy approved
by the General Shareholders’ Meeting. In addition, the duration of the Plan is extended
for an additional two years (i.e. up to and including 2021) only for directors (excluding
Executive Directors), and subject to the full discretion of the Board of Directors and
after a report from the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, the possibility to
assign and deliver extraordinary Acciona shares is also introduced for multi-year
periods (a minimum of three (3) years) to onc or several Beneficiary Directors (other
than Executive Directors) for achieving extraordinary results.
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The main characteristics are as follows:

A) Purpose of the Plan:

The purpose of the 2014 Plan for Delivery of Shares and “Performance Shares” is to
remunerate management, including the Executive Directors of Acciona in such a
manner as to boost the attainment of strategic business objectives to the benefit of the
Company’s shareholders, and the loyalty and permanence of exccutives.

B) Strategic indicators and objectives to achieve

Achievement of objectives will be based on business strategic indicators, which have
been defined by the Board of Directors for financial years ranging from 2014 to 2019,

C) Plan beneficiaries

C.1. — Executive Directors

Reference period: The reference period of the business strategic indicators will be the
2014-2019 six-year period, although, for allocation of “performance shares”, the whole
period from the start of the 2014 Plan application period to the end of the previous
financial year will be considered.

“Performance shares” allocation: Upon completion of each financial year, the Board of
Directors may assess the extent to which the long-term strategic objectives have been
achieved up to that point.

The final allocation of treasury shares to Executive Directors will take place (a) at the
end of the whole 2014 Plan period (in 2020) upon consideration of the assessment made
for the whole 2014-2019 period and (b) at a midpoint milestone, in 2017, upon
completion of the first three 2014-2016 financial years, upon consideration of the
assessment made on the first 2014-2016 three-year period.

Permanence condition: Delivery of the shares finally allocated to Executive Directors is
dependent on the fact that the Executive Director has not ceased to perform his/her
senior management duties in Acciona or its Group for reasons attributable to the
Director in question, according to the terms set out in the Plan Regulations.

In no event may the number of allocated shares exceed, together with those allocated
under the 2014 Plan, the maximum number available approved by the GM.

The actual share delivery date in accordance with the provisions in the preceding
sections shall be determined by the Board of Directors and in any case, it shall be done
after the General Sharcholders’ Meeting of the year in which the shares are to be
delivered has taken place. Delivery of 20% of the shares that the Executive Directors
have a right to receive shall be subjected to a minimum deferral period of one (1) year,
and its accrual shall be subject to their permanence as an Executive Director as detailed
in the Regulations, and on there not being any causes that in the opinion of the external
auditors could lead to a material restatement of the Acciona Groun’s consolidated
financial statements, as determined by the oposal by



the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, except when this arising from an
amendment to accounting standards.

Shares delivered in 2017 are subject to an option for Acciona to buy them back:
Treasury shares transferred to Executive Directors in 2017 (in relation to financial years
2014, 2015 and 2016) have been subjected to Acciona’s right to buy them back, a right
that can be exercised if the Executive Director acquiring the shares ceases to perform
his/her senior management duties in Acciona or its group before 31 March 2020 for
breach of his/her contractual obligations or resignation of his’her own free will.

In addition, during the three (3) years following the date on which the shares are
delivered, Acciona could request the Executive Directors to: (1) return the shares and/or
amounts paid when the corresponding calculations had been done based on data which
has been proven to be manifestly misstated, and (ii} return the shares and/or amounts
paid and/or not be paid the amounts that they are entitled to, in cases where the director
has incurred a serious breach in their duties of diligence or loyalty in hine with their
position in Acciona, or for any other serious and negligent breach of the obligations that
the Executive Directors have assumed under the contracts signed with Acciona in order
to fulfil their executive functions.

With regards to shares to be delivered to Executive Directors in 2020, as applicable, and
only in respect of the number of Shares equating to two times the annual fixed
remuneration, these shares cannot be (a) disposed of, encumbered or used under any
title (except for mortis causa), and (b) no option right can be set up over them, until
three (3) years have passed since the shares were allocated.

Executive Directors may however contribute shares which have been delivered to them
to companies controlled or owned by the Executive Director. In these cases, Acciona
shall adopt the necessary guarantees, including real guarantees, to ensure compliance
with the provisions of the Regulations, and in any case, the benefitiary company
receiving the shares which is controlled or owned by the Executive Director, must do so
within reason and is bound to comply with the guarantees or limitations granted in
favour of Acciona.

C.2. — Group’s Executives

For the other beneficiaries that are not executive directors, the Board of Directors will
approve, upon considering proposal by the Appointments and Remuncration
Committee, the amount for separate variable remuneration to be paid through delivery
of the Acciona’s treasury shares allocated for each financial year to each executive that
benefits from the 2014 Plan other than Executive Directors.

The allocation may be implemented through a number of treasury shares or in a cash
amount. In the latter case, the equivalent number of shares will be based on the closing
price on the last day of trading of March of the year when the Board of Directors
determines the allocation. In no event will the number of allocated shares thus
quantified exceed, together with the other shares allocated under the 2014 Plan, the
maximum number approved by the GM.

Treasury shares transferred to these Ber * "t ' ciona’s right to buy
them back, a right that can be exercisex ig the ~he ereas



his/her professional engagement with Acciona or its Group before 31 March of the third
year following the year when delivery takes place, for reasons attributable to the
Beneficiary. The Board of Directors may extend to a reduced group of executives the
“performance share” and/or shares allocation system established for executive directors,
with the changes as can be proposed by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee regarding interim allocation, tax system, objectives, midpoint milestones
and delivery times, with the purpose of increasing their motivation in the attainment of
higher value and long-term stability for the group, as well as consolidating their loyalty
and permanence in the Group.

The 2014 Plan does not provide for the possible sale of shares delivered in order to pay
the tax incurred by the Beneficiary as a result of such delivery. The cost of the payment
on account of the 2014 Plan performance shall not be passed on to the beneficiaries, and
the Company shall assume the tax cost that this payment may have on the personal
income tax of the beneficiaries with the established limits.

D) Number of shares available for the Plan

Initially, the maximum number of shares that could be allocated to the Beneficiaries in
application of the 2014 Plan was fixed at 258,035, although it could be increased by
resolution of the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

In this respect, the General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 11 June 2015, 10 May 2016,
18 May 2017 and 30 May 2018 agreed to increase the maximum number of shares
available for the “2014-2019 Plan for Delivery of Shares and Performance Shares” by
100,000 for each year, without affecting later increases if so proposed by the Board of
Directors and approved by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

At the close of 2018 the maximum number of shares that could be delivered to
implement the Plan, was 405,823, after 38,742 were used in 2018 for delivery to
executives other than Executive Directors, and 8,675 shares for Executive Directors
which corresponded to the deferred delivery agreed in 2017. Without prejudice to the
foregoing, 17,350 shares are pending delivery of the 26,025 which were assigned in
2017 to have a delivery deferred for a period of three years on a straight-line basis in
implementation of the Plan.

E) Recipients

The annual number of Recipients shall not exceed 100.

Plan to replace variable remuneration for shares

Upon proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, given the limited
number of Beneficiaries of the former Plan, with the purpose of furthering and
extending the objectives for building loyalty and retaining the Group’s executives, on
26 March 2015 the Board of Directors approved the “Plan to Replace Variable
Remuneration for Acciona shares, aimed to Acciona and its Group’s management”™ (the
Replacement Plan), excluding executive Adirertare: tha main charentarieting of the plan
are the following: ' o



Aim: To retain and motivate the management team ecffectively and achieve higher
alignment of their interests with those of the Company and ~ Group.

Initial duration: Six years (2014 to 2019).

Purpose: To offer discretionally the option of replacing or swapping, in whole or in
part, variable remuneration in cash for Company shares to certain Acciona and its
group’s executives, according to a swap equation to be determined each year. In 2015,
2016, 2017, and 2018, the swap equation approved carried an incentive of 25% over the
variable remuneration replaced.

Beneficiaries: The executives that the Board of Directors determines of its own free
will. Executive Directors are excluded from this Plan.

Restrictions on the shares delivered: In general terms, the shares delivered cannot be
(a) disposed of, encumbered or used under any title (except for mortis causa), and (b) no
option right can be set up over them, or any other right limiting ownership or as
security, until after 31 March of the third year following the year in which the shares in
question were delivered to the Beneficiary.

Treasury shares transferred to these Beneficiaries, corresponding to the incentive and
not to the portion of the shares related to the replaced remuneration as per the
amendment approved on 29 February 2016 by the Board of Directors, are subject to
Acciona’s right to buy them back, a night that can be exercised if the Beneficiary
acquiring the shares ceases his/her professional engagement with Acciona or its Group
before 31 March of the third year following the year when delivery takes place, for
reasons attributable to the Beneficiary.

The Acciona share price to be taken as benchmark to determine the swap equation will

be the closing price on the last day of trading of March of the year when the Board of
Directors determines the allocation of the replacement option.

Shareholders Plan

The Board of Directors, following proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee, with the purpose of facilitating participation in the company’s
shareholdings, approved on 28 February 2017 a new Plan that makes it possible to
redistribute part of the variable and/or fixed money remuneration with the limit of
12,000 euros per year through delivery of shares in the Company in accordance with the
current regulatory framework, which i1s favourable in terms of the fiscal treatment of
this type of plan.

The plan is voluntary and it offers all employees with fiscal residence in Spain the
opportunity of participating in the company’s results by becoming shareholders. This
Plan does not affect executive directors as their relationship is mercantile and not based
on an employment contract. The shares were measured at the closing quotation price on
29 March 2018.

Finally, the number of shares delivered to Beneficiaries other than executive directors
(44 Beneficiaries), under the Plan for D e Sha s, 1



consideration of their dedication and performance in financial year 2018, was 38,742
shares at the fair value of 2,505 thousand euros.

Given that this plan accrues on a three-year basis, one third of the fair values mentioned
above is reflected in “Staff costs” on the accompanying income statement at 31
December. The other two thirds will be recognised on the income statements for
financial years 2019 and 2020.

Finally, in application of the Replacement Plan, 27,112 shares in the Company were
delivered in 2018, at the fair value of 1,673 thousand euros, to 36 executives of Acciona
and its Group, in payment of part of their variable remuneration in cash in 2017.

The Company determined the fair value of the goods and services received by reference
to the fair value of the equity instruments assigned.

The “Plan for delivery to Senior Management” replaced by the plan described in the
paragraphs above established the replacement of shares with stock option rights for
Acciona, S.A. ordinary shares. The options granted one year as part of the Plan could be
exercised, in whole or in part, in one go or more, within the three-year period from (a)
31 March of the third calendar year following the year when they were allocated and (b)
31 March of the third year following the start of the period (the “Exercising Period”™).
The movement in 2018 in the number of options and weighted average of the prices to
exercise the stock options was the following:

Existing at the start of the financial vear 23,721 63.25

Cancelled durine the period

Lansed dunne the peniod (13.786)
Busceplible of being exercised at the end of the 4668 60.90
period

As regards the options existing at the end of the financial year, it should be indicated
that the strike price ranged between 56.21 and 62.84 euros and that the weighted
average of the remaining life of the contract was 0.98 years.

The valuation methodology applied is based on the Enhanced FASB 123 method
(Accounting for Stock Based Compensation), which is in turn based on standard “fair
value” methods of the CRR binomial type with certain modifications. The model
consists in estimating the value of the option by trinomial tree methods and then
adjusting this value by considering that the executive in question may leave the
company during the maturity period, or may exercise the option when the share reaches
a multiple of the strike value, The market inputs applied for valuation purposes are the
closing price of the reference share on the date of issue of the plan and the strike price
established for the exercise of the option, the track record of the reference share in terms
of volatility calculated as the standard deviation from the quotation yields for a period
equal to the duration of the plan and the risk









Auditing services 3755 3.519 542 152
Total audit and related services 4.146 4,655 1,125 1312

Other services 1.881 2,009 S0l RAL

The fees for services provided by the auditing firm KPMG Auditores, S.L. have been
1,725 thousand euros in 2018 (1,483 thousand euros in 2017) for the Group’s financial
statements, 247 thousand euros in 2018 (290 thousand euros in 2017) for assurance
services, and 40 thousand euros in 2018 (61 thousand euros in 2017) for other services.

With regards to the main auditor, “other assurance services” includes mainly hmited
reviews of interim financial statements, services to issue “comfort letters™ related to
securities, and reports on agreed procedures related to compliance with covenants. The
concept of “tax advisory services™ includes mainly fees for advisory services on transfer
pricing, corporate tax and indirect taxation documentation. Finally, “other services”
mainly includes advice on information security, advisory services in the scope of
sustatnability and corporate social responsibility, and information technology and
business consultancy services.

35.- Other disclosures concerning the Board of Directors

Pursuant to Article 229 of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 July, whereby the
consolidated text of the Capital Companies Act was approved, at 31 December 2018,
according to the information available to the Company and notified by Directors and
their related parties, they were not involved in any situations of conflict, whether direct
or indirect, with the Company’s interests.

36.- Trade and other accounts payable

At 31 December 2018, the balance of trade and other payables came to 2,459 million
euros, and to 2,199 million euros in 2017. The increase mainly corresponds to the
increase in suppliers and advances from clients related to works in progress in both the
infrastructure and energy divisions in countries such as Mexico, Chile, the Philippines,
among others.

The amount corresponding to advances from clients recorded at the close of financial

year 2018 and 2017 under this heading amounted to 541
respectively, mainly from the infrastructure division (See Note
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Average period for payment to suppliers

The table below details the information required by Final Provision Two of Act
31/2014, of 3 December, as prepared following application of Resolution dated 29
January 2016 by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute. This information refers
only to Spain, where this regulation is applicable:

Days Days
Paid nnerations ratio 0 14
{thousand euros) Amnnnt Amnnnt
Total payments outstanding (*) 463,357 448,834

(*) In financial year 2017 theve were “outstanding payments” at 31 December 2017 recorded under
“liabilities associated with assets held for sale” for the amount of 56,205 thousand euros.

The “Average period of payment to suppliers” refers to the time that elapses from
delivery of goods or provision of services by a supplier to payment of the operation.

The “Average period of payment to suppliers” is calculated as the quotient whose
numerator is the result of adding the paid operations ratio by the total amount of
payments made to suppliers plus the operations outstanding ratio by the total amount of
payments outstanding and whose denominator is the total amount of payments made
and payments outstanding.

The “Paid operations ratio” is calculated as the quotient whose numerator is the sum of
the products refated to the amounts paid, by the number of payment days (calendar days
elapsed as from the time when the period begins to run up to actual payment of the
operation) and whose denominator is the total amount of payments made.

And the “Unpaid operations ratio” refers to the quotient whose numerator is the sum of
the products related to the amounts outstanding, by the number of payment outstanding
days (calendar days elapsed as from the time when the period begins to run up to the
closing of annual accounts) and whose denominator is the total amount of payments
outstanding.
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ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(CONSOLIDATED GROUP)
DIRECTORS’ REPORT - FINANCIAL YEAR 2018

ACCIONA reports in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) under a corporate structure that comprises three divisions:

* Energy includes the electric business encompassing the promotion of renewable
generation plants, its construction, its O&M and the sale of the energy produced.
All the electricity generated by Acciona Energia is renewable.,

» [nfrastructure:
- Construction: including infrastructure construction and engineering activities.

- Industrial: turn-key projects (EPC) of high technological content mainly for the
construction of generation plants and transmission networks.

- Concessions: including the exploitation of mainly transport and hospital
concessions.

- Water includes the construction of desalination, water and wastewater treatment
plants, as well as integral water services management from bulk water
abstraction all the way to discharging treated wastewater to the environment.
ACCIONA Agua also operates water concessions across the entire water cycle.

- Services include the activities of facility services, airport handling, waste
collection and management and logistic services among others.

= QOther activities include the businesses of Trasmediterranea, Real Estate, Bestinver
(fund manager), wineries and other businesses.

The Alternative Performance Measures or APMs used constantly in this Directors’
Report by Acciona Group are listed and defined below:

EBITDA: is defined as operating income before depreciation and amortisation, that is,
the operating result of the Group. The Company presents the calculation of EBITDA
in the consolidated Profit & Losses account (see Consolidated Income Statement in
point 2 of the Directors' Report). It is calculated by taking the following items of the
consolidated income statement: “net revenue”, “other revenues”, “change in
inventories of finished goods and work in progress”, “procurement”, “personnel
expenses” and “other operating expenses”.

EBT excluding corporate transactions: is defined as earnings before tax excluding those
accounting impacts related to exceptional decisions made by the Group’s management, which
go beyond the usual course of business operative decisions made by the different division’s
top management and are detailed in segment information Note.

Net debt: shows the Group’s debt, in net terms, deducting cash and current financial
assets. The detailed reconciliation 1s broken down in the Cash-flow and Net Financial
Debt Variation section of the Directors’ Report. It is calculated by taking the
following items from the consolidated balance sheet: “non-current interest bearing
borrowings”, “current interest bearing borrow

and “other current financial assets”.

- Pay



Non-recourse debt: as indicated in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, it
corresponds to debt that does not have corporate guarantees, and therefore its recourse
is limited to the debtor’s assets and cash flows.

Recourse debt: debt with a corporate guarantee.

Financial gearing: it shows the relation between the Group’s financial debt and its
equity. It is calculated dividing “net debt” (calculated as explained above) by “equity”.

Backlog: is defined as the pending production, that is to say, contractual amounts or
customer orders after having deducted the amounts already accounted for as income
on the income statement. It is calculated on the basis of orders and contracts awarded
to the Group, deducting the realised portion that is accounted on “net revenue” and
adding or subtracting “other variations”, that corresponds to forex adjustments,
modifications to the initial contracts and other changes to be made to the awarded
backlog.

Net Capex: is defined as the net change in the balance of property, plant &
equipment, intangible, financial and real estate assets during the period, corrected by:

e Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of assets during the period
e Results on disposal of non-current assets
o Forex fluctuations

When dealing with changes in the consolidation perimeter, net capex is defined as
the net outflow/inflow of used/sourced resources in the purchase/sale of net assets.

Operating Cash Flow: represents the ability of assets to generate resources in terms
of net debt. It is obtained as follows:

EBITDA plus/minus change in operating working capital minus net financial cost
plus/minus cash inflow/outflow of capital gains plus income from associates
plus/minus other cash inflow/outflow different from those included in the Net
Investment Cash Flow and from those which constitute remuneration to shareholders.

Net Investment Cash Flow: It is calculated by adding net capex plus/minus the
change in balances of real estate inventories plus/minus the change in payables to
capex providers.

Management uses these APMs to take financial, operational or planning decisions.
They are also used to evaluate the performance of the Group and its subsidiaries.

Management considers these APMs provide useful additional financial information to
evaluate the performance of the Group and its subsidiaries as well as for decision-
making by the users of the financial information.



Executive Summary

Key Highlights of the period:

= ACCIONA generated revenues of €7,510 million during 2018. This represents an
increase of 3.5% compared to 2017.

* EBITDA reached €1,245 million, 2.4% lower than last year. On a like-for-like basis
- excluding the contribution of the assets sold during 2017 and 2018 (Ruta 160, CSP
in Spain, Trasmediterranea and Rodovia do Ago)- EBITDA grew by 9.2%.

* The Energy division increased by 2.4% in terms of EBITDA, despite the effect of
the disposals. Infrastructures’ EBITDA fell by 1.8% while Other Activities reduced
its EBITDA contribution by 30.9%, mainly due to the deconsolidation of
Trasmediterranea after its sale in the second quarter of 2018.

* Energy: on a like-for-like basis (excluding the contribution of the CSP business)
EBITDA grew by 15%. The increase is explained by higher prices, the return to
normalised production levels - after an atypical 2017 -, as well as the contribution
from new capacity. In Spain, the Generation business EBITDA fell by 2.5% after
the sale of CSP assets {+19.2% on like-for-like basis). In turn, the International
Generation business grew by 8.5%.

* Infrastructure: EBITDA for the Infrastructure division decreased by 1.8%, despite
the growth in Construction and Industrial (+10.1%), which maintained high
production levels and margins. The rest of the division reduces its contribution
mainly due to the sale of Ruta 160 and the end of the construction of the
desalination plants in Qatar.

= QOther Activities: Bestinver increased its EBITDA contribution by 3.6% as a result
of an increase in average AUMs. The Real Estate business contributed an EBITDA
of €9 million with the delivery of residential units in the last quarter of the year,
partially compensating the deconsolidation of rental assets. The contribution of
Trasmediterranea fell significantly due to its exit from the group.

* The Gross Capital Expenditure reached €643 million during 2018, plus €83 miilion
of further investment outflow related with capex. Additionally, the Group allocated
a total of €196 million to the Temporary Share Buy-back Programme, and €100
million net in residential development inventories.

= Divestments totalled €1,420 million (mainly as a result of the sale of the CSP
business in Spain, Trasmediterrdnea, and the participation in Testa Residencial).

=  Net debt reached €4,333 million vs. €5,224 million in FY2017. Financial results
were reduced by 8.9% due to a lower average balance and costs. The working
capital investment reached €200 million, significantly lower than in 2017 and
improving the levels accumulated during the first nine months of 2018.

= Attributable net profit grew by 49.0% including the result of corporate transactions
(€109 million) reaching €328 million.















Earnings Before Tax (EBT)

Energy 179 153 26 16,7%
Other activities 63 86 (23) -26.8%

EBT excluding corporate

_1.20
transactions 3n 382 &) 1.2%

TOTAL EBT 509 356 152 42.8%

Note: In the 2018 financial year, the Corperate Unit in charge of the treasury centralising systemt lws generated a finaucial margin
that has been attributed among the various divisions in accordance with financing necessities, aiming to facilitate its year on year
comparison; the nformation by segment of the 2017 financial year has been reformulated.

EBT grew by 42.8% including the result of corporate transactions which reached €132
million. Excluding said results, the EBT fell by 1.2%.

Attributable Net Profit
Attributable net profit reached €328 million vs. €220 million in 2017,
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Industrial backlog

Industrial backlog has increased significantly, worth noting are the construction awards
of a Waste-to-Energy facility in Australia in consortium with ACCIONA Construccion,
and two biomass plants in Spain.

Spain 177 19 n.m. 26%

TOTAL 687 481 42.9% 100%

C. Concessions

Revenues 108 140 (32) -23.1%

Margin (%) 45.1% 39.6%

Concessions revenues and EBITDA fell to €108 million and to €49 million,
respectively; mainly explained by the sale of Ruta 160 at 2017-year end.

Appendix V shows the detail of the concessions portfolio as of 31 December 2017.

D. Water

Revenues 639 682 (42) -6.2%

Margin (%) 17.7% 19.1%

The Water division revenues fell by 6.2% and its EBITDA decreased by 13.1% to €113
million, mainly due to the completion of the two desalination plants in Qatar.

Water Backlog

Water Backlog as of December 2017 stood at €7,858 million, mainly due to the pending
execution backlog from ATLL contract; as a result from its liquidation in the short term
it has not been consider in 2018. D&C Backlog doubled its size, highlighting the award
of three new desalination plants; South Dhahran I and IT in Saudi Arabia and Jabel Ali
in United Arab Emirates.









MATERIAL INFORMATION, DIVIDEND AND SHARE DATA

Significant communications to the stock market

* 26 January 2018: The Company communicates the internal reorganisation
carried out by one of the reference shareholders and the subsistence of the
“Pacto Parasocial de Estabilidad Accionarial”

The family Group of Mr. José Maria Entrecanales de Azcarate, has implemented
an internal reorganization resulting in La Verdosa, S.L. directly owning 5.31%
of ACCIONA in order to rationalize the management of its participation,
updating and simplifying its corporate governance.

The terms of the aforementioned Pacto Parasocial de Estabilidad Accionarial, to
which La Verdosa, S.L. adheres, have not been modified, with each of its
signatories retaining full freedom to vote. Therefore, there is no agreement on
ACCIONA’s management.

* 09 February 2018: ACCIONA reports on the news published in the newspaper
"El Economista" regarding certain energy assets,

In relation to the news published in the newspaper "El Economista”, ACCIONA
informs that it is holding negotiations with ContourGlobal to carry out a
corporate operation related to energy assets, but neither the perimeter, nor the
valuations, nor the other terms and conditions mentioned in the article reflect the
reality of it.

* 22 February 2018: ACCIONA reports on the news published by the media
regarding the Alta Ter-Llobregat (ATLL) water management contract,

Repgarding the news published in the media in relation to the Supreme Court
ruling dismissing the “Generalitat de Catalunya™ and “Sociedad General de
Apguas de Barcelona, S.A.” contentious-administrative appeal against the ruling
of the High Court of Justice of Catalonia dated 22 June 2015, confirming the
annulment of the award of the Alta Ter-Llobregat water management agreement
already decreed by the High Court of Justice of Catalonia, ACCIONA informs
that its appeal, based on grounds other than those portrayed on these appeals, has
not yet been resolved. Therefore, no Sentence has been given regarding this
matter

Once the Sentence is given, ACCIONA will analyse the grounds for its decision
and will determine the appropriate legal and/or judicial actions.

In any case, it should be recalled that, in accordance with Art. 56 related to the
public tender and decision of the Regional Departments of Economy &
Knowledge and Territory and Sustainability of the “Generalitat de Catalunya”
dated 5 July 2013, “ATLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya” is
obliged to continue providing services until the compensation set on the terms of
reference and on the Consolidated Text of the Public Contract Law is paid and
until the minutes in relation to the return of the assets and rights linked to the
public service are signed.



* 27 February 2018: ACCIONA announces the disposal of five thermosolar plants
in Spain
- ACCIONA ENERGIA, S.A. has reached an agreement with Contourglobal

Mirror 2, S.A.R.L., a subsidiary of ContourGlobal plc, for the sale of its 100%
stake in ACCIONA TERMOSOLAR S.L., owner of five thermosolar plants in

Spain, including its evacuation assets, with a total installed capacity of
249. 8MW.

The agreement implies an enterprise value for 100% of ACCIONA
TERMOSOLAR, S.L. of €1,093m. Additionally, the parties have agreed an
earn-out of up to €27m.

The transaction is subject to the fulfilment of two precedent conditions including
(i} approval from the Spanish Competition Authorities (ii} and approval in AGM
from ContourGlobal plc.

= 28 February 2018: ACCIONA reports on the sentence related to the Ter-
Llobregat water supply service management agreement

The Supreme Court’s judgement has rejected the contentious-administrative
appeals made by “ATLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya” and
ACCIONA Agua against the Judgement rendered by the Superior Justice Court
of Catalonia on 22nd June 2015, thus confirming the nullity of the assignment of
the Ter-Llobregat water supply service management agreement ordered by the
Superior Justice Court of Catalonia.

“ATLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya” and ACCIONA Agua are
reviewing the Grounds of this Ruling to determine the legal and/or judicial
actions to be adopted.

“ATLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya” shall continue rendering
the service until the compensation amount provided by the “Pliego de
Condiciones de la licitacion™ and the “Texto Refundido de la Ley de Contratos
del Sector Publico” is duly paid and the deed returning the rights and goods
attached to the public service is signed.

* 01 March 2018: ACCIONA announces the temporary suspension of the
Liguidity Contract

ACCIONA reports on the temporary suspension of the Liquidity Contract,
signed and dated 10th July 2017 with Bestinver Sociedad de Valores, S.A., for
the management of its treasury stock, to enable the purchase in the market by
ACCIONA, S.A. of up to 150,000 shares of ACCIONA, S.A., representing
0.262% of the share capital during a period of approximately 10 trading days.
The acquired shares will be used to execute the Share Delivery Plan for
managers and employees.

» (7 March 2018: ACCIONA announces the recommencement of the Liquidity
Contract

ACCIONA has acquired, through a discretionary transaction with own shares, a
total of 150,000 company shares, representing a 0.262% of the share capital at
an average unit price of €65.77 " -



- Likewise, once the reported operation has been completed, the Company reports
the recommencement of operations under the Liquidity Contract signed and
dated 10 July 2017 with Bestinver Sociedad de Valores, S.A., for the
management of its treasury stock.

= 27 March 2018: ACCIONA reports on the implementation of a time-scheduled
Buy-back programme, stabilisation and treasury stock; and the temporary
suspension of the Liquidity Contract

- The Company’s Board of Directors has agreed to implement a time-scheduled
buy-back programme over its own shares.

- The Buy-back Programme will cover a maximum of 2,862,978 shares,
representing, approximately, 5% of the Company’s share capital and its
maximum monetary amount is €233,332,707.

- ACCIONA confirms that the main purpose of the time-scheduled Buy-back
Programme over its own shares is the reduction of capital through the
amortisation of shares.

* 20 April 2018: ACCIONA officially announces and submits the proposal of the
Annual General Meeting

- ACCIONA S.A's Board of Directors has convened the Annual General
Shareholders Meeting for 29 May 2018 on first call and 30 May 2018 on second
call (expecting it to be held on second call).

* 24 May 2018: ACCIONA officially reports the fulfilment of the suspensive
clause for the sale of its participation in Compaiiia Transmediterranea, S.A.

- ACCIONA reports the fulfilment of the precedent condition regarding the
clearance from the Spanish Antitrust Authorities for the sale of the totality of its
participation (92.71% of the corporate capital} in Compafiia Trasmediterranea,
S.A to Grupo Naviera Armas.

= 30 May 2018: Annual General Meeting — Approval of Agreements

At the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting held, on second call, on the 30 May
2018, the following agreements, among others, were adopted:

1) To approve the individualised annual accounts of ACCIONA, S.A. for 2017, as
well as the consolidated annual accounts of the corporate for the same period.

2} To approve the management of the Board of Directors, managers and attorneys
of the Company during 2017, as well as the management reports for 2017
presented by the Board of Directors.

3) To approve the allocation of the results of the 2017 financial year set out in the
approved annual accounts. The payment of dividends for a gross amount of
€3.00 per share will be paid on 2 July 2018.

4} To re-clect Mr. José Manuel Entrecanales Domecq and Mr. Juan Ignacio
Entrecanales Franco as Executive Directors; Mr. Javier Entrecanales Franco and
Mr. Daniel Entrecanales Domecq as Proprietary External Directors; Ms. Ana
Sainz de Vicuiia Bemberg as Independent External Director. To appoint Mr.
Javier Sendagorta Gomez del Campillo and Mr. José Maria Pacheco Guardiola
as Independent External Directors. (All of them for the statutory mandate
period).



5} To increase the maximum number of shares available under the 2014 Share and
Performance Share Delivery Plan by 100,000 shares, notwithstanding
subsequent increases if proposed by the Board of Directors and approved by the
General Meeting of Shareholders.

0)
a)

b}

To reduce the share capital of ACCIONA, S.A. by the amount resulting from
the sum of the aggregate nominal value, with the maximum of 2,862,978
euros (the “Maximum Limit”), of own shares, each with a face value of one
euro, that are acquired for redemption via the Buy-back Programme of up to
2,862,978 own shares that will be in force until 27 March 2019 at the latest,
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 February 2018 As a result, the
maximum figure of the capital reduction will be 2,862,978 euros, by means
of the redemption of a maximum of 2,862,978 own shares, each with a face
value of one euro, representing a maximum of 5% of the share capital at the
time the resolution is adopted. The definitive figure of the capital reduction
will be set by the Company’s Board of Directors depending on the final
number of shares acquired under the Buy-back Programme, provided that it
does not exceed the above-mentioned Maximum Limit and excluding the
shares that are aimed at covering the delivery plans for executive directors,
managers and employees of the Group. The capital reduction will not entail
the refund of contributions to shareholders provided that it w  be charged
against unrestricted reserves and that the Company will be the owner of the
redeemed shares at the moment of the execution.

To delegate to the Board of Directors, with the express power of sub-
delegation or substitution, so that, within a term of no more than one month
as of termination of the Buy-back Programme and, in any case, within the
year following the date of adoption of this agreement it can execute this
resolution, determining those aspects that have not been expressly
established in this resolution or that are a result of the same, and adopt the
resolutions, take the action and execute the public or private documents
necessary or appropriate for the fullest execution of this resolution, in
particular, but not limited to, delegating the following powers to the Board of
Directors, with the express power of sub-delegation or substitution:

(i) Set the final figure of the Capital Reduction in accordance with the
terms of this resolution and establish any circumstances necessary in this
regard, all in accordance with the conditions indicated above.

(ii) Declare the Capital Reduction closed and executed setting, in this
regard, the final number of shares to be redeemed and, as such, the
amount by which the share capital of the Company should be reduced
according to the rules established in this resolution.

(iii) Draft a new wording for the article of the by-laws that sets the share
capital so that it reflects the capital figure and number of shares in
circulation due to the execution of the Capital Reduction.

(iv) Perform the formalities and actions necessary and present any
documents required by the competent bodies so that, once the Company
shares have been redeemed and the corresponding Capital Reduction
deed has been executed and recorded at the Commercial Registry, the
redeemed shares are deliste markets, via the



Securities Market Interconnection System (Continuous Market) and the
cancellation of the corresponding book entries by IBERCLEAR.

(v) Publish those announcements that are legally required and make any
applications and communications as appropriate and take any steps
necessary or appropriate to execute and formalise the Capital Reduction
before any public or private entities and bodies, Spanish or foreign,
inciuding the declaration, supplementation or remedy of defects or
omissions that could prevent or hinder the full effect of the above
resolutions.

7) To approve the amendment of articles 21 (Venue and time for holding the
General Meeting. Extension of meetings) and 18 (Location of the General
Meeting) in the terms of the proposed resolution placed at the disposal of the
shareholders.

8) To approve, on a consultative basis, the Annual Report on Remuneration of
Directors for the 2017 financial year.

9) To approve the 2017 Sustainability Report.

10) To authorise the announcement of Extraordinary General Meetings of the
Company with a minimum of fifteen (15) days’ notice, pursuant to article 515 of
the Spanish Companies Act.

11) To delegate to the Board of Directors the broadest powers of implementation,
interpretation, remedy and execution of the resolutions adopted by this General
Meeting, with the express authorisation for the powers to be exercised by the
Directors or the Secretary designated by the Board of Directors.

Thus, among other actions, such persons are empowered so that any of them,
acting jointly and severally, can:

- Restate the current texts of the By-laws and the Regulations of the
General Meeting,.
- Remedy any defects in the formalisation of the resolutions adopted by the
General Meeting in the sense indicated by the verbal or written
classification from the Commercial Registry.
= 30 May 2018: ACCIONA announces Dividend Payment

- ACCIONA reports on the distribution of a €3/share gross dividend to be paid on
the 2nd July 2018. The pertinent tax withholding, in its case, shall be deducted
form said amount.

* 30 May 2018: ACCIONA reports on the renewal of the Board of Directors and
its various committees

- ACCIONA issues a report on the renewal of the composition of the Board of
Directors and of its different Committees:

¢ Chairman: Mr. José Manuel Entrecanales Domecq as executive director

e Vice Chairman: Mr. Juan Ignacio Entrecanales Franco as executive
director

e Lead Independent Director: Mr. Juan Carlos Garay Ibargaray as
independent external director

e Director: Mr. Daniel Entrecanales Domecq as proprietary external
director

e Director: Mr. Javier Entr¢



¢ Director: Ms. Belén Villalonga Morenes as independent external director
e Director: Mr. Jerénimo Marcos Gerard Rivero as independent external

director

e Director: Ms. Ms. Ana Sainz de Vicuiia Bemberg as independent external
director

e Director: Ms. Karen Christina Figueres Olsen as independent external
director

e Director: Mr. Javier Sendagorta Gomez del Campillo as independent
external director.

¢ Director: Mr. José Maria Pacheco Guardicla as independent external
director

- Likewise, the Board of Directors has adopted the following resolutions:

1) To delegate to the re-elected directors, Mr. José Manuel Entrecanales Domecq,
Chairman of the Board and Mr. Juan Ignacio Entrecanales Franco, Vice
Chairman of the Board, all the legal and statutorily delegable powers, which will
be exercised individually as Managing Directors, except those that cannot be
delegated by law.

2) To set the number required for the members of the Board’s Committees in three.

3) During the last five years, the annual agenda of the Board of Directors has
permitted it to implement all of its functions, without having to convene and
meet its Executive Committee, who has not met since July 2013 and, thus,
considers it unnecessary to renew the Board's Executive Committee.

4) To renew the remaining Board's Committees, which composition is as follows:

- Audit Committee:

e Mr. Juan Carlos Garay Ibargaray: Chairman

¢ Ms. Ana Sainz de Vicufia Bemberg: Member
e Ms. Karen Christina Figueres Olsen: Member

- Appointments and Remuneration Committee:

e Mr. Juan Carlos Garay Ibargaray: Chairman

e Mr. Javier Sendagorta Gomez del Campillo: Member
e Mr. Jeronimo Marcos Gerard Rivero: Member

- Sustainability Commuittee:
e Mr. Daniel Entrecanales Domecq: Chairman
e Mr. Javier Entrecanales Franco: Member
e Mr. José Maria Pacheco Guardiola: Member
* 12 June 2018: ACCIONA reports on the composition of other management and
control bodies

-  ACCIONA informs about the composition of the Board’s E
after the changes in the group’s management.
- The Board’s Executive Committee is made up of:
- the Executive Directors:
e Mr. José Manuel Entrecanales Domecq: Chairman,
e Mr. Juan Ignacio Entrecanales Franco: Vice Chairma

- and the following Directors:
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Mr, Alfonso Callejo Martinez,

Ms. Macarena Carrién Lépez de la Garma,
Mr. Luis Castilla Camara,

Ms. Arantza Ezpeleta Puras,

Mr. Rafael Mateo Alcala,

Mr. Joaquin Mollinedo Chocano,

Mr. Juan Muro-Lara Girod,

Mr. José Angel Tejero Santos,

Mr. Jorge Vega-Penichet Lopez.

* 11 July 2018: ACCIONA reports on the transactions of the Liquidity Contract
for periods ranging from 11/04/2018 and 10/07/2018

On March 27 2018, the Liquidity Contract was temporarily suspended to enable
the initiation of the operational phase under the temporary Buy-Back
Programme.

* (8 October 2018: ACCIONA reports that it has accepted the offer to sell the
totality of its participation in Testa Residencial SOCIMI S.A.

ACCIONA Real Estate, S.A. has accepted the offer made by Blackstone Group
International Partners LLP, on behalf of Tropic Real Estate Holdings S.L., (the
Buyer) for the sale of the entirety of its shares in Testa Residencial SOCIMI
S.A., (Testa) for an approximate price of €14.3267/share, which equals a total
price of €378,999,095.

The transaction, which is pending formalisation, will be subject to the precedent
condition that the Buyer acquires at least a 50.01% of the share capital of Testa
and that the take-over of control by the Buyer is approved by the antitrust
authorities.

* 11 October 2018: ACCIONA reports on the transactions of the Liquidity
Contract for periods ranging from 11/07/2018 and 10/10/2018, inclusive

On September 25th 2018 (Significant Communication 269902) the operational
phase under the Liquidity Contract was reactivated after its temporary
suspension under the Buy-Back Programme.

= 18 October 2018: ACCIONA reports on the water services contract in Alta Ter-
Llobregat

ACCIONA confirms that the expert reports obtained ad cautelam determine the
liquidation of the “contrato de gestion del servicio de abastecimiento de agua en
alta Ter-Llobregat” in approximately €305m according to Clause 9.12 and
€769m the amount of damages.

The total compensation owed by the Generalitat would amount to approximately
€1,074m, without considering the deduction of the provisions for the ordinary
liquidation of the contract (approximately €38m).

ACCIONA holds a 76.05% shareholding in ATLL Concessionaria de la
Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. concessionaire of this contract.



* 29 October 2018: ACCIONA reports on the reactivation of the Liquidity
Contract

ACCIONA reactivates the Liquidity Contract signed with Bestinver Sociedad de
Valores, S.A. for the management of its treasury stock. The operation through
the Liquidity Contract will take effect as of today

* 15 November 2018: ACCIONA reports on the approval of the Audit Committee
Regulation

As of this date, the Board of Directors of the Company has approved the
regulations of the Audit Committee, in order to favour the independence of the
Committee and determine, separately, the principles of action and its internal
operational.

The Regulation has been prepared considering the recommendations of good
governance and the technical guidelines of the CNMV on Audit Committees of
public interest entities.

In addition, and following the recommendations of the aforementioned technical
guidelines, the Board of Directors has approved the modification of the Board of
Director’s Regulations in order to channel, through the Secretary of the Board
and the Committees, any resources required so that the Committees can fulfil
their mission, in addition to foreseeing the possibility that the Committees have
their own regulation.

* On several dates from 9 April to 29 October: ACCIONA reports on the
operations carried out over its own shares under the Buy-Back Programme

As a result of the Significant Communication Information published on 27
March 2018 in which ACCIONA informs of the establishment of a temporary
share Buy-back Program, the Group reports on a weekly basis on the treasury
share transactions carried out within the framework of the Buy-back Programme
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Events after the reporting period

As discussed in Note 17 to these consolidated financial statements, on 16 January 2019
the Group submitted, within the term granted, allegations requiring the procedure to
evict the facilities to be terminated insofar as ATLL Concessiondria de la Generalitat de
Catalunya, S.A. was not legally or contractually obliged to return the facilities and cease
to effectively provide the service, until the corresponding compensation from the
Generalitat has been paid.

Likewise, on 6 and 12 February 2019, the appeals filed in response to the concession
asset eviction and return requirements for the assets under the Group’s control and
allowing the service to be provided were rejected by the HCIC. Therefore, the Group
has submitted a written request to the Generalitat on 13 February 2019 to formalise the
delivery of the assets subject to the provision of the service, and to continue as promptly
and efficiently as possible, with the contract liquidation procedure, all in accordance
with the terms and conditions included therein. However, as established in Article 56 of
the Tender Specifications and the joint decision of the Regional Departments of
Economy & Knowledge and Territory and Sustainability of the Generalitat de
Catalunya, the Group shall continue to provide the concession services until the
compensation set out in the Tender Specifications and in the Consolidated Text of the
Public Contract Law is paid and until the minutes in relation to the return of the assets
and rights linked to the public service are signed. On the assumption that the Group
ceases to provide the service, without receiving the corresponding compensation, all
appropriate legal and administrative procedures will be initiated, to claim the relevant
contractual amount corresponding to the liquidation of such concession from the
Generalitat.
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Main Risks associated with the ACCIONA Group’s business activities

The risk scenarios considered in the Acciona Risk Management System have been
classified into four groups: financial, strategic, operational and unpredictable, with the
first two groups identified by the Group’s executives as those presenting a higher risk
profile.

1. Financial and Economic Risks:

Mainly fluctuations in exchange rates, interest rates and financial markets, liquidity,
cash flow, late payment or loss of clients,

In order to mitigate the exchange rate risk, Acciona engages currency derivatives
(mainly exchange-rate hedging instruments) to cover significant future transactions and
cash flows in line with the tolerated risk thresholds. Note 19 to the financial statements
for 2018 includes detail of current and non-current assets and liabilities and of net
equity at 31 December 2018 in the main currencies in which the Group operates.

Interest rate risk is particularly material with regard to the funding of infrastructure
projects, in concession contracts, in the construction of wind farms or solar plants and
other projects v ere the variation in interest rates may have a strong impact on their
profitability. It is mitigated by hedging transactions through the engagement of
derivatives. (Mainly Interest Rate Swaps, IRS).

As regards credit and liquidity risks, the Group negotiates operations exclusively with
solvent third parties and requires sufficient assurances to mitigate the risk of financial
losses in the event of any default.

Together with a suitable level of reserves, it also constantly monitors the forecasts and
the current levels of cash flows to match these against the maturity profiles for financial
assets and liabilities.

2. Strategic Risks:

They are risks that have the consequences of reducing the growth of the company and
failing to meet the objectives due to inability to respond to a dynamic and competitive
environment. These risks include organisational changes, investments and divestments,
threats from competitors, economic, political and legal changes, and the impact of new
technologies or research and development.

Acciona minimises this type of risk through its own strategy and business model by
applying adequate sectoral and geographic diversification of its businesses; the
performance of exhaustive market research, surveys of competitors and the countries in
which its activities are carried out; as well as through the encouragement of Research
and Development.

Risks denived from conduct that is contrary to ethics and integrity. The markets in
which Acciona operates could be exposed to risks of an ethical nature that go against
the principles of integrity and respect in existi~- '--*-'"-<"-- * -7~ - Hut in nlace a
Code of Conduct which establishes the ba ents wat all



directors and employees of the divisions as well as suppliers and third parties in contact
with these companies must fulfil and respect when carrying out their activities. There is
a whistle blowing channel, communicated at all levels of the Organisation, to enable
information to be passed on, with guarantees of confidentiality, regarding any irregular
conduct relating to accounting, supervision and auditing as well as any other non-
compliance or breach of the behaviour promulgated in the Code.

3. Operational Risks:

They are risks conceming processes, people and products. They are related to
regulatory, legal and contractual compliance, control systems and procedures, the
supply chain, auxiliary services, information systems, employee productivity and the
loss of key personnel.

In each business area, specific systems are established to cover all the business
requirements, to systematise and document processes, and to manage quality,
operations, planning and financial control.

In order to mitigate the risks in the procurement process, controls have been established
to favour free competition and transparency in the processes and to avoid violating
Acciona’s commitment to ethical behaviour in these processes. Acciona mitigates the
main risks in its supply chain related to economic, environmental and labour matters by
carrying out a thorough analysis of its critical suppliers.

4. Unforeseeable Risks:

They are risks related to damage caused to company assets and civil liability risks that
could negatively impact the company’s performance, including criminal acts of a cyber
nature,

Acciona has a Corporate Management System for Environmental Crises. This system
includes measures to be followed and the allocation of responsibilities and resources
necessary for the adequate management of a crisis situation following any incident
occurring at facilities owned or operated by the Company and leading to consequences
for the environment.

In addition, social, environmental and governance risks are identified and assessed so
that Acciona can improve its sustainability performance, improve its response to
multiple scenarios and changing environments, and improve confidence among its
stakeholders.

By using a risk assessment methodology, Acciona evaluates the risks related to climate
change, the environment, social and labour aspects, governance and corruption, for each
of the businesses where the company operates, based on the probability, economic-
financial consequences and impact on the company’s reputation.

As regards the tax risks faced by the Group, these are basically procedures,
communication with business areas that may lead to an inadequate technical analysis,
changes in tax regulations or administrati T o wel s the
reputational risk arising from tax decisio image an



reputation. Acciona has defined a tax risk management policy for such issues which is
based on a suitable control environment, a risk identification system, and a continuous
monitoring and improvement process on the effectiveness of the established controls.

Acciona established a Crime Prevention and Anti-Corruption Model following the
reform of the Spanish Penal Code.

A Criminal Risk Map was developed during 2018 with the aim of fully integrating the
regulatory control system and so that the controls introduced are perfectly aligned and
audited.

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

1. Business model

ACCIONA is a global company with a business model based on sustainability. Its aim
is to respond to society’s main needs through the provision of renewable energy,
infrastructure, water and services.

ACCIONA carries out its business activities in over 40 countries around the world, and
is firmly committed to contributing to the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals in all the regions in which it operates.

The sustainability strategies adopted by ACCIONA are outlined on its Sustainability
Master Plan, a roadmap that integrates all the company’s initiatives in this field.
ACCIONA'’s goal is to lead the transition towards a low-carbon economy. In order to
accomplish this goal, all its projects follow quality guidelines and innovative processes
designed to optimise the use of resources and to preserve the environment. The
company has been a carbon neutral company since 2016, and offsets all the CO;
emissions that it has been unable to reduce.

ACCIONA 1s listed on several selective sustainability indexes and rankings, such as
FTSE4Good, CDP Water Security A List 2018, and the 2019 Global 100 Most
Sustainable Corporations in the World, among others.

Since 2009, sustainability-related actions and undertakings as well as the objectives in
the field of sustainability are promoted by the Board of Directors’® Sustainability
Committee®. In addition, a member of the Management Committee is in charge of
sustainability matters.

ACCIONA carries out a materiality analysis every year in order to maintain a
continuous monitoring approach for new trends and challenges in sustainability matters.
This analysis examines more deeply the social, environmental, and corporate
governance aspects that are relevant to the business, which allows accountability to be
brought into focus. In order to accomplish this, the issues relevant to each of
ACCIONA's main lines of business (Energy, Infrastructure, Bestinver, ACCIONA

2 The functions, powers and members af the Sustainability Commitiee are available on the web:
hitps:/iwww.acciona.com/shareholders-investors/corporate-governance

3 The tatest edition of the materiality analysis is available in the Sustair
alongside the Integrated Report for the Company’s General Shareholde
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Inmobiliaria and Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894) were identified and prioritised, together
with their impact along the entire value chain.

As part of its risk management evaluation strategies, ACCIONA monitors the potential
impact of climate change, environmental, social and labour issues, ethics, and
governance on its different business lines, for all the markets where it operates.

The Company’s Policy Book® reflects the commitments and guiding principles in
economic, social, environmental, and governance matters. This document was approved
by the Sustainability Committee of the Board of Directors in 2013, and it was updated
in 2018. These policies apply to all the Group’s companies.

ACCIONA deploys its sustainability strategy through the Sustainability Master Plan
(SMP). With a time frame up to 2020, the SMP’® is structured in strategic and
operational objectives, applicable to the whole organisation, with specifications for the
different business lines, within the following areas:

= Society: social impact management, dialogue and leadership, social action
and volunteering.

» Climate Change: carbon neutrality, climate risks and training.

* Environment: eco-efficiency in operations, sustainable water management,
biodiversity.

= Corporate Governance: ethics, human rights, corporate governance, risk
management and transparency.

» People: health and safety, development and incentives, diversity and
inclusion, and training.

* Value Chain: sustainable management of the supply chain, partners, and
clients.

» Innovation: being at the forefront in the field of collaborative innovation and
operational innovation.

The Sustainability Corporate Division coordinates and promotes the SMP 2020
initiatives and goals. These are then converted into specific objectives for each one of
ACCIONA’s business lines. Each division has designated managers who are held
responsible for promoting and following up on the initiatives set out in the SMP.

The degree of implementation of the company’s sustainability strategies and compliance
with the related commitments is tied to a percentage of the variable remuneration
amounts awarded to directors, managers, and a portion of the technical and support
staff. Sustainability objectives such as carbon neutrality, social impact management,
workplace accident frequency rate reduction, and gender ~mmalitu nhiactivac arae
measured during yearly evaluations.

4 The Policy Book is available on the website; ittps./fwww. acciona.com/shareholders-investors/corporaie-govertianee/corporate-
alicies-hook/
5 smp 2020 Objectives are available on the website: hitp://smp2020.acciona.com/
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As required by Law 11/2018° of 28 December on non-financial information and
diversity’, this report includes all significant information, both individually and on a
consolidated basis, for all Group companies.

This report was designed following the standards set by the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI), an international reference framework for sustainability reports. Standard
reporting practices have been followed for any indicators that are not listed as part of
this document.

Detailed information

Each year, ACCIONA provides comprehensive statements of its sustainability
commitments, practices, and performance, both as part of its Sustainability Report and
its Integrated Report. These are then made publicly available on the corporate website
for each Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting (http://www.acciona.com).

2. Information regarding environmental issues

The company bases its business model on the development of sustainable solutions.
Among the challenges presented by this goal, recent activities have been centred on
lowering the energy sector’s carbon reliance in order to mitigate climate change, the
design, construction, and operation of resilient infrastructures, and to lower the water
stress affecting large portions of the planet. The Group’s operations follow the
prevention principle as the main strategy to lower the impact caused by any industrial
operation, especially when it concerns integrated environmental, water, and climate risk
management, the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, the promotion of a circular
economy, and the preservation of biodiversity.

Environmental protection practices are included in the Code of Conduct and developed
through four main acting policies, which cover the main operational risks:
Environmental Policy, Climate Change Policy, Water Policy and Biodiversity Policy.

These four policies are integrated in the SMP 2020, which develops specific annual
commitments regarding the main issued affecting the environment today: reducing and
compensating greenhouse gas emissions, drafting risk management plans to face the
effects of climate change, implementing these plans as part of business strategies,
designing maps and risk management strategies to safeguard the environment and water
sources, improving the management of water resources, and objectives to support a
circular economy and to preserve biodiversity.

During the 2016 Paris Climate Summit, ACCIONA made the commitment to become a
carbon neutral company. Since then, it has taken the necessary steps to inctude this goal
as part of its SMP 2020. It has developed an Emission Offset Model that voluntarily
offsets 100% of the emissions that it has not been able to reduce.

© The subsidiaries and companies that meet the requirements provided in article 49.5 of the Code of Commerce are; ACCIONA
Facility Services, S.A.. ACCIONA Energia, S.A., ACCIONA Construccién. S.A.. ACCIONA Aeua S.4.. ACCIONA Medioambiente,
S.4., ACCIONA Servicios Urbanos S.1.,

7 Issues relating to the diversity of the Board of Directors are includea ort.
Inrps Aawi ecciona comshareholders-imvestorsicorporate-governanc

-F



In order to enact this plan, the Group’s calculation of its carbon emissions are externally
verified. The cost of the compensation is then incorporated as a direct expenditure on
cach one of the company’s businesses. In this way, the consideration of an internal
carbon price, in addition to being included as a probable risk in the valuation of future
investments, constitutes for ACCIONA a real cost to be taken into account in the
operation.

ACCIONA’s environmental management model is based on the principles of improving
environmental performance, and it establishes a common action framework for all
company divisions. This model involves considering environmental aspects from the
perspective of an entire life cycle, identifying the risks and opportunities in all processes
to ensure improvement and the planned results. This improvement philosophy is firmly
rooted in all business divisions, all of which establish environmental objectives on a
yearly basis, taking as a reference the objectives included in the SMP and management
systems.

The company’s environmental management systems are certified under various
international standards. For example, during 2018, 90% of ACCIONA’s business was
certified by ISO 14001. This included 100% of the marketing and sale of renewable
energy with guarantees of origin accredited by the National Commission on Markets
and Competition (CNMC in Spanish}, and 100% of the construction activity in several
countries (Spain, Chile, Brazil, Mexico, Colombia, Canada, etc.).

During 2018, ACCIONA’s environmental risk prevention and mitigation activities have
been valued at 3.242 billion euros, out of which 83 million euros came directly from
managing (prevention, reduction, or correction) the environmental impacts generated by
the Company. Furthermore, during 2018, the Company had employed a total of 239
professionals with responsibility on the environmental issues.

Environmental risk management is regulated by the Corporate Standard for
Environmental Risk Management and associated Procedures (Environmental
Responsibility, Climate Change and Water Resources). This standard details the process
used to identify, value, prioritise, and disseminate the information regarding the
potential environmental events that could impact the company, as well as the company’s
potential effects on the environment. This is the bases for developing response
procedures and tolerance thresholds. During 2018, 101 significant risks were identified,
and specific mitigation strategies were designed for each one of them. In addition, the
company has procedural mechanisms to manage risks, with the aim of addressing risks
that have tumed into environmental crises. These have been incorporated into the
Corporate Crisis Management Standard.

In addition, in order to support risk management practices at the business level, a top-
down analysis of global scenarios, risks, and opportunities related to climate change and
water resources has been developed.

* ACCIONA has identified 110 environmental risks and 22 opportunities related
to climate change. Approximately 10% of the Group’s economic activities are
exposed to high risks due to climate chanee. The husiness line with the largest
amount of opportunities 1s ACC cally . he



business lines have available opportunities related from the increasing need to
mitigate and adapt to climate change.

» For water resources, 91 vulnerabilities for ACCIONA have been identified. The
main risks lie in competition for water resources, variations in precipitation
patterns, flooding, and severe storms. Opportunities are centred on ACCIONA
Agua’s activities in countries in Central America, South America, Africa, the
Middle East and South Asia.

Provisions for probable or certain liability, litigation in process and outstanding
environmental indemnity payments or obligations of an unspecified amount, not
covered by the insurance policies taken out, are recorded when the liability or obligation
giving rise to the indemnity or payment arises. Further information is provided in
section 4.2.R (incidental environmental activities) and section 17 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Emissions

The Company’s environmental management systems identify, evaluate, and minimise
the possible negative impact of carbon emissions and other atmospheric emissions, as
well as noise and light pollution.

As a result of ACCIONA’s electricity generation activities based on renewable
resources, the company has prevented the emission of 12,534 tonnes of NOy, 51,022
tons of SOy and 357 tonnes of PMg particles during 2018. These emissions all impact
people’s health. Therefore, by avoiding them, savings in healthcare have been achieved.

ACCIONA Energy, as part of its environmental management and control practices,
includes the impact of noise pollution for its operations, both during the design phase
and during normal operations for all technology types. During the design phase, the
focus is to prevent any risks caused by noise. During the operational phase, the focus
shifts to implementing the relevant applicable standards and to implementing
technological improvements that can reduce noise levels, especially in sensitive areas.

In ACCIONA Infrastructure, the shared motorbike service ACCIONA Mobility has
reduced noise pollution levels in urban settings. The decibel levels created are
calculated to be 16% lower than those caused by standard motorbikes.

The evolution of NOyx SOy, PM 1o, Ss emissions generated has been as follows:

NU,” {tonnes) .00 12,498 14,083 1,76/

PM p™™* (tonnes) 641 795 953 76

Historical data includes Trasmediterrdnea activities, which was separated from the ACCIONA Group in 2018, and those of 2

centres, the represenialive consumption of which are no longer under ACCIONA s management, as per the existing agreements for
energy management responsibilities and the criteria used to awnribute emissions of publicly-owned facilities, consolidated under
Sfinancial control schemes according to the GHG Protocol: Corporate,”  * 7 "7 =" 7 - T ons

* If emissions by Trasmediterranea and the 2 aforementioned centres . 15); 1,299 (2016}
and 1,602 (2017)



** [f emissions by Trasmediterrdnea and the 2 aforementioned centres are subfracted, the figures would be 53 (2015); 140 (2016}
and 186 (20117)

*** ff emissions by Trasmediterranea and the 2 aforementioned centres are subtracted, the figures would be 52 (2015); 37 (2016)
and 80 (2017)

- Carbon neutrality

Due to ACCIONA’s electricity generation activities being 100% from renewable
sources, ACCIONA has prevented the emission of over 14,7 million tonnes of CO: to
the atmosphere in 2018.

At the Paris Climate Summit, ACCIONA made a firm commitment to become a carbon
neutral company as part of its efforts to mitigate climate change. Because of this,
starting in 2016 all greenhouse gas emissions that the company has not been able to
reduce are offset by purchasing certified carbon credits.

As outlined on the SMP 2020, ACCIONA has set specific targets for science-based
emission reduction, validated by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi). The goal
is to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 16% by 2030 based on 2017 levels, both for
the company itself and throughout the supply chain. During 2018, greenhouse gas
emissions were reduced by 7% compared to those of the previous year. The annual
objective was to reduce them by 1.23%.

Evolution of CO;e emissions®;

SCOpE 1 BUL S 115,403 124,000 131,052

‘Total 156,68% 345,585 470,256 437,614

* Historical COse data were recalculated {according 10 the GHG Protocol) as Trasmediterrdnea was separated from the ACCIONA
Group in 2018, and the activities of 2 centres are removed, the representative consumption of which are no longer under
ACCIONA’s management, as per the existing agreements for energy management responsibilities and the criteria used to attribute
emissions of publicly-owned facilities, consolidated under financial control schemes according to the GHG Proiocol: Corporate
Standard for U.S. Public Sector Organizations.

- Climate change adaptation

With regards to climate adaptation, each business line developed its own Specific
Climate Change Adaptation and Risk Management Plan during 2018. In order to
support the development of these plans, the 2018 Dossier of Global Measures for
Adaptation to Climate Change was drafted. This document puts forward 71 adaptation
solutions, of which at least 25 are already being incorporated in the business lines. The
dossier encompasses measures for water management, the adoption of new materials,
design modifications, and the use of climate monitoring systems.

Circular economy. waste management and prevention

One of ACCIONA’s objectives is to advance its circular economy programme. As part
of the Waste Management Plan 2016-2020 for the promotion of the Circular Economy,
the company set a goal of to recover 50% of all waste generated by 2020 and to reduce

8 4t the date this report was prepared, a renewable energy certification acg:
greenhouse gas emissions. These certificates will ensure that ACCIONA wili
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10% of its total waste created when compared to 2015 levels. During 2018, the
company has recovered approximately 58% of the waste generated.

Evolution of waste management and production®:

Non-hazardous waste (tonnes} 3,909,870 12,590,645 12,118,376 9,602,772

Kecovery of the tolal waste (%) 35% 3% 43% 58%

ACCIONA believes that life cycle analysis (LCA) is a useful tool when aiming to move
towards a circular economy. The Company has a portfolio of 56 LCA and 6
environmental product declarations (EPD) in the energy and infrastructure sector, 3 of
which were launched in 2018. They outline the standardised environmental impact of
the company’s products and services.

Sustainable use of resources

ACCIONA has tmplemented new ways to optimise the use of materials and sustainable
materials, prioritising those that are re-used such as recycled aggregate; the use of
renewable materials such as FSC certified wood and biomass; the efficient use of
resources with the best available technologies; and the use of advanced materials such
as composites, which minimise the amount of raw materials used.

Evolution of resource consumption:

b
I'otal resnurces (tonnes) 7954 A9 17 11X 291} % 940978 17 4t s9y

Kecycled or renewable resources ™ (%) 18% 13% 20% 29%

*Recyeled or renewable resources: biomass, certified wood (FSC or similar), land, aggregates and recycled steel.

With rtegards to water management, the Company aims to improve consumption
efficiency by 2020. By 2018, the result was a 39% reduction in water consumption,
mainly due to the deconsolidation of some of the company’s thermal solar generating
centres. The adoption of closed circuits for cooling water inside tunnels and the
installation of air-based refrigeration equipment at a biomass factory have also
contributed.

During 2018, the amount of water treated by ACCIONA increased up to 790 hm?, 295
hm?® of which are in countries currently experiencing water stress. In addition, 17% of
all water used is either recycled, or comes from tertiary sources or rainwater collection.
It should be noted that ACCIONA’s wastewater and drinking water treatment activities
provide improved water quality without significantly affecting the availability of water
TESErves.

¥ Due to the nature of ACCIONA’s business and based on the materiality wion on
"food waste" is not considered relevant to report.
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The evolution of water consumption and water supply according to local limitations is
as follows:

WAIPr Itearment Tor clents thim+41 h44 Iy i FL
water Iteatment ror chHents {hm4i bl N3} &L YN
- Energy efficiency

The group designs energy reduction plans and programmes, which are focused on
energy efficiency and the use of renewable energies.

For this year, some measures ought to be highlighted, such as the use of B20 biodiesel
for all static equipment used in the Dubai Metro Red Line works, the reduction of
energy consumption that followed the adoption of ISO 50001 standards in water
treatment centres, and the reduction of emissions related to waste transportation that
resulted from waste reduction. At the date this report was prepared, a renewable energy
certification acquisition operation is being carried out to ensure that ACCIONA will
meet its emission reduction targets.

On the other hand, and aiming to extend its environmental commitment to its suppliers,
ACCIONA has calculated the greenhouse gas emissions of 100% of its supply chain for
the fifth consecutive year, and the water consumption of 100% of the suppliers for the
fourth consecutive year, allowing an analysis by country, procurement sector and
division to be carried out.

Evolution of energy consumption:

Kenewable™ ouls 031U 2,/40 3,698

‘Total 13,217 15,998 19,071 10,186

Historical data includes Trasmediterrdnea activities, which was separated from the ACCIONA Group in 2018, and those of 2

cenires, the representative consumption of which are no longer under ACCIONA i management, as per the existing agreements for
energy managemen! responsibilities and the criteria used to attribute emissions of publicly-owned facilities, consolidated under
Sinancial control schemes according to the GHG Protocol: Corporate Standard for U.S. Public Sector Organizations.

* If emissions by Trasmediterranea and the 2 aforementioned centres are subtracted, the figures would be 5,989 (2015} 6,485
(20716) and 5,710 (2017)

** If emissions by Trasmediterranea and the 2 aforementioned centres are subitracited, the figures would be 2,659 (2015); 3,489
(2016) and 4,846 (2017)

*** If emissions by Trasmediterrdnea and the 2 aforementioned centres are subtracted, the figures would be 8,648 (2015}, 9,974
(2016) and 10,556 (2017)

Protecting biodiversity

ACCIONA carries out control and monitoring activities across ny 1dC111tleS the* are
adjacent to or inside any protected areas or nor 7t i T
biodiversity. During 2018, the company has ca
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located completely or partially inside protected areas or non-protected areas of great
biodiversity, covering a surface area of 1,163 hectares. ACCIONA has identified and
assessed the most significant impacts at these locations, taking into account the affected
species, the surface area of the facility, the duration of the impacts and their reversibility
or irreversibility.

During 2018, the main impact has been seen on water resources (49%, 6% more than
during 2017), fauna (21%, 2% less than in 2017), and vegetation (14%, 1% less than the
previous year). On a lesser scale, soils, landscapes, habitats and the atmosphere have
also been impacted. The prevention and restoration of any areas that may be affected by
the development of ACCIONA’s activities are considered for its projects. Therefore,
these projects carry associated protection and habitat restoration works, such as
reforestation, woodland restoration, beaconing of exclusion areas, modifications to
electrical installations and bird census and monitoring. During 2018, ACCIONA has
protected and restored 14.56 hectares surrounding its facilities. In addition, the company
has a Biodiversity Offsetting and Improvement Programme which consists in designing
and implementing voluntary initiatives that go beyond the administrative environmental
requirements.

During 2018, the Company has completed its development of measurement and
valuation methods that can quantify its biodiversity footprint. This method integrates
two internationally-renowned tools. Applying this method has had a positive impact on
ACCIONA's biodiversity footprint around the globe, especially after accounting for the
hundreds of hm?® of treated water that have been returned to the water systems and
millions of tonnes of CO; emissions that were prevented by the Company’s actions.
This impact is equal to the restoration of 300 km? of deteriorated surfaces.

3. Information regarding social and human resource issues

Human capital, safety, health and wellness, equality and diversity among its employees
are held high in the company’s priority list. Talent is one of ACCIONA’s main assets,
which is why the company actively follows management practices designed to identify,
retain, and develop the people within the company'°.

ACCIONA’s Code of Conduct sets conduct standards aimed to foster respect and
prevent discrimination between people, as well as equality, health and safety in the
workplace, among others. Likewise, the company has a specific Human Resource and
Occupational Health and Safety Policy that adopts principles such as promoting
competitive work conditions, supporting effective equality, favouring reconciliation, the
continuous improvement of safety and health, and the freedom of negotiation and
association. With regards to the Board of Directors, the company has a Director
Selection Policy and Remuneration Policy.

In addition, the Company has a Protocol on Response to Harassment, which shows
ACCIONA’s intention to adopt any necessary measures to promote a work environment
that is completely free of harassment (sexual or moral), with a zero-tolerance policy for

10 Strategies and programmes in this section are described in more detail in
Report,
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any such behaviour. Through its Ethical Channel, the Code of Conduct Committee
values all received complaints and establishes any courses of action required.

Likewise, as part of the SMP 2020, specific objectives have been set out regarding
development, incentives, health and safety, diversity, inclusion, and training.

Human Capital

Human capital management at ACCIONA is designed based on the definition of the
human resources strategy and it is readjusted each year to the new business
requirements. For the 2018-2020 period, the company has established that its main
priority is to place its employees at the centre of its strategy, with file basic management
pillars: attracting talent, focusing on employee experience, collaborative leadership,
adapting the workplace to current needs, and accelerating technological management.

The great challenge is to contribute to the development of highly specialised
professionals in a very disruptive environment, where technologies, processes, and
culture are in constant change. This means that the company’s professionals and
management techniques must be in a constant state of adaptation.

In 2018, ACCIONA employed 38,544 people around the globe.

Evolution of the number of employees, total and by business line (% out of total):

ACUHINA Enerov 4 3IA%A 4 17%
ALCIEINA Infrastruncturs: { nncagcinme FRN LA 1 79U
ACCIONA Infrastructure: Services 47 46% 52 16%
Other businesses* 551% 3.53%

*Other businesses include: Bestinver, Grupc Bodegas Palacio 1894, ACCIONA Inmobiliaria; Corporate division and
Trasmediterranea (deconsolidated as of May 2018).
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The graph shown below shows the distribution of available data, arranged by
professional category:

Egual Pay by Gender Analysis
3.79%

3.02% {+0.01%6}
7.11% (+0.01%)
565 5.80% (+0.06%)
: {+0.08%)
2.200% -12.19% P 4.17% [+0.12%)
{10.39%)  {-1.200) 0 %) (+0.18%)
7.57% ’
{+0.45%])
§.35%
(+4.66%)
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This information is used to analyse all data on a yearly basis, and identify specific salary
gaps in each country, business lines, and category. This will identify if differences exist
among positions of equal value or if these differences are attributable to any other factor
(seniority, differences in hierarchy, performance, results, etc.). A specific objective was
set for 2019: to eliminate the salary gaps detected across every business division. The
action plan is regularly monitored by company management, who evaluate progress on
cach one of their organisation’s countries and levels.

Total average salaries for ACCIONA’s employees are provided below'!, broken down
by gender, age bracket, and professional category!?:

Between 31 to S0

Professional category <31 vears venre >50 years
Executives ana N/A 70,260 85,385
Mannoers

Women
Uther employees 12,930 16,279 16,530

1 Professionals receiving less than 1,000 euros per year that have not been able 1o be analyvsed have been excluded from the
statistical analysis.

12 Bestinver employees are not included in this table.
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Professional caterorv < 31 vears Between 31 ta 50 > 5 vears

Executives and Managers 57.054 R0 605 118,639

Women

Admunistrative and

support staff 18,015 24,198 28,919

Remunerations for ACCIONA’s Board of Directors are included individually in Note
34 of the Consolidated Financial Statement.

Labour relations and management of work/life balance

At ACCIONA, nearly all employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements in
different countries (in certain countries, and due to commissioning reasons or legal
framework reasons, there may be a minimum number of workers who are not covered,
in any case this is less than 1% of the total workforce). Collective bargaining and/or
union negotiations are signed at all worksites and projects, with the exception of those
countries where union affiliations are not normalised or where unions are illegal. In
these cases, other control mechanisms have been implemented to monitor working
conditions, both inside the company and for its suppliers.

In order to prevent any potential source of conflict, and to minimise the amount of
workplace incidents, ACCIONA meets regularly with representatives and worker
delegates from all unions.

In Spain, ACCIONA has recognised 766 legal worker representatives for companies
that represent up to 82% of the Spanish workforce, without diminishing the importance
of treating health and safety issues on a global scale. In accordance to European
Directive 89/391 and its Spanish equivalent, the Law for the Prevention of Workplace
Risks, all ACCIONA companies and subsidiaries that fall within the scope of the
European Standards include the topics of health and safety as part of collective
bargaining agreements.

In order to address time management issues in the workplace, and to implement policies
that permit an adequate work/life balance, ACCIONA pays close attention to its systems
and procedures. These are in the process of being adapted to meet both EU regulations
and Spanish Law.

The Company promotes an adequate work/life balance by offering flexible schedules, as
well as scaled down options for its employees. In this way, the work day can end in
accordance to the terms that were agreed upon with the legal worker’s representatives.
In addition, employees have at their disposal several “personal days”. These may be
requested through the company’s Intranet. Finally, and depending on the exceptional
circumstances of the situation, the Compar+ ie anen ta annrava talacammuting schemes
as needed.



These measures are complemented by the presence of canteens on all main work sites,
which reduce the time spent on lunch breaks or commuting, childcare vouchers, wide
coverage for medical services, and remote medical teleconsultations.

Evolution of employees with the right to request matemity or paternity leave:

nien women ‘Tntal Maen wWnmnen ‘I'ntal
N7 of employees who took 378 236 614 541 123 864
maternity/paternity leave
N.? of employees who returned to work
after completing maternity or paternity 354 276 580 516 315 831

leave, and who continued working during
the 12 months following it

*GRI does not establish a specific formula to calculate this ratio. In order to calculate it. the number of people who remain art their
posts as of the 31st of December 2018, after having taken maternity/paternily leave during 2018, will be divided by the number of
maternity or pafernily leaves taken during that same year.

Diversity and equality

As part of the Sustainability Master Plan 2020, ACCIONA has set the goal to
implement diversity plans in any countries where it has more than 300 employees. This
includes the creation of leadership programmes for women who show potential,
increasing the number of women in management and director positions, and promoting
socially responsible hiring practices, among others.

Depending on the country and the activity performed, the occupational and social risks
associated with the projects carried out by the company are different: the most labour-
intensive businesses increase the risk associated with personnel management. Also, the
protection of minorities stands out in certain countries (BBEEE requirements in South
Africa, First Nations in Canada, Indigenous Peoples in Australia), as well as the
promotion of equality (Europe, Canada, etc.), and the protection of immigrant groups
(Middle East and Asia). The management of these risks at ACCIONA involves aligning
the overall processes and objectives of diversity and socially responsible recruitment
with the development of specific plans and procedures where required.

The company’s diversity management system requires monthly reports on equality and
socially responsible hiring milestones. These results are analysed by each business
division and country in order to determine the action and/or correction plans required to
ensure the objectives are met.

In the specific case of Spain, all activity sectors are covered by Equality Plans in
accordance with Organic Law 3/2007 for effective gender equality between women and
men, signed with the most representative ™ ° ' ’ T o



reported and assessed jointly every six months. Similar mechanisms are implemented in
countries such as Australia, Mexico and Canada.

During 2018, women occupied 14% of all executive positions (versus 12.8% during
2017) and 20.4% of all management positions (19.8% in 2017). For 2020, the objective
is to increase the percentage of women occupying executive- and management-level
positions to 23%.

As part of the measures implemented during 2018 to promote equality of treatment and
of opportunity between men and woman, efforts were made to promote hiring more
women during both internal and external hiring processes. In addition, the Programme
for the Development of Women of High Potential has been expanded.

As part of the company’s efforts to create employment opportunities for people with
disabilities, at 31 December 2018, the average number of employees with a disability
level of 33% or over employed by the consolidated companies amounted to 1,001
(direct and indirect employment), and 897 at 31 December 2017. In accordance to the
provisions of the General Law for Disabilities, as of 2018 over 3.86% of all the
company’s positions in Spain were occupied by people with disabilities {(out of this
figure, 3.33% are directly employed, and 0.54% are indirectly employed). The
equivalent figure for 2017 was 3.6%. ACCIONA holds a Bequal certificate, and several
of its divisions hold a Bequal Plus certificate.

Health and Safety

ACCIONA has action plans and specific objectives for promoting the health of its
employees and collaborators and preventing occupational risks. As part of the SMP
2020, the Company has stated the goal of reducing its accidents frequency rate by 15%
compared to 2015.

The company makes a continuous effort to assess the specific risks associated with each
activity (e.g., risks associated with occupational diseases, construction works,
machinery, work at height, electrical contacts, etc.).

Most of ACCIONA s businesses are certified by OHSAS 18001 standards (this includes
99% of ACCIONA Energy, 91.3% of ACCIONA Infrastructure, 100% of Corporate,
100% of ACCIONA Inmobiliaria and 100% of Bestinver). In addition, ACCIONA
Infrastructure has other local voluntary certifications, such as the COR in Canada and
the OFSC Federal Safety in Australia.

Twice a year, the Prevention Committee made up of the OHS Managers from
ACCIONA’s different divisions and business lines and the human resources
department, follows up on the projects that are ongoing and their level of development,
as well as the occupational accidents in the period. The data on accidents occurred was
analysed and the investigations into the causes and corrective measures of fatal
accidents both of employees and subcontracted employees were reviewed in the last
committee.

The company has carried out a series of nreventive artinne ae mart nf ]tS gog] tq
implement behavioural change and “zero as ally ar- 1or



its contractors, In the Infrastructure division, the LIDER Project seeks to promote
leadership practices for the prevention of workplace accidents. The Behaviour-Based
Safety for You (BBS4U) Project is meant to control and prevent any risks that may
result from the workers actions. Finally, a Voluntary Protection Programme has been
created to cover contractors or external collaborators. ACCIONA Energy has taken its
own steps in the matter, through the implementation of the Think Safe and Act Safe
Programmes, which are aimed to promote a prevention-based mind set among all its
employees as well as its suppliers, through participation in an awareness session. Over
2018, 339,330 training hours have been conducted dealing specifically with workplace
hazard prevention (8.8 hours a year per employee).

As of this year, systems employed to collect accident data have not collected any
information broken down by gender, especially in countries where such information
does not follow the model developed in Spain. Any reports that use such criteria would
only provide estimates. Because of this, it would be important to implement a data-
gathering system in 2019 that records gender and country from the very start. This will
allow the Company to provide accurate and reliable figures.

According to the European Directive 89/391 CEE and its Spanish equivalent, the Law
for the Prevention of Workplace Risks, any preventative measures meant to eliminate or
minimise workplace hazards must be adopted according to the activity that generates the
risk, regardless of the worker’s gender. ACCIONA, as part of its policy to protect
maternity and breastfeeding, has elaborated its own prevention guidelines to address any
risk that may be aggravated in said situation.

Evolution of fatal accidents for both ACCIONA and contractor employees

Contractors 0 1 2 1

Note: all fatalities have involved men

Evolution of workplace accident frequency rate, broken down by division:

ACCIONA Fnsrov a1a na4s
-~ Construction 1.68 1.06
- water 441 4473
= Inangrrial hasN

Corporate 0.00 0.00

Frequency Rate: (n° of accidents that invelved loss of workZhours worked) x 200,000
*Other businesses include: ACCIONA Inmobiliaria, Bestinver, an includes
Trasmediterrdnea.
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Evolution of employee severity rate, broken down by division:

ACUIUNA Energy IR (¥

- Construction 53.9 492

- Water 119.1 172.7

- Industrial 5 0,01}
|

Cornorate 0.00 0.00

Severity rate: (n° of lost working days due to a workplace accident/worked hours) x 200,000,
*Other businesses include: ACCIONA Inmobiliaria, Bestinver, and Grupo Bodegas Palacio [894. 2017 data includes
Trasmediterranea.

Evolution of the total number of occupational diseases, by region:

Snain 16 21

Evolution of lost hours by region*:

Nnain 4 AR MG S IRk AP

*This figure is requested in hours, although data collection is done in working days. Conversion is not automatic, and because of
the number of active collective agreements entered by the campany, any calculation of hours can only provide estimates using an
average workday for evervone, such as 8 hours/day.

Evolution of workplace accidents {with leave of absence) by region:

Soain 1.19R 10} 1345 66

4. Information regarding human rights issues

Respect for human rights is one of the principles that guides the Company’s ethical
commitments. The most frequently-analysed risks are related to internal labour
practices, as well as those of outsourced contractors and suppliers, and the respect for
the rights of local commounities.

Both ACCIONA’s Code of Conduct and its Human Resource and Occupational Health
and Safety Policy establish the company’s firm commitment to respect human rights
and the public freedoms recognised in the Urited Natinn’
Human Rights. The ILO Declaration on Fundai k, tne

o TTritvraranl han]nvuﬂ-;on n'F



OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, and the United Nations Global
Compact are also taken as guiding principles.

In order to fulfil these commitments, ACCIONA has a Human Rights Policy, which was
updated in 2018 in order to include the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business
and Human Rights.

In line with the goals established in the SMP 2020 and the Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights, ACCIONA is currently implementing a risk analysis and
due diligence process which includes:

* [dentifying and evaluating real and potential impact.

= Establishing specific processes and procedures to prevent any identified
potential impact.

= Developing mechanisms to alleviate any impact that has already occurred or that
the company has contributed to.

The company has developed a human rights risk analysis survey, based on the Guiding
Principles analysing, among others, freedom of opinion or expressions, minority rights,
rights of indigenous peoples, rights of women and girls, workplace discrimination, right
to access basic services, freedom of association, rights of migrant workers, fair
remuneration, working hours regulations, forced labour, and child labour.

During 2018, the human rights risk categories have been reviewed and they have been
analysed in the countries in which the company carries out its activities. It was
concluded that 13% of the countries where ACCIONA Energy operates, and 41% of the
countries where ACCIONA Infrastructure operates present a serious or very serious risk
of human rights violations.

A series of risk control and mitigation practices had already been analysed as part of the
ongoing improvements to due diligence procedures. These practices were designed
using the standards provided by the Danish Institute for Human Rights and the United
Nations Global Compact. This analysis found that 43% of the measures listed have
global coverage, 52% have partial coverage (depending on the business division or
region), 3% have insufficient coverage and 2% of them are not applicable.

Based on the analysis performed in high-risk countries, and with the aim of covering
insufficient and partial coverage, during 2018 the Company drafted a prevention and
mitigation procedure to deal with potential labour human rights violations, a guideline
for cases in which the company is involved in involuntary resettlement cases, and a
separate guide listing complaint procedures or remediation for any human rights that
may have been violated. All of these documents are expected to be implemented during
2019. In addition, during the same year, specific human rights monitoring tools and
safeguards were integrated within the company’s existing control tools.

Furthermore, ACCIONA Infrastructure also approved the Standard for Migrant
Workers' Welfare, which established minimum requirements for the recruitment,
employment, and housing standards for any workers and subcontractors working on any
projects located in any Gulf Cooperatic
expected to be implemented in ACCION



Human rights and social impact management

On the other hand, in relation to the rights of local communities and labour rights that
may be affected by ACCIONA’s activities, the Social Impact Management (SIM)
methodology'® has been used to study possible infringements of human rights that a
particular project or service could inflict on communities and other stakeholders, among
other factors. In addition, it evaluates the social impacts in terms of severity if
significant changes are incurred in the social, economic or cultural structure of a certain
population or group of employees, or if human rights are affected. In this case, the SIM
methodology requires prevention and mitigation measures for these impacts to be
established.

During 2018, the SIM procedures identified 10 projects (versus 12 during 2017) where
there was risk of Human Rights violations. In all of these cases, measures have been
taken to prevent such violations from occurring.

It should be highlighted that any alleged breach or violation of the conducts contained in
the Code of Conduct, including human rights issues, can be communicated through the
company’s Ethical Channel. The company did not receive any Human Rights-related
complaints through this channel during 2018.

Human Rights in the supply chain

ACCIONA has created different mechanisms to prevent Human Rights violation across
its supply chain. These are available through the Supplier’s portal and the group’s
tender tool, and include: Self-Declaration of Responsibility for Company Suppliers, the
Ethical Principles for Suppliers, Contractors and Collaborators, the Supply Chain Risk
Map, and the Supplier Qualification and Evaluation Procedure, supplier audits, and No
Go Policies. During 2018, the PROCUR-e procurement system has not identified any
suppliers or contractors who may be violating or endangering Human Rights'#,

Human Rights Training

During 2018, a series of training programmes were carried out, which included
information on the company’s Human Rights commitments and goals.

For employees:
» Sustainability Course: this programme includes training regarding the
company’s responsibility to respect labour, civil, and human rights.
=  (Code of Conduct Course: this programme specifically addresses human rights
within its 17 conduct guidelines.

For 2019, the Company expects to launch a course dealing specifically with human
rights issues, designed jointly with the Spanish Network of the United Nations Global

Compact.

For suppliers: -

13 For such scenarios, the SIM procedures demand preventati
4 Burther information on supplier human rights controls can section.



= Sustainability for your company course: this programme includes a module
devoted to human rights and social action.

5. Information relating to the fight against corruption and bribery

Issues related to ethics and anticorruption, and especially to promote legal compliance
and integrity, are a priority in all divisions at ACCIONA.

Specifically, the main policies established by the ACCIONA group to fight against
corruption and bribery, as well as money laundering, are the following:

* Code of Conduct: establishes the values that should guide the behaviour of all
managers, directors, employees and suppliers of ACCIONA group companies.
The Code of Conduct, adopted in 2007, was revised in 2011 and again in 2016
by the Board of Directors.

= Anti-Corruption Policy: approved in 2013, establishes the ACCIONA Group’s
clear position against any corrupt or criminal act, as well as the extrapolation of
this commitment to all the people that make up the group.

* Crime Prevention and Anti-Bribery Policy: approved in April 2018 by the Board
of Directors to reinforce the Group’s commitment towards a “zero tolerance”
policy towards illicit activities, constant monitoring, establishing measures
aimed to prevent and detect illicit activities, maintaining effective
communication channels, raising awareness among all employees, and
developing a corporate culture based on ethics and compliance.

The Group has also designed a roadmap to continue adapting the Code of Conduct to
the highest and most advanced practices. By 2020, the goal is to have a Crime
Prevention and Anti-Corruption Model in place at international level across 100% of the
group’s activities.

Measures adopted to prevent corruption, bribery. and money laundering

- Standards

The aforementioned Policies were developed based on international standards. They
have been implemented across the organisation through standards and corporate
instructions that regulate, among others, non-commercial donations and sponsorships,
the hiring of commercial consultants, interactions with public officials, rules on gifts
and hospitalities, and employee selection practices.

The standards that stem from these policies are applicable to all of ACCIONA’s
subsidiaries, all their employees, and any third parties that have relations with the group.

In this sense, the Anti-Corruption Guidelines were approved by the Board of Directors
in 2016. These provide specific regulations to prevent inappropriate conduct and their
compliance is considered mandatory for all employees or parties associated with
ACCIONA (including, agents, intermediaries, advisors, consultants, and suppliers).



- Organisation and management model

The ACCIONA Group maintains relations with Public Administrations and participates
in tender processes for infrastructure in different countries when carrying out its
activities, and therefore the risks of public corruption are analysed in each project,
evaluating the country and importance of the project. This has not prevented the
enactment of policies and watchdog measures meant to further avoid or prevent acts of
corruption.

The Compliance department, created in 2015 and reporting directly to the Chairman and
CEO and to the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee, designs and supervises the
suitability and the effectiveness of the procedures, controls and internal commitments
established to ensure compliance with voluntary and regulatory obligations regarding
ethical, organisational, environmental and social matters, and the identification,
prevention and mitigation of associated risks.

ACCIONA has adopted and implemented a Crime Prevention and Anti-Corruption
Model which has the following features:

* The model is arranged according to ACCIONA group’s organisational
structure, and it specifies the criminal risks and their corresponding controls
for each department of the group.

* Internal controls are associated to each identified risk which mitigate or, at
any rate, decrease the chances of each criminal risk occurring.

s The model documents these internal controls, with a series of attributes that
characterise them which include the area or administration responsible for
implementing the control, and a specific description of the control activity.

= In addition, the model includes controls from ACCIONA group’s Internal
Control over Financial Reporting (ICoFR) systems which are suitable for
preventing certain offences from being committed.

According to the objective set, the Crime Prevention Model established for Spain is
progressively being implanted to the other countries in which the group’s activities are
carried out, adapted to local legislative requirements as applicable. This task is expected
to be completed in 2020.

In 2018, ACCIONA S.A. has obtained ISO 37001 certification for its anti-bribery
management practices, and UNE 19601 certification for its legal compliance
management systems by AENOR. These accredit that the company’s management
systems fulfil the regulations set by those standards.

- Supervision and continuous improvement of the model

The most relevant controls are reviewed periodically. The group has implemented an
Ethical Channel since 2007 which allows employees to communicate any irregular
behaviour related to accounting, monitoring, auditing or any breach or violation of the
conducts contained in the Code of Conduct and internal standards.

The internal standards impose an obligatic~ -~ -~ ~'---- *- rtential
irregularities or violations to the Code of Co aware



of, as well as to report any fact, act, conduct or behaviour that is contrary to the Anti-
corruption Guidelines.

The Code of Conduct Committee supervises that complaints are analysed thoroughly,
confidentiality is guaranteed, and ensures that there is no retaliation of any kind against
those who make the complaints in good faith and respecting, in any case, the people
allegedly involved.

{ nmmunicatinne reccived thranoh the Kthiral §'hannal AR g1

- Communications archived under no instructions, as they did not fall within the
purview of the Code of Conduct

(non-financial anonymous complaints that were merely about labour, organisational or
functional issues, without prejudice to the fact that a preliminary investigation was
conducted for the majority of the archived files without a specific instructor being
assigned)

49% 46%

The Code of Conduct, the Corporate Policies, and the Anti-corruption Guidelines have
been communicated to the employees and published on the company's intranet and web
page. In addition, employees must mandatorily read and accept the Code of Conduct
and the Anti-corruption Guidelines. The corporate regulations regarding policy
development and those meant to prevent corruption and bribery are available to all
employees, in both Spanish and English, through the company’s intranet.

In 2018, a survey was performed to assess the knowledge and perception that all
employees have of the Code of Conduct, the Anti-Corruption Guidelines, and the
Ethical Channel. Over 2,000 answers and nearly 500 comments were recorded for this
survey. The survey showed that 86% of employees are aware of the existence of the
Code of Conduct. In addition, 78% of them know where to go when they experience
any issue related to the Code. The degree of knowledge regarding the Ethical Channel
was of over 80% in all countries where ACCIONA operates. With regards to the Anti-
Corruption Guidelines, 76% of all people who answered the survey were aware of their
existence, while 73% of all employees consider that their co-workers comply with the
Code of Conduct and the Anti-Corruption Guidelines.

This information is being updated constantly. In 2018, the Compliance Department
published 23 documents in the company’s intranet with relevant information on topics
related to compliance, and the different spheres affected by it ~ such as the approval of
new rules, frequently asked questions regarding the corporate compliance rules, the
importance of the Ethical Channel to communicate irregularities, and summaries of its
activities or those of the United Nations Global Compact and the United Nations Office
on Drugs and Crime meant to combat corruption.

Likewise, two training activities were held in 2018. On the one hand, 436 executives
and managers were trained in an Anti-Corruption Course. On the other, 2,965
employees took part in the Code of Conduct course, which was available in 7 different
languages. In June, an in-person seminar was held on “International business
development and corruption”, writh the aid af a nrectioinng law firm



- Money laundering

ACCIONA Inmobiliaria and Bestinver fall directly within the purview of article 2 of
Law 10/2018 regarding money laundering. Because of this, they have internal control
structures and procedures that follow the requirements set out by current legislation. In
addition, ACCIONA Group's entire workforce has the obligation to pay special
attention to any potential suspicion of lack of integrity by people or corporations with
which any kind of commercial relation is kept. No cash payments are allowed, with the
exception of rare circumstances that have been expressly authorised and where there is a
paper trail documenting the origin of the money.

In 2018, in addition to mandatory training courses for personnel in the ACCIONA
Inmobiliaria and Bestinver subsidiaries, an online training module was prepared to
prevent money laundering. This course will be available throughout 2019 and the
possibility of in-person training events will not be ruled out.

- Due diligence from third parties

The group has implemented a tool that permits an initial analysis to be carried out for
any third parties that could potentially start a commercial relationship or a partnership
with ACCIONA. This is part of the improvements done to project risk management
initiatives. This tool enables a third party’s partners or beneficiaries to be suitably
identified, collects evidence on their acceptance of the Code of Conduct and the Anti-
Corruption Guidelines, performs an initial background check using public sources
regarding their integrity, and checks whether they have been included on any
international sanction lists. At the end of 2018, over 320 third parties were evaluated
(177 in 2017).

- Contributions to foundations and non-profit organisations

As part of the UNE 19601 and ISO 37001 certification processes, a Corporate Standard
on Donations and non-commercial Sponsorships was developed and adopted. Its goal is
to establish an action framework that allows ACCIONA to ensure any donations and
non-commercial sponsorships to charitable or non-profit organisations are not used to
disguise illegal payments to public officials, or to any other people, that may violate the
Anti-Corruption Guidelines. Any donations or sponsorship activities made by
ACCIONA must be completely free of any doubt regarding their adequacy or
suitability, and naturally must not violate or disregard any applicable law or regulation.

Any contributions to foundations and non-profit organisations are carried out by
thoroughly analysing the recipient organisation, their reputation, and their financial
transparency practices.

Finally, all contributions fall within the purview of the Company’s Social Action Plan,
which aims to align 100% of all of ACCIONA’s social contributions to the company’s
objectives through sustainable, medium to long term projects in the countries in which
ACCIONA operates'”.

13 Further information is provided in the “ACCIONA’s comn



6. Information about the society
6.1. Company’s commitment to sustainable development

The company considers that managing the impact, whether positive or negative, that it
has on the communities where it operates, as well as keeping dialogue channels with
these communities, are important topics.

The Code of Conduct includes the shared value commitment between ACCIONA and
the local communities where it operates.

The Sustainability Policy, which was updated in 2018, has developed this commitment
under the understanding that engaging and cooperating with local communities allows
the company to increase the positive impact its operations have on society as a whole.

In order to better organise these positive contributions, a Social Action Policy has been
established, which has been complemented during the past year by the approval of a
new Stakeholder Relations Policy. This document establishes the foundations to carry
out communications and continuous dialogue with local communities, among other
stakeholders.

As part of its Sustainability Master Plan, the company has established ambitious goals
for 2020 aiming to strengthen the potential social risk management and analysis
practices, enhance relationships with stakeholders, and measure the socio-economic and
environmental impact of its activities.

Social Impact Management

The Company has developed its own Social Impact Management (SIM) methodology.
This aims to analyse, from the very initial stages of project development, any risks
posed on local communities and to address any possible social consequences, either
positive or negative, during the construction, operation, or servicing phases. This
methodology, which used to be guided by corporate procedures, is now being
implemented under a Corporate Standard for Social Impact Management. This was
approved in 2018 and establishes minimum management requirements. It also widens
the scope of operation for the company’s methodology, and is being implemented on all
main projects by ACCIONA Infrastructure and ACCIONA Energy.

The SIM methodology covers the following stages:

= Social risk characterisation: the project’s degree of social risk is analysed,
starting from the design and tender stage.

= Social evaluation of the project, which includes the proposal of social measures.

» Communication and dialogue with local communities and other stakeholders on
the project, its main impacts, and social measures to be carried out.

» Implementation and follow up of any identifies measures.



Evolution of the implementation of Social Impact Management methodology:

11
Ne. of projects 100 98

- Infrastructurc {Construction, Water, Industnal, and
Serviee)

87 81

During this same year, the implementation of the SIM methodology has been
consolidated across 100% of the Group’s projects. Starting in 2017, external audits are
performed to assess the degree of its application.

Evolution of Social Impact Management audits:

Total Ne. of 5IM audits 9 8

- Infrastructure {Construction, Water, Industrial, and Services} 7 6

Every year, the types of projects covered is as diverse as the company’s activities,
including the construction of linear infrastructures and buildings, the construction and
operation of water treatment plants, and the construction and operation of wind farms
and photovoltaic plants, as well as providing maintenance services for other facilities,
etc.

The possible negative impact that the SIM methodology focuses on includes, among
others, the potential impact on vulnerable groups, impact on supplies of basic services
for these communities, temporary shutdown of transport routes, road safety issues in
urban settings, and changes to basic rights such as education or health. The positive
social impact generated by project development includes hiring local personnel,
acquisition of goods and services in the project’s area of influence, and the
improvement of road conditions.

- Main measures adopted

During 2018, the main soctal measures implemented to mitigate negative impacts and
increase positive ones have included the creation of information offices within the
affected communities, information campaigns regarding each project, professional
training opportunities for the project’s workers, improved remunerations for workers
according to their professional categories, minimising negative impacts cause by
construction works in a project’s surroundings, as well as environmental and social
awareness campaigns, health and education initiatives in schools, and collaboration
agreements to boost local economies.

Dialogue

As part of the Stakeholder Relations Policy, specific corporate guidelines regarding
communication with local communities and other stakeholders have been developed
during 2018. These guidelines provide en ~ o ) promote
and manage relationships with third partie:



Furthermore, the company has a wide array of communication channels that
stakeholders affected by a specific project may use to send their questions or
suggestions (web forms, e-mail, phone numbers, message boxes, community service
offices, etc.)

Socio-economic and environmental impact

Since 2015, ACCIONA measures the socio-economic and environmental impact of all
its projects across a variety of countries. This enables the company to know and
stimulate any benefits generated by its projects across their entire life cycle. Using an
econometric model developed from input-output tables (analysing relations between
different industries) the company obtains quantitative measurements for its direct,
indirect, and induced impact for all its activities. These are measured in terms of job
creation, contribution to the country’s GDP, and positive impact on the environment and
surrounding communities.

Both ACCIONA Energy and ACCIONA Infrastructure have systems to measure social
and environmental impact indicators, as well as the socio-economic effects for all its
activities.

Regarding the latter, ACCIONA Energy measures the socio-ecconomic impact of all
assets on the local GDP, as well as jobs created, on a yearly basis. In addition, the socio-
economic and environmental impacts are also measured during an entire project’s
lifespan. In this sense, during 2018, additional studies were performed to measure the
life-cycle impact of 20 different projects'®. The aggregated impact for them was 2.373
billion euros contributed to the GDP and 75,014 job-years'’ in the countries in which
these projects take place.

Because of the nature of the projects handled by ACCIONA Infrastructure, during 2018
the socio-economic impact of two different projects was calculated, using the total
contract time as the reference time-frame. The construction business unit has performed
a study on the rehabilitation and expansion of the Pan-American Highway in Panama,
which has resulted in an impact of 146 million euros contributed to the GDP, and the
creation of 3,887 job-years during two years of construction and three years of
maintenance. The water business unit performed a study for the RAF-A3 desalination
plant in Qatar, which has provided a positive impact of 87 million euros in the GDP,
and the creation of 4,345 job-years (including direct, indirect, and induced
employment), during one year of construction and ten years of operation and
maintenance,

Social Action Plans

As part of the SMP 2020, ACCIONA aims to align 100% of its social contribution to its
Social Action Plan. This plan is structured around the following lines of action: basic

16 Jelinak Wind farm (WF) in Croatia; Bannmur WE in India; Cathedral Rocks, Waubra, Gunning, Mt Gellibrand, Mortlake South
WE and Kerang and Aldoga photovoltaic plants (PV) in Australia: Almeyda and Usya PV in Chile; Oaxaca If, Il and IV, E{
Cortijo, Evrus WF and Puerto Libertad PV in Mexico; San Roman WF in the United States. Dvmerka PV in Ukraine and Celada Il
WE in Spain.

17 e “fob-years” unit is used to standardise the creation of jobs. Th Job with
the duration of a year.



services (through the projects handled by the acciona.org Foundation); social
investment associated to projects, sustainability promotion, sponsorships and patronage,
and volunteering.

During 2018, the company’s social contribution has surpassed 13.7 million euros
(approximately 19% of which were done through contributions to foundations and
NGOs). Social initiatives carried out by ACCIONA’s subsidiaries have benefited,
directly or indirectly, nearly 5 million people.

The goal of sponsorship activities is to serve the initiatives that bring the highest
possible positive impact on society, and which are considered as priorities within the
fields of health, education, and culture. Among them, some of the most relevant
sponsorship activities performed during 2018 include the Pro CNIC Foundation (Spain),
the Water Aid Foundation (Australia), the BEST Foundation (Mexico), the Princesa de
Girona Foundation (Spain), and the Princesa de Asturias Foundation (Spain), among
many others.

6.2. Subcontractors and suppliers

Applying environmental, social, and ethical criteria when managing the supply chain
important for the company. In order to achieve this, policies have been established, risks
are assessed and corrective measures in cases of non-compliance are implemented

ACCIONA shares its commitment to sustainable development models with the entirety
of its supply chain, and extends the values acknowledged in its Code of Conduct with
its suppliers and contractors. In addition, this Code sets specific guidelines on relations
with suppliers.

Similarly, the Ethical Principles for Suppliers, Contractors and Collaborators which
were approved in 2011 cover aspects regarding transparency and cthics, human and
social rights, health and safety, and quality and the environment. These principles,
alongside the commitments related to the promotion of labour integration and
environmental protection, have been incorporated as mandatory requirements in the
clauses that ACCIONA includes in its orders, contracts, and tender proposals.

In addition, the company has established minimum standards in the field of ethics and
integrity, human rights and corporate responsibility, environment, safety and health,
among others, contained in the No Go Policies.

As part of its Sustainability Master Plan, the company has set clear objectives to
increase the level of oversight on environmental, social, and governance risks
throughout its supply chain, and the company’s ability to create sustainable solutions
alongside suppliers and contractors.

Responsible Management of the Supply Chain

At ACCIONA, the directives and strategies to be followed as part of the purchase
process are established by the Procurement Coordination Committee. This Committee is
formed by the directors of all main divi: -



Throughout 2018, the company has placed purchase orders to 18,501 suppliers, for a
total amount of over 3.4 billion euros. This represents a supply volume approximately
5% smaller than that of 2017.

The main tool used for supply chain management in ACCIONA is PROCUR-e, the
supplier portal and Group bidding tool, which includes ever more thorough controls
according to the supplier’s criticality. These controls are:

1. The Self-Declaration of Responsibility for Company Suppliers: this is accepted
by all suppliers registered in the PROCUR-e portal and shares ACCIONA’s
commitment to keep with international standards, the Code of Conduct, the
Ethical Principles for Suppliers, Contractors and Collaborators, as well as the
minimum integrity, environment, and quality standards. As of the end of 2018, it
has been accepted by 32,149 suppliers (23,548 in 2017).

2. The Supply Chain Risk map: any provider who submits a bid via PROCUR-e
must self-evaluate its corporate responsibility and sustainability practices. From this
very moment, this assessment is integrated within the Supply Chain Risk map,
which monitors and updates daily the Ievel of risk presented by each supplier, based
on variables such as integrity, Country-risk, corporate responsibility and
sustainability (with a focus on human rights), health and safety, environment,
evaluations, etc.

In 2018, a new “Supply Chain” variable has been implemented. This measures the
knowledge and control that ACCIONA’s suppliers have over their own suppliers. The
use of this variable will be extended during 2019.

Evolution of suppliers with Risk Map and risk distribution:

Nn. of sunnliers with Risk Man 16,712 22998 *

- % of suppliers classified as “medium 265 18%
L 0
risk”

* Out of all the 32,149 suppliers registered in the PROCUR-e platform, 22,998 already have their own Risk Map. The rest are new
suppliers who have not yet completed their registration, and therefore their Risk Map has not yet been calculated. These are nown
as “Basic Registration” suppliers.

During 2018, the application of the No Go Policies has been controlled and foliowed up
on, and the goal of placing no orders from No Go suppliers has been met by 100% (a
supplier listed as “No Go” cannot be awarded any contract by ACCIONA).

3. Supplier qualification: control of supplier qualification was established for
critical providers (those holding contracts with ACCIONA that total over 100
thousand euros during the last 12 months), according to the Supplier
Qualification and Evaluation Procedure. Through this control tool, criticality is
assessed according to integrity, Cour*—- P~ ~r~emmends emee- asibility and
sustainability, health and safety, er :ntation  and



evaluation. By the end of 2018, ACCIONA has 4,442 qualified suppliers (3,850
in 2017).

4. Supply chain audits: as part of the aforementioned process, two types of audits
have been established: qualification audits for critical suppliers in high risk
countries, and monitoring audits for high-interest suppliers. As of 2018,
ACCIONA has audited a total of 319 suppliers. When examining the list of
suppliers in the “critical, own-work, high risk country” category, 95% of these
suppliers have been audited (88.46% in 2017).

Evolution of supply chain audits:

No. of audits to suppliers in high risk countries 47 34

No. of supply chain audits among ““non tier I supnliers 0 37

During 2018, ACCIONA Energy has started a “Tier 2 Audits” project (37 audits carried
out), with the goal of improving visibility further down the supply chain.

Out of the total amount of suppliers audited over the past year, 53% of them have had
zero “major non conformities”. The other 47% of them have adhered to an action plan
to solve their deficiencies or have been moved to the “No Go supplier” list. ACCIONA
is actively working to support its suppliers solve any potential “major non conformities”
that may have been detected during the audit. If these cases are not solved within the
expected time frame, the supplier is moved to the “No Go” list for the entire ACCIONA
group. This condition is reversible should the supplier fix the detected deficiencies and
shows evidence to that fact.

Further advances included the incorporation of site visits and verifications which were
held by ACCIONA’s different subsidiaries (413 throughout the year). In 2018, a “Guide
on Minimum Sustainability Requirements to be verified during a site visit” was drafted.
During 2018, 20 visits were paid (four of them in high-risk countries) where these
minimum requirements were met. Throughout 2019, the complete implementation of
this initiative will be measured.

As of the end of 2018, 2,660 suppliers (volume accumulated over 3 years) registered in
the PROCUR-e platform, as well as 3,997 of their employees, have expressed an
interest in the available training courses. A major highlight in this field is the new
“Sustainability for your Company” course, which was initially launched towards the end
of 2017. This course has now been completed by 94 suppliers. The course on the Code
of Conduct has been completed by 313 suppliers.

During 2018, revisions made to the “Sustainable Procurement Guide” have represented
a clear boost to the clarification of the criteria used to identify and register all purchases
that may be classified as sustainable. This has been aligned to the Sustainable
Development Goals and the Supply Chain objectives listed in the SMP 2020.



0.3. Consumers

The Group encompasses different business that provide services to a varied collection of
clients and final users/beneficiaries. From a billing perspective, the largest group
corresponds to the large institutional clients of the public sector and companies of the
private sector (business to business or B2B). Although to a lesser extent, several of the
companies or subsidiaries within ACCIONA, as well as some of the services/products —
such as Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, ACCIONA Inmobiliaria, and ACCIONA Agua
Services — do provide services for end clients (business to consumer or B2C), or to
financial investors (for Bestinver).

Service quality and customer satisfaction are key elements for all company divisions.

The Quality Policy is the backbone of ACCIONA’s activities. In order to keep high
quality standards and ensure the safety of its clients and users, continuous assessments
are performed to measure the level of client satisfaction. Over the last year, the
company’s Personal Data Protection Policy has been updated and strengthened, in order
to adapt it to the new European regulations.

The Company has established dialogue sessions and consultations with clients regarding
ACCIONA’s performance in sustainability.

ACCIONA plans and develops its activities around excellence, in accordance to the
rules set by the ISO 9001 Standard, which identifies any risks for quality management
and establishes specific actions to mitigate them.

Certifications

During 2018, just like during the previous year, 91% of the Group’s sales were ISO
9001-certified. When measured by activity, 100% of the MW installed that can be
certified were certified by ISO 9001. Furthermore, 100% of all renewable energy sales,
100% of all construction activities in Spain, Chile, Brazil, Mexico, Colombia, Canada,
Poland, Australia, Abu Dhabi, Ecuador, Peru and Panama, as well as 100% of all water
treatment activities in Spain, Italy, Australia, and Chile, and 100% of the integral water
management services in Spain, were also certified by ISO 9001.

100% of all products and significant activities carried out by ACCIONA are evaluated
to measure their impact on the health and safety of clients and users alike. Whenever
applicable, improvements are identified and implemented. ACCIONA carries out
several actions to guarantee that its products and services are safe:

* Information for clients regarding the safe use of products and services.

* Quality controls for products and critical point analysis.

* Continuous monitoring of all facilities.

= Mandatory inspections and compliance with all applicable legislation.

» Safety management systems that guarantee all activities are developed in
accordance with international reference standards for each sector.

9% of ACCIONA'’s revenue fall within the nmhrella af ane af thaca rertified sys*~s,
such as ISO 22000 certification for food safi CIONA Facilty



Services and Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, FSCC 22000 for the management of food
safety risks in the supply chain of Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894, 1SO 39001 for road
safety in two of the Spanish highways, and ISAGO (Safety Audit of Ground
Operations) certificates for airport safety provided by ACCIONA Airport Services, in
keeping with regulations provided by the International Air Transport Association.

The only products supplied by ACCIONA that requires specific labelling information,
according to current applicable legislation, are the wines produced by Grupo Bodegas
Palacios 1894. In that sense, 100% of all bottles contain all required information on the
origin of ingredients, safe use, safe disposal, and recycling.

Complaints and claims

All divisions within ACCIONA have specific internal procedures to manage
complaints, claims, and suggestions sent by clients and users alike. These are received
through a wide variety of accessible channels set up by the company, and once received,
are assigned to specific people for their resolution. They evaluate their underlying
causes and archive them once the conformity of whoever placed the complaint has been
obtained.

Evolution of complaints received and resolved:

No. of B2ZB complaints received 1,043 861

No. of B2C complaints received, per 1000 clients 13.7 174

All divisions perform client satisfaction assessments on an annual basis, and set goals to
continuously improve client satisfaction. In 2018, the global satisfaction index was 97%
(in 2017, it was 99.8%).

6.4. Tax information

All topics related to tax transparency and responsibility are regarded as high priority
issues for ACCIONA’s economic performance.

ACCIONA’s tax strategy, as approved in 2015 by the Board of Directors defined the
company’s approach to tax issues and their consistency, as aligned with ACCIONA’s
business strategies. This strategy is applicable to all the group’s companies and
subsidiaries, and is based on 3 key values: social responsibility, financial stability,
return and results, and honesty when complying with tax regulations in all jurisdictions
where the group operates.

Within the Sustairiability Master Plan, ACCIONA has set the enhancement of tax
transparency practices as one of its goals for 2020.

In keeping with these commitments, ACCIONA has presented its Annual Tax
Transparency Report to the Spanish Tax Agencyin order to meet the requirements set by
its adherence to the Spanish Tax Agency's (Cnde of Gand Tav DPracticag in 2011.

Furthermore, the ACCIONA Group includes ad s 1
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support the economy will receive in order to mitigate the effects of consumer tax hikes,
which are expected to be implemented in October 2019. In addition, the Japanese
economy is expected to grow by 0.5% during 2020.

Growth predictions for developed economies are diminishing, from an initial estimate of
2.3% during 2018 to 2.0% for 2019 and 1.7% during 2020, due mainly to the adjusted
predictions made for the Eurozone, as the European Central Bank has been very clear
that it will not increase rates for monetary policies at least until mid-2019. Estimated
growth in Europe for 2019 is 1.6% (1.7% for 2020). Some of the highlights for the
region include Germany, which is not facing diminished external demands and weak
private consumption rates; Italy, where internal demand levels are also low; and France,
who is facing a high degree of social unrest, which is having a negative impact on the
national economy.

With regards to emerging economies, growth rates are predicted to fall slightly to 4.5%
during 2019, and then to increase back to 4.9% during 2020. Emerging economies in
Asia will see slowed growth during 2019, where they are expected to reach a rate of
6.3% (6.4% during 2020). In particular, the Chinese economy is rapidly decelerating
due to trade conflicts with the US and tougher financial conditions. On the other hand,
India is expected to grow throughout 2019 thanks to competitive oil prices and a
monetary tightening process that is slower than originally predicted. As for emerging
economies in Europe, they are expected to weaken more than originally expected,
dropping by 0.7% during 2019 (3.8% during 2018), despite general dynamic growth
throughout Central and Eastern Europe. They are expected to bounce back to 2.4%
during 2020.

In Latin America, growth rates are expected to increase during the coming two years,
from 1.1% in 2018 to 2.0% in 2019 and 2.5% in 2020. The main reasons for this are the
predictions for slower growth in Mexico due to diminished private investments, and a
more severe contraction than expected in Venezuela. The Argentinian economy will
contract during 2019, due to the effect of austerity policies, while the Brazilian
economy will partially compensate for the expected cuts due to a continuation of the
gradual recovery it is experiencing, following the recession of 2015-2016.

As for the regions of Middle East, North Africa, Afghanistan and Pakistan, predictions
lean towards moderate growth: 2.9% in 2019, followed by a hike of 3% during 2020.
The region is being weighed down by poor growth in oil production in Saudi Arabia,
tighter financing conditions in Pakistan, US sanctions on Iran, and geopolitical tensions
in general. In Sub-Saharan Africa, growth rates are expected to improve: from 2.9%
during 2018 to 3.5% in 2019 and 3.6% in 2020. Despite the aforementioned conditions,
it is expected that one third of the economies in Sub-Saharan Africa will grow more
than 5% during 2019-2020.

Average period of payment to suppliers and Corporate Social Responsibility

To the effects of the provisions in article 262.1 of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2
July, whereby the consolidated text of the Capital Companies Act is approved, the
information on the average period for payment to suppliers is contained in Note 36 to
the financial statements. In addition, and 1 m 55 of the



Code of Good Governance of Listed Companies, it is hereby indicated that the aspects
related to Corporate Social Responsibility are discussed in the Sustainability Report.

Annual Corporate Governance Report

The Annual Corporate Governance Report is available in its entirety on the National
Securities Market Commission website (www.cnimv.es) and on the Company’s website
(www.acciona.es).

In addition, the Annual Corporate Governance Report will be notified to the National
Securities Market Commission as a Material Event.
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For the purposes of Royal Decree 1362/2007 of 19 October (article 8.1 b), the Directors of Acciona,
S.A., now subscribe the following declaration under their own responsibility:

To the best of their knowledge, the Consolidated Financial Statements drawn up in accordance with the
applicable accounting principles offer a true and fair view of the equity, financial situation and results of
the issuer and the companies included in the scope of consclidation taken as a whole, and the
Directors’ report includes a faithful analysis of the business trend and results and of the position of the
issues and the companies included in the scope of consoclidation taken as a whole, together with the
description of the main risks and uncertainties faced.

Formal note added to state for the record that the Directors of ACCIONA, S.A. are aware of the entire
contents of the Financial Statements and the Directors’ Report corresponding to the 2018 financial year
of Acciona, S.A. and its subsidiaries (Consolidated Group), as submitted to the Board of Directors and
duly prepared by the Board at the meeting held on 28 February 2019, printed on 267 sheets, all of them
signed by the Secretary and with the corporate Seal affixed and numbered as follows:

COVEr Page. ... Page 1

Content... ... Pages 2 and 3
Consolidated Balance Sheet. ............ ... ... Page 4
Consolidated Income Statement. ........... .. ... Page 5
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income.................... Page 6
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Total Equity........c.c....ovvv.0. Pages 7 and 8
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows................oovi v i, Page 9

Notes to the Consoclidated Financial Statements........................ Page 10 to Page 195
Consclidated Directors’ Report...................ooii Page 196 to Page 267

Therefore, in witness of the agreement herewith, this note is signed by all the members of the Board of
Directors:

Mr. José Manuel Entrecanales Domecq Mr. Juan Ignacio Entrecanales Franco
Chairman Vice-Chairman

Mr. Javier Entrecanales Franco Mr. Juan Carlos Garay Ibargaray
Member Member

Mr. Daniel Entrecanales Domecq Ms. Karen Christiana Figueres Olsen
Member Member

Mr. Javier Sendagorta Gémez del Campillo Ms. Belén Villalonga Morenés
Member Member

Mr. José Maria Pacheco Guardiola Ms. Ana Sainz de Vicuia Bemberg
Member Member

Mr. Jerénimo Marcos Gerard Rivero
Member







KPMG Asesores, S.L.
P° de la Castellana, 259 C

28046 Madrid

Independent Assurance Report on the
Consolidated Non-Financial Information Statement
of Acciona, S.A. and subsidiaries for 2018

(Translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

To the Shareholders of Acciona, S.A.

Pursuant to article 49 of the Spanish Code of Commerce, we have provided limited assurance on the
consolidated Non-Financial Information Statement (hereinafter NFIS) for the year ended 31
December 2018 of Acciona, S.A. (hereinafter the Parent) and subsidiaries (hereinafter the Group),
which forms part of the Group’s 2018 consolidated Directors’ Report, attached hereto.

The consolidated Directors’ Report includes additional information to that required by current
commercial legislation concerning non-financial information, which has not been the subject of our
assurance work. In this regard, our assurance work was limited only to providing assurance on the
information contained in the Appendix “Matters addressed in Law 11/2018 on non-financial and
diversity information: material issues for ACCIONA and reporting criterion”, included in the
consolidated Directors’ Report attached hereto.

Directors' Responsibility

The Directors of the Parent are responsible for the preparation of the NFIS included in the Group's
consolidated Directors’ Report. The NFIS has been prepared in accordance with current commercial
legislation and the Sustainability Reporting Standards of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI
Standards) selected pursuant to that mentioned for each subject area in the Appendix “Matters
addressed in Law 11/2018 on non-financial and diversity information: material issues for ACCIONA
and reporting criterion” attached to the aforementioned consolidated Directors’ Report.

This responsibility also encompasses the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control deemed necessary to ensure that the NFIS is free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

The directors of the Parent are also responsible for defining, implementing, adapting and maintaining
the management systems from which the information necessary for preparing the NFIS is obtained.

Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(IESBA), which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional
competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

KPMG Asesores S.L., sociedad espafola de responsabilidad limitada y firma Reg. Mer Madrid, T. 14.972, F. 563, Sec. 8, H. M -249.480, Inscrip. 1
miembro red KPMG de firmas ir N.I.F. B-82498650
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Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 (ISQC1) and accordingly maintains a
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

The engagement team was comprised of professionals specialised in reviews of non-financial
information and, specifically, in information on economic, social and environmental performance.

Our Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express our conclusions in an independent limited assurance report, referring
solely to 2018, based on the work performed. The data for previous years were not subject to
assurance according to the commercial legislation in force.

We conducted our review engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of
the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), and with the guidelines for assurance
engagements on the Non-Financial Information Statement, issued by the Spanish Institute of
Registered Auditors (ICJCE).

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and
are less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement, and consequently, the level of
assurance provided is also lower.

Our work consisted of making inquiries of management and of the different units and areas in
charge of the Group that participated in the preparation of the NFIS, reviewing the processes for
compiling and validating the information presented in the NFIS, and applying certain analytical
procedures and sample review tests, which are described below:

— Meetings with Group personnel to gain an understanding of the business model, policies and
management approaches applied, and the principal risks related to these matters, and to obtain
the information necessary for the external review.

— Analysis of the scope, relevance and completeness of the content of the NFIS for 2018 based on
the materiality analysis performed by the Group and described in the Appendix “Matters
addressed in Law 11/2018 on non-financial and diversity information: material issues for ACCIONA
and reporting criterion”, considering the content required by current commercial legislation.

— Analysis of the processes for compiling and validating the data presented in the NFIS for 2018.

— Review of the information relative to the risks, policies and management approaches applied in
relation to the material aspects presented in the NFIS for 2018.

— Corroboration, through sample testing, of the information relative to the content of the NFIS for
2018 and whether it has been adequately compiled based on data provided by the information
sources.

— Procurement of a representation letter from the Directors and management.
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Conclusion

Based on the assurance procedures performed and the evidence obtained, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the NFIS of Acciona, S.A. and subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2018 has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with current
commercial legislation and the content of the GRI Standards selected pursuant to that mentioned for
each subject area in the Appendix “Matters addressed in Law 11/2018 on non-financial and diversity
information: material issues for ACCIONA and reporting criterion” attached to the aforementioned
consolidated Directors’ Report.

Purpose of Our Report

This report has been prepared in response to the requirement established in current commercial
legislation in Spain, and thus may not be suitable for other purposes and jurisdictions.

KPMG Asesores, S.L.

(Signed on original in Spanish)

Patricia Reverter Guillot

28 February 2019



